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Corporate Profile
NG LR

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited (the "Company”, together with
its subsidiaries, the “"Group”, Hong Kong stock code: 950) is a research-
driven and market-oriented biopharmaceutical company with more than 25
years of operation in the pharmaceutical industry in the People’s Republic
of China (the “"PRC” or “China”).

The Group is fully integrated with solid infrastructures in drug
development, clinical development, regulatory, manufacturing, sales
and marketing based in Mainland China with global perspectives. The
Group has established extensive partnerships with over 20 international
companies and currently markets over 25 proprietary, generic and
licensed-in pharmaceutical products in Mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau
and Taiwan.

The Group focuses on several key disease areas such as cardiovascular,
woman health, paediatrics, rare diseases, oncology, dermatology and
obstetrics. It has more than 40 products under different development
stages stemming from both internal research and development as well as
from the licensing of development, commercialisation, and manufacturing
rights from various United States, European and Japanese companies.

The Group carries out its sales and distribution activities in Hong Kong,
Macau, Taiwan and Mainland China through Hong Kong and Taiwan
offices and branch offices in Guangzhou, Shanghai and Beijing with direct
and channel sales network covering most of the provinces and cities in
Mainland China, marketing both domestic self-developed and generic
products and overseas licensed-in products. Zhaoke Pharmaceutical
(Hefei) Co. Limited, a subsidiary of the Group, is currently operating the
manufacturing plant of the Group located in Hefei, Anhui Province of
the PRC, comprising four GMP-compliant workshops for the production
of topical gel, lyophilised powder for injection, small volume parenteral
solutions and eye gel. Zhaoke Pharmaceutical (Guangzhou) Limited, a
subsidiary of the Group, is currently operating the new manufacturing site
in Nansha District, Guangzhou of the PRC which include a complete range
of solid dosage production lines for the development and manufacturing of
tablets and capsules.

The mission of the Group is to become a successful biopharmaceutical

group in Asia providing innovative products to fight diseases and improve
health and quality of life.
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Currently, the Group has the following products in markets:

Corporate Profile
NCISEY

BAl AEEMTIERDET

Country Mainland
of origin China Taiwan Medical application
FR it FEIRM 688 BEAR
Proprietary products:
EREM:
* Livaracine® PRC v Blood clots and deep vein thrombosis
* (SZEF)® Ll MR R R ER AR AR ML
Yallaferon® PRC v Viral infection
(LHELR)® I REERRR
* Slounase® PRC 4 Hemostasis
* (IREEB)® FE R I
Eyprotor® PRC 4 Corneal ulcer
(BRE)® FE AEES
Licensed-in products:
SIEEM :
* Carnitene® Italy v Carnitine deficiency
* (AIEEE)® BAM RIESTHRZ fE
Aloxi® France Chemotherapy induced nausea and
vomiting
{Aloxi)® EE LB e RO S IR
Bredinin® Japan 4 Immunosuppression in renal
transplantation
(T RHE)® BA MHI B RS ENEE R E
Centraxal® Plus Spain Acute otitis media with tympanostomy
tubes
{Centraxal® Plus) FIRTF HEBEBEENSMHEREL
Dicoflor® Italy 4 Probiotics
{Dicoflor)® BEARF wER
Episil® Sweden v Oral mucositis pain
(FEE)® Tt ARMEAAR
Ferplex® Spain v Iron deficiency anemia
(GEER)® (i3 RGBT
Gaslon N® Japan 4 Gastric ulcer and gastritis
(EtEE)® BA BEBRER
Intrarosa® Canada Vulvovaginal atrophy
(Intrarosa)® meEX INRRRBELE
Levocarnitine oral Italy v Primary and secondary carnitine
solution deficiency
ERETORESR BAM [REM RAEBERE TR E
Mictonorm® Germany v Urinary incontinence
(Bmam)e = FREKEE
Natulan® Germany Stage III and IV Hodgkin’s disease
{Natulan)® 2E E-RENBEFT SR
Omacor® Norway Omega-3-acid ethyl esters
{Omacor)® 05 Omega-38 7 B;
Rasilez® Italy v Hypertension
(#BA)e BAM = M
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Corporate Profile

= o
NSITGINY
Market
W5
Country Mainland Hong
of origin China Kong Macau Taiwan Medical application
RRit HEIR i B# -5} A BEAZ
Readyfusor™ Germany 4 Post-operative pain management
(Readyfusor)™ =B e EmER
Sancuso® USA v Chemotherapy induced nausea and
vomiting
(E&mE)e e LB AL RIEH
Teglutik® Spain v Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis
{Teglutik)® (i34 W ZE R R
Trittico® Italy 4 v 4 Insomnia/Depression
(HhFrig)e BAM KR EE
Unidrox® Italy v v v Urinary tract infections and respiratory
tract infections
{Unidrox)® BAM WAPK B RE S B IR B R
VSL#3® Italy v 4 v/ Probiotics
(VSL#3)® BAM R
Zanidip® Italy v/ v Hypertension
(BET)P BAM =M
Zingo™ Hong Kong v v Topical local analgesics
(Zingo)™ 5 R AL
Generic products:
FRER
Treprostinil Injection PRC v Pulmonary arterial hypertension
AT e RIESTR F FibEDAK = B
Fondaparinux Sodium  PRC v Deep vein thrombosis
Injection
T ERT 80T 5TR H REB SR
Sodium Phenylbutyrate PRC v Urea cycle disorders
Granules
KT BshFERL FE REBREE
* In the National Drug Reimbursement List of the PRC & RABEERERE A
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Financial Highlights
BB HE

For the year ended
31 December
BE+-A=1+—HLEE

2021 2020 Change
ZE--F ke S 5 25
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FAT
Revenue W= 1,266,157 1,216,716 +4.1%
Gross profit EH| 806,284 781,066 +3.2%
Profit attributable to the owners of RATEHEE AEGRT
the Company 1,987,176 129,316 +1,436.7%
Equity attributable to the owners of the ZAAFHA AEGER
Company 2,464,578 2,149,795 +14.6%
HK cents HK cents
A4l il
Earnings per share ERAEN
Basic K 21.99 +1,435.2%
Diluted e 21.99 +1,434.1%
Dividend per share BRERE
Interim AR ER 2.7
Final REA 3.1
Total FE 5.8 +5.2%
Dividend payout ratio AR BIRATEE & 26.4%
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Financial Highlights
B E

REVENUE (HK$'000)

s (F7E7T)

1,266,157
1,216,716

1,218,913
1,137,626
1,008,522

Year
2021 FfE

2017 2018 2019 2020

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY
(HK$'000)

ARBER ARG RERS(FET)

2,464,578
2,295,900
2,210,543 2,149,795 I
1,804,346
Year
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 47
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PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY
(HK$'000)

RAREEARERF(FET)

1,987,176

418,269

232,559
125,553 129,316

Year
2021 FE

2017 2018 2019 2020

BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE
(HK CENTS)

BREARZR (GBWL)
337.58
70.67
39.38
21.22  21.99
Year
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 FE&



Five-Year Financial Summary

LFEUBRE

RESULTS E 35

For the year ended 31 December
BE+T-A=t—HLEE

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
—B--f% ZTCZE —Z-hE —T-NE —T—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx FAET TAET FHET FHET
Revenue Wz 1,266,157 1,216,716 1,218,913 1,137,626 1,008,522
Cost of sales HERK (459,873) (435,650) (420,657) (391,255) (326,118)
Gross profit £ 806,284 781,066 798,256 746,371 682,404
Other income A 102,323 150,587 75,694 52,069 31,756
Other gains and losses, net Hitas RESEFE 2,067,799 (57,588) (91,680) 239,156 20,753
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHER (366,439) (279,947) (251,759) (221,740) (214,150)
Administrative expenses TRER (297,265) (237,721) (239,088) (188,926) (157,186)
Net provision for expected credit BEERRERER
losses on financial assets BEFR (90,284) (1,180) (73) (6,823) (1,692)
Research and development expenses % RFHEER (243,835) (203,294) (149,945) (153,171) (85,057)
Profit from operations R 1,978,583 151,923 141,405 466,936 276,828
Finance costs B A (5,722) (6,472) (6,624) (4,710) (4,256)
Share of results of associates PMEBE AT EE (3,495) (11,414) (11,895) (15,842) (14,944)
Profit before taxation BRBATER 1,969,366 134,037 122,886 446,384 257,628
Taxation BE (9,482) (55,503) (59,541) (56,621) (54,689)
Profit for the year AEEHF 1,959,884 78,534 63,345 389,763 202,939
Attributable to: THIALHELS :
Owners of the Company /NIt 2PN 1,987,176 129,316 125,553 418,269 232,559
Non-controlling interests FerE iR (27,292) (50,782) (62,208) (28,506) (29,620)
1,959,884 78,534 63,345 389,763 202,939
FINANCIAL POSITION B AR R
As at 31 December
Rt=A=+-A
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
=B=-fF S 23 —ENEF —T-N\F —T—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FHET TAT FHET THET
Non-current assets FEREEE 2,673,578 2,013,825 2,198,964 2,002,012 1,451,206
Current assets hBAE 963,320 1,239,096 1,441,277 1,004,541 873,318
Current liabilities MEARE (922,580) (944,049) (908,493) (676,825) (431,085)
Net current assets MEBEEFE 40,740 295,047 532,784 327,716 442,233
Non-current liabilities FREEE (323,156) (193,494) (254,310) (91,659) (96,507)
Net assets BEFE 2,391,162 2,115,378 2,477,438 2,238,069 1,796,932
Equity attributable to the owners of ~ AREEAA
the Company P 2,464,578 2,149,795 2,295,900 2,210,543 1,804,346
Non-controlling interests FeEfR R (73,416) (34,417) 181,538 27,526 (7,414)
Total equity i 2,391,162 2,115,378 2,477,438 2,238,069 1,796,932
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRE

Dear shareholders,

On behalf of Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited (the “Company”
or “"Lee’s Pharm”, together with its subsidiaries, the “"Group”) and its
board ("Board”) of directors (“Directors”), I am pleased to present the
annual report of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2021 (the
“Reporting Year”).

The Group’s profit attributable to the Company’s shareholders for the year
ended 31 December 2021 amounted to HK$1,987,176,000, compared
to HK$129,316,000 for the last year. Basic earnings per share were
HK337.58 cents, compared to HK21.99 cents for the last year. The Board
recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK3.1 cents per share
for the Reporting Year. Together with the interim dividend of HK3.0 cents
per share, the dividend for the full year will be HK6.1 cents per share,
compared to HK5.8 cents for the last year. Subject to the approval by the
Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting, the
final dividend will be paid on 15 June 2022.

We have experienced ups and downs during the Reporting Year, from the
prolonged impact from the COVID-19 pandemic, the regulatory changes
and tougher business environment, and the deteriorated capital market
sentiment. At Lee’s Pharm, we continue to work together as one team to
sail through the storm.

Despite these challenges, we successfully spun off and completed a
separate listing of Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited (*ZKO") on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) in April 2021 and approximately HK$1.9 billion was raised in
the initial public offering. This was an important step for ZKO to further
its business development in the fast-growing ophthalmic drug market in
the mainland China by its own resources. Following the ZKO spun off, we
can stay focused to develop the businesses in other major therapeutic
areas. A one-time gain of approximately HK$2.3 billion attributable to
the derecognition of investment in ZKO as an associate of the Company
immediately after the separate listing was recognised during the Reporting
Year.

The Volume-Based Procurement ("VBP”) program has continued to rollout
across the country and cover more products which brought down prices
to public hospitals with volume commitments. During the Reporting Year,
we acted decisively to optimise our research and development ("R&D")
portfolio which enable us to limit our losses on unfavorable projects and to
enhance our resources allocation on our priortised projects.
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On the other hand, we have made good progress on our R&D activities
and some of our drug development efforts have started to pay off.
The Abbreviated New Drug Application (*fANDA"”) and Import Drug
License ("IDL") approvals of Fondaparinux Sodium Injection, Sodium
Phenylbutyrate Granules, Lidocaine Hydrochloride Powder Intradermal
Injection System, Nitric Oxide Gas for Inhalation and High Concentration
Treprostinil Injection, a total of 5 products, were obtained from National
Medical Products Administration ("NMPA") during the Reporting Year
and up to date, and the IDL approvals of Riluzole Oral Suspension and
Procarbazine Hydrochloride Capsule are expected to be obtained soon.
Together with Mizoribine Tablets which is in itself a marketable product
licensed-in during the Reporting Year, we have moved one big stride
forward towards a much broader product range with a wider array of
specialty pharmaceutical products.

Looking ahead into 2022, we have seen a volatile start to the year in a
still-complex business environment in China, with major issues such as
substantial geopolitical tensions, the risk of further dangerous COVID-19
variants, and uncertainty around inflation and policy paths.

Nevertheless, we will continue to react promptly to changing market
conditions, and to focus on the following measures to create growth
opportunities:

Implementing sales business unit responsibility scheme to reflect
contemporary needs and to achieve highly effective sales force;

- Expanding product portfolio from the standard drugs towards
specialty drugs;

S Implementing brand transformation of selected products to create
growth opportunities; and

- Optimising resources allocation among drug development programs.

We will closely monitor the situation and will continue to prudently manage
our resources, so as to well-position itself to meet the present challenges
and to deliver a solid performance in 2022.

Last but not least, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to
our shareholders, business partners, management and staff for their
unremitting confidence in and support for the Group. I would also like
to thank the Board of Directors for their efforts and contributions to the
Group’s expeditious business growth.

Lee Siu Fong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 March 2022
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEFNWE TN

BUSINESS REVIEW

Revenue and Profit

During the year ended 31 December 2021 (the “Reporting Year”), the
Group recorded revenue of HK$1,266,157,000 (2020: HK$1,216,716,000),
representing a year-on-year increase of 4.1%. Sales of licensed-in
products was HK$749,135,000 (2020: HK$677,951,000) and accounted
for 59.2% (2020: 55.7%) of the Group’s revenue while sales of proprietary
and generic products was HK$517,022,000 (2020: HK$538,765,000) and
contributed 40.8% (2020: 44.3%) of the Group’s revenue.

For the sales of licensed-in products, Carnitene® recorded a decent growth
of 15.0% as the demand for chronic disease medications remains intact;
Ferplex® achieved a robust growth of 29.1% through brand transformation
and expansion into the OTC category; other products such as Gaslon N®
and Sancuso® also made contribution to the revenue growth during the
Reporting Year; and Bredinin™, newly launched in third-quarter 2021,
also contributed approximately 2.8% to the revenue. As a result, despite
the revenue loss from the termination of distribution right of Zanidip® in
China, sales of licensed-in products still managed to achieve a growth of
10.5% as compared to last year.

The Group’s first generic product, Treprostinil Injection, registered
a remarkable growth of 87.3% as compared to last year. Another
two generic products, namely Fondaparinux Sodium Injection and
Sodium Phenylbutyrate Granule, have started making contribution to
the revenue during the Reporting Year. For the sales of proprietary
products, Yallaferon® achieved a robust growth of 51.2% through brand
transformation and expansion into the OTC category; and Slounase®
recorded a mild growth of 5.5%. However, these sales growth can only
helped partially offset the revenue loss of Livaracine® due to the market
disruption caused by the hospital relisting process as Nadroparin Calcium
for Injection. Sales of proprietary and generic products in total dropped
4.0% as compared to last year.

The Group achieved a gross profit of HK$806,284,000 (2020:
HK$781,066,000), an increase of 3.2% compared to last year. Gross profit
margin was 63.7% in 2021, slightly decreased by 0.5 percentage point
from 64.2% in 2020 which was mainly due to higher proportion of revenue
generated from the sales of licensed-in products.

The Group’s research and development ("R&D"”) expenses during the
Reporting Year represented new drugs development in major therapeutic
areas such as cardiovascular, woman health, paediatrics, rare diseases,
dermatology and obstetrics, as well as in the area of oncology under a
separate R&D arm within the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Chinese government continued to implement a series of major reforms
to its drug pricing regulatory mechanisms. In particular, the Volume-Based
Procurement ("VBP”) program has continued to rollout across the country
and cover more products which brought down prices to public hospitals
with volume commitments. It is inevitable that such regulatory change
of this scale and scope creates uncertainty to the Group’s R&D portfolio.
After a review of the R&D portfolio, the Group decided to postpone
14 drug development programs and a one-time loss of approximately
HK$190.7 million attributable to the full impairment made in respect of
the licensing fee and development cost previously capitalised therefor was
recognised. In addition, a one-time loss of approximately HK$40.2 million
attributable to the full impairment for the licensing fee and development
cost previously capitalised for a launched oral antihypertensive product,
namely Rasilez®, was recognised due to the concern about its future
market and revenue potential in view of the lowered prices of competing
antihypertensive products after the completion of the fifth round of VBP
program.

Saved for the above, the Group continued to invest its R&D efforts in
new drugs development and HK$463,147,000 was spent in R&D activities
during 2021 (2020: HK$389,399,000), represented 36.6% (2020: 32.0%)
to the corresponding yearly revenue. Among which HK$243,835,000
(2020: HK$203,294,000) has been recognised as expenses and
HK$219,312,000 (2020: HK$186,105,000) has been capitalised as
intangible assets. In additions, HK$100,717,000 (2020: HK$111,139,000)
license fees for licensed-in products has been recognised as intangible
assets during 2021.

The Group implemented various measures to strengthen the existing and
exploring new distribution channels and preparing for the rollout of new
and upcoming products, and adequate resources have been deployed
thereto during the Reporting Year. Overall, the selling expenses to revenue
ratio was 28.9% in 2021, increased by 5.9 percentage points as compared
to 23.0% same period last year. As an example of such efforts, the Group
has achieved a speedy take-over of the Bredinin™ sales since July 2021
and realised the revenue of approximately HK$36.1 million in 2021.

During the Reporting Year, the Group recorded a net provision for
expected credit losses on financial assets of HK$90,284,000 (2020:
HK$1,180,000) which was mainly attributable to the full provision for
impairment on the advances of HK$90,838,000 (2020: Nil) made to
Powder Pharmaceuticals Incorporated (“PPI”), an associated company
of the Group. The financial assistance provided were used to support
PPI's business operation which included the production, development and
promotion of a powder intra-dermal injection system and the development
of a continuous glucose monitoring system. In view of the recent sharp
downturn in biotech capital market which leads to a less certain path
to new funding on developing stage projects, the Group decided not to
extend the advances thereto upon the expiry. Meanwhile, the Group will
continue to monitor the progress of PPI product developments and to seek
a settlement on the amount which had fallen due but remained unpaid.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Together with a one-time gain of approximately HK$2.3 billion
attributable to the derecognition of investment in Zhaoke Ophthalmology
Limited ("ZKO”, stock code: 6622.HK) as an associate of the Company
immediately after the separate listing of ZKO on 29 April 2021, net profit
attributable the owners of the Company in 2021 was HK$1,987,176,000,
increased by approximately 14.4 times as compared to last year.

Manufacturing Facilities and Production
Capability

During the Reporting Year, the Group achieved good progress in
production capacity expansions and manufacturing facility upgrades of
Yallaferon® and Livaracine® as well as the technology transfer of certain
new products in the form of oral lyophilised powder and liposome in Hefei
site. In Nansha site, the GMP production lines of Tecarfarin tablet and
Nokxaban tablet have been completed and the making of clinical samples
have been done. The equipment installation and commission for the
manufacturing of inhaled pharmaceutical aerosols has been completed
and the making of clinical samples has also been done. The equipment
installation and commission for the productions of oral cytotoxic drugs and
continuous glucose monitor were completed, and both facilities are ready
for making clinical samples and/or registration batch.

Drug Development

To date, the Group has over 40 projects in its pipeline from early- to
late-stage development. The applications made in the prior year for
Import Drug License (“IDL"”), such as Natulan®, and Teglutik®, and for
Abbreviated New Drug Application ("ANDA"”), namely Azilsartan, and
Apremilast tablet (P K% ), are under review by the Centre for Drug
Evaluation (the "CDE"”). The New Drug Application ("NDA") for Adasuve®
made in the prior year has been officially accepted by the China’s National
Medical Products Administration ("NMPA").

During the Reporting Year and up to date, measurable progress has been
made in various clinical programs.

Major Therapeutic Areas

The Group is currently developing several assets in major therapeutic
areas, such as cardiovascular, woman health, paediatrics, rare diseases,
dermatology and obstetrics, which includes late-stage programs such as
(1) Cetraxal® Plus for acute otitis externa (AOE) and acute otitis media
with tympanostomy tubes (AOMT); and (2) Intrarosa® in the treatment of
vulvovaginal atrophy (VVA), both of which are already in Phase III clinical
trial stage. On the other hand, the ANDA of High Concentration Treprostinil
Injection (20ml:50mg) has been accepted for review by NMPA in February
2021 and subsequently approved on 9 March 2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Oncology Pipeline

China Oncology Focus Limited ("COF”), a 65% owned subsidiary of the
Group, is a clinical development stage company and the Group’s R&D
arm focused on oncology with emphasis in immuno-oncology. To date,
COF has built a pipeline of 10 oncology assets, including 6 innovative
and 4 generics, through internal development and in-licensing, and is
currently developing several assets, including (1) Socazolimab (an anti-
PD-L1 antibody) in recurrent or metastatic cervical cancer in new drug
application stage in China; (2) Socazolimab in osteosarcoma in Phase
III clinical trial; (3) Socazolimab combined with chemotherapy in small
cell lung cancer in Phase III clinical trial; (4) Zotiraciclib, an oral multi-
kinase inhibitor in Phase I clinical trial for glioblastoma; (5) Gimatecan, a
topoisomerase I inhibitor in Phase II clinical trial for ovarian cancer and in
Phase Ib/II clinical trial for small cell lung cancer and a Phase I clinical trial
for pancreatic cancer in China; and (6) Socazolimab combined with Pexa-
vec (oncolytic virus) which is in Phase Ib clinical trial for melanoma.

During the Reporting Year and up to date, the Group obtained 5 ANDA and
IDL approvals from NMPA.

Fondaparinux Sodium Injection

On 2 February 2021, Fondaparinux Sodium Injection (0.5 ml: 2.5 mg),
a drug indicated to prevent deep vein thrombosis (DVT; a blood clot,
usually in the leg), which can lead to pulmonary embolism (PE; a blood
clot in the lung), in people who are having hip surgery, hip or knee
replacement, or abdominal surgery, obtained approval for manufacturing
and marketing from the NMPA. Fondaparinux sodium is a synthetic and
specific inhibitor of coagulation activated factor X (factor Xa) with high
bioavailability, fast acting and longer half-life. It has no effect on factor
IIa, and has low bleeding adverse event. It inhibits only free factor Xa but
not factor Xa bound to the prothrombinase. Use of fondaparinux does not
require monitoring of PT (prothrombin time) and aPTT (activated partial
thromboplastin time). The short chain length of fondaparinux sodium
results in devoid of immunogenicity. It does not interact with platelet and
does not induce thrombocytopenia. It has no hepatotoxicity and has less
allergic reactions.
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Sodium Phenylbutyrate Granules

On 13 May 2021, the Drug Registration Certificate for Sodium
Phenylbutyrate Granules (specification: 150g/bottle, containing 0.94g
Sodium Phenylbutyrate for every 1g) developed and manufactured
by Zhaoke Pharmaceutical (Guangzhou) Company Limited (*Zhaoke
Guangzhou”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, has been
obtained from the NMPA. Sodium Phenylbutyrate is used as an adjuvant
treatment for long-term treatment on urea cycle disorders patients
resulting from carbamoyl phosphate synthetase deficiency, ornithine
transcarbamylase deficiency or argininosuccinate synthetase deficiency.
It is applicable to new-born babies (born less than 28 days) with
profound biotinidase deficiency and to patients with a history of late onset
hyperammonemia brain dysfunction (partial biotinidase deficiency, born for
more than one month). The Sodium Phenylbutyrate Granules developed
and manufactured by Zhaoke Guangzhou is the first generic version in
China. As there is no original Sodium Phenylbutyrate available for sale in
China, the Group’s Sodium Phenylbutyrate Granules would address the
unmet medical needs in China.

Zingo®

On 1 March 2022, the Drug Registration Certificate for Zingo® (Lidocaine
Hydrochloride Powder Intradermal Injection System) has been obtained
from the NMPA. Zingo® is an amide local anesthetic indicated for use on
intact skin to provide local analgesia prior to venipuncture or peripheral
intravenous cannulation in children 3-18 years of age and to provide
topical local analgesia prior to venipuncture in adults. The rapid onset of
analgesia in 1-3 minutes provides care givers and patients the opportunity
for a pain-free and needle-free access procedure.

INOmax®

On 8 March 2022, the Drug Registration Certificate for INOmax® (nitric
oxide gas for inhalation) has been obtained from the NMPA. INOmax® is a
therapy for the treatment of hypoxic respiratory failure ("HRF”) associated
with pulmonary hypertension ("PPHN") in term and near-term infants
greater than 34 weeks gestational age. PPHN is a serious condition in
which blood vessels in the lungs constrict, making it difficult to oxygenate
blood, often resulting in HRF. INOmax® is a vasodilator which selectively
relaxes pulmonary blood vessels and, in conjunction with ventilatory
support and other appropriate agents, improves oxygenation in this fragile
newborn population.
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High Concentration Treprostinil Injection

On 9 March 2022, the Drug Registration Certificate for High Concentration
Treprostinil Injection (specification: 20ml:50mg) developed and
manufactured by Zhaoke Pharmaceutical (Hefei) Company Limited, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, has been obtained from the
NMPA.

Business Partnership

The in-licensing approach is the Group’s preferred mode of business
development strategy. Nevertheless, the Group has remained selective
in entering new in-licensing deals. Only 1 licensing deal has been
entered into during the Reporting Year. On 15 June 2021, the Group
successfully entered into a license agreement with Asahi Kasei Pharma
Corporation, a Japan-based company, pursuant to which the Group was
awarded the exclusive license to commercialise Bredinin™ (generic name:
mizoribine) for the indication of suppression of rejection reaction in renal
transplantation in Mainland China. Bredinin™ was first launch in China in
1999 and has already established a decent market presence within the
patient population. In addition, supplemental new drug application (sNDA)
for the additional indications such as lupus nephritis (LN) and nephrotic
syndrome (NS) were submitted to NMPA in June 2020.

Corporate Development

On 29 April 2021, the Group’s investment in ZKO has been successfully
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
("HKEx") at HK$16.80 per ZKO share and raised approximately
HK$1,932.3 million. Upon the listing of ZKO, ZKO ceased to be an associate
of the Company since the Group will not exercise significant influence over
the operations thereof and is accounted for as financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income for financial reporting purposes. The
Group has recorded a one-time gain of approximately HK$2.3 billion in the
Company’s consolidated statement of profit or loss on this derecognition of
investment in ZKO as an associate of the Company in the second quarter
of 2021.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue and Net Profit Attributable to the
Owners of the Company

The Group’s revenue increased on a year-on-year basis by HK$49,441,000
or 4.1%, from HK$1,216,716,000 in 2020 to HK$1,266,157,000 in 2021.
During the Reporting Year, the sales of proprietary and generic products
decreased 4.0% and the sales of licensed-in products increased by 10.5%.

Revenue Wz
Proprietary and generic products B M RER
Licensed-in products SIHEER

Total “aEt

Net profit attributable to the owners of the Company increased by
1,436.7% from HK$129,316,000 in 2020 to HK$1,987,176,000 in 2021.

Gross Profit Margin

Gross profit margin for the Reporting Year was 63.7%, slightly decreased
by 0.5 percentage point as compared with year 2020 which was mainly
due to higher proportion of revenue generated from licensed-in products.

Other Income

Other income for the Reporting Year was HK$102,323,000, a decrease of
32.1% as compared to corresponding period of last year. Other income
included development grants from local government, rental and utilities
income, and research and development service income. Other income in
the year 2020 included certain one-off items such as compensation income
for the early termination of the license and supply agreement of Zanidip®,
and government grant in respect of COVID-19-related subsidies.

Other Gains and Losses, Net

Other gains and losses recorded a net gain of HK$2,067,799,000 for the
Reporting Year which was mainly attributable to the HK$2.3 billion gain
on deemed disposal of interest in associate ZKO, and impairment loss
recognised in respect of intangible assets of HK$230,509,000.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses for the Reporting Year recorded an
increase of 30.9% as compared to the corresponding period of last year to
HK$366,439,000, representing 28.9% of the Group’s revenue, increased
by 5.9 percentage points as compared with 23.0% that of in the prior
year. The Group continued to deploy adequate resources to strengthen the
existing and exploring new distribution channels, and on the preparation
for the roll-out of new products.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited 2= K ZEERZEAL A R A 7

g E1]
Wzt R 2 A B A ELALF

7R & B YL 3 % 4F 1260 49,441,000 5 T 20 4.1% -
mM-ZT-%41,216,716,0008 TE —T - — 4
1,266,157,0007C - RIEFEAN - EF RO RER
HISHER4.0% @ SIEERMEERILIN10.5% °

2021 2020 Change
—B-—F —ETHF SE)
HK$'000 HK$’000

FExT FHET
517,022 538,765 -4.0%
749,135 677,951 +10.5%

1,266,157 1,216,716 +4.1%

ARBEAANEGFETILINLA36.7% AT _FF
129,316,000/ T8 = =% = —%1,987,176,0007&
JC °

REFENENEER63.7% @ BT - TFEFEIAL MK
0.5EEDH  TEHARSEEREEN RS LA
FER -

Bt A

BREFENHEMKARL02,323,0008 T - REFR
B4 32.1% - MR ABE T BRFR T2 REH
8 - He R AHKRBUWAIARAT R ERBEA - =
ZTFEENHEMBARESET —RIMLEE - flmiR
BRIKBER)CRTRERBENBHERALES R
COVID- 1948 B RE HY BT B) ©

Btz RE1RFHE

s FEAHE MR E R EE$52,067,799,000%
LR TREFRENR AL ERE AR RMES
Mg 23 BT - AR ETEERRBNRIERE
230,509,000/ 7T -

BEFENHERDHERAREFRMILMI0.9%E
366,439,000/ 7T * (AN K@U 728.9% - WEFH)
23.0% E75.9MEBE DR - AREESARB BT REIRR
LRBEDHRE  ARRETHHERE - ARAHER
LR -



Management Discussion and Analysis

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses for the Reporting Year increased by 25.0% or
HK$59,544,000, from HK$237,721,000 in year 2020 to HK$297,265,000
in 2021, and accounted for 23.5% of the Group’s revenue for the
Reporting Year, increased by 4.0 percentage points from 19.5% in 2020.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses for the Reporting Year increased
by HK$40,541,000 as compared with the corresponding year to
HK$243,835,000, and accounted for 19.3% of the Group’s revenue,
increased by 2.6 percentage points as compared with 16.7% that of in
the prior year. Together with the capitalised research and development
costs of HK$219,312,000 (2020: HK$186,105,000), the amount spent
in research and development activities during the Reporting Year was
HK$463,147,000, increased by HK$73,748,000 or 18.9% as compared
with the corresponding year.

Taxation

Income tax expense for the Reporting Year decreased by HK$46,021,000
as compared with the corresponding period of prior year to HK$9,482,000.
The Group’s effective tax rate was approximately 0.5% during the
Reporting Year, decreased by 40.9 percentage points as compared with
41.4% for the prior year. More one-off items not subject to tax lower the
effective tax rate in current year.

Investments Held

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s investment portfolio amounted to
approximately HK$1,043,464,000 (31 December 2020: HK$421,690,000)
as recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position under
various categories including:

- interests in associates which are accounted for by using equity
method;

- financial assets at fair value through profit or loss ("FVTPL"); and

- financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
("FVTOCI").

Changes in respective items in the consolidated statement of financial
position have been disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B E & am Mo

Details of the significant investments in the portfolio under financial assets RZE=Z—F+-F=+—HNYPBKEER NMEEHEE
as at 31 December 2021 are as follows: WERREFENT -
Approximate
percentage to Changes in
Approximate the Group’s fair value
investment Fair value audited total during the
cost as at as at assets as at year 2021
31 December 31 December 31 December (Decrease)
Description of investment 2021 2021 2021 Increase
AEE
R=ZB=—F
R-B=—F REB=—F +=A=+-—H ZE-FEAN
+=B=+—H +=B=+-—H NEREREEAE NEERE
REFE HIBER IR E A MR FE WMABED ORLA) 18 0
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited (Note 1) 2,321,626 787,695 21.7% (1,533,931)
JKEHREIER AT (FiEEL)
Other financial assets at FVTOCI (Note 2) 652,597 219,022 6.0% (172,675)
Hib i N FEEBE M EmREHIR
s EEME2)
Total financial assets at FVTOCI 2,974,223 1,006,717 27.7% (1,706,606)
BRATEEAEMEENGRIIRNM B EERE
Financial assets at FVTPL (Note 2) 28,062 30,480 0.8% (21,827)
BRATFEBRERYIROMBEEPTE2)
Total financial assets 3,002,285 1,037,197 28.5% (1,728,433)
M EELRE
Note 1:  Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited (“ZKO") is an ophthalmic pharmaceutical MiaEl : JKRIRBIBR AR ([RMRR ) R —HREBBE R

Note 2:

company listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (stock code: 6622) and is principally engaged in the research,
development and commercialisation of therapies that address significant
unmet medical needs in eye diseases market. The Group directly held
138,192,000 shares of ZKO, representing 25.5% of the total issued shares
of ZKO as at 31 December 2021. During the Reporting Year, the Group did
not receive any dividend income from ZKO. The Group takes a longer-term
view on this investment as ZKO is still a pre-revenue biotech company.
The Group will closely monitor the progress of the clinical development
programs of ZKO.

None of the carrying amount of each of the financial assets therein
constitutes 5% or more of the Group’s total assets as at 31 December
2021.

The Group will closely monitor the performance of its investment portfolio
and will continue to invest strategically, and will explore opportunities in
monetising some of the existing investments if appropriate opportunities
in the market arise.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any significant
investment as at 31 December 2021.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group’s principal sources of working capital in the current year mainly
included cash flow from operating activities and bank borrowings.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s current ratio (current assets
divided by current liabilities) was 1.04 (31 December 2020: 1.31). As at

HrIE u—JLnHH& Tﬁ

REBELT R BER

AEEBRRFENFELBEESNREIERELEES
MRS REMRITIEE -

RIBZ—F+-A=+—0 AEENORPLE(OR
PEERURBDEEBE)RL.04(CE_TF T+ _A=+—

31 December 2021, the Group had net cash position of HK$30,899,000 H :1.31) - R=_ZE-_—F+_A=+—H AKEK
(31 December 2020: net cash of HK$297,183,000) which represented by iﬁ%@%ﬁﬂtﬁﬁw 899,000 (=T _TF+—8
below: =+—H : B&/F%297,183,000/E L) * HMTATR :
2021 2020
Net cash position REBEMR —g=——F —ETF
HK$'000 HK$’000
T FAT
Cash and bank balances & RIBTTHER 277,529 375,199
Pledged bank deposits EEMIRITIER = 24,025
Time deposits TEHATFR - 39,336
Less: Bank borrowings o RITEE (246,630) (141,377)
30,899 297,183

The calculation of Group’s gearing ratio based on the net borrowings (after
deducting cash and bank balances) to equity attributable to the owners of
the Company was Nil as at 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: Nil).

Taking into consideration the existing financial resources available to
the Group, it is believed that the Group should have adequate financial
resources to meet its operation and development requirements in the
future.

Treasury Policies

The Group adopts a conservative approach towards its treasury policies.
The Group strives to reduce exposure to credit risk by performing ongoing
credit evaluations of the financial conditions of its customers. To manage
liquidity risk, the management of the Group closely monitors the Group’s
liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group’s assets,
liabilities and commitments can meet its funding requirements.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

Currently, the Group earns revenue and incurs costs mainly in Renminbi,
Hong Kong dollars, European Union euro, Japanese Yen, New Taiwan
dollars and United States dollars. The Directors believe that the Group
does not have foreign exchange problems in meeting its foreign exchange
requirements. The Group will continue to monitor closely its foreign
currency exposure and to consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure when necessary.

AEBEANEEFEHBRAS RRITERR)BAQ
BEAEGLESHENEERBERR -_E-_—F+= ﬁ!
=+ RAE(CE_EFt-_A=+-RB:%)-
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B E & am Mo

Pledge of Assets

Details of the pledge of assets of the Group as at 31 December 2021 are
set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial statements.

Contingent Liabilities

Details of the contingent liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2021
are set out in note 42 to the consolidated financial statements.

Employee Information

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had 1,319 (31 December 2020: 1,302)
employees working in Hong Kong, Mainland China and Taiwan.

The Group’s emolument policies are formulated on the performance
of individual employees and based on the trends of salaries in various
regions, which will be reviewed regularly every year. Apart from
mandatory provident fund scheme, retirement benefit scheme and
medical insurance, employees share options may also award to employees
according to the assessment of individual performance.

PROSPECT

The Group remains of the view that the long-term prospect for the China
pharmaceutical market is promising in terms of the growth of total health
spending in the region, but the tough business environment due to
regulatory changes will be persisted in 2022.

It is expected that the Chinese government will continue to promote
medical pricing reform to increase the coverage of the National
Reimbursement Drug List (NRDL) and VBP program to eventually achieve
“the domestics to replace the imports” goal, to control price rises in
drugs and medical consumables, and to increase the efficiency of medical
insurance fund usage in 2022, which has been particularly evident by the
annual meetings of the National People’s Congress (NPC) and the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference (CPPCC) commenced in March
2022. As stated in the Government Work Report, it is expected that the
VBP program will continue and may cover over 300 drugs by the end of
2022. And in fact, the National Centralised Procurement Office has already
issued a Notice to Report Information of the seventh round of VBP in
February 2022 for another 58 drugs.

While it is believed that the Group will be eventually benefited from these
new laws and regulations in the long run, nevertheless, the Group will
implement a series of measures to adapt to the “new normal” and to
emphasis efficiency at every step of the value chain, particularly in key
areas such as sales and R&D, after taking the present conditions into
consideration.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Currently, the Group have six business units: (1) CardioRenal; (2)
Gynecology, Paediatric and Dermatology; (3) Rare Disease; (4) Oncology;
(5) Retail Sales; and (6) General Products, and are managed by the Group
Commercial Operations Centre, and the Group will continue to enhance
the existing sales business unit responsibility scheme in order to reflect
contemporary needs and to achieve highly effective sales force.

In view of the trend of the ongoing VBP program in China, it is expected
that sales of standard drugs will remain the Group’s bread and butter,
and the sales of specialty drugs which focus on specific unmet medical
needs and with better bargaining power over its pricing could become the
Group’s new growth drivers. From the launch of Treprostinil Injection for
pulmonary arterial hypertension in March 2020, Sodium Phenylbutyrate
Granules for urea cycle disorders in May 2021, and Bredinin™ for
immunosuppression in renal transplantation in June 2021, and the recent
approval of High Concentration Treprostinil Injection in March 2022, the
Group has gradually expanded its product portfolio from the standard
drugs towards specialty drugs. In addition, the NDA approvals of Teglutik®
(Riluzole Oral Suspension) for the treatment of Amyotrophic Lateral
Sclerosis (ALS) and Natulan® (Procabazine Hydrochloride Capsule) for the
treatment of cancer are expected to be obtained soon. With more new
products coming in 2022 and beyond, the Group aims at advancing its
product portfolio to create growth opportunities.

To maximise the value of our existing products will be another way to
create growth opportunities. Selected products such as Ferplex® and
Yallaferon® have been undergoing brand transformation and expanding
into the OTC category and have already yielded some impressive initial
results in 2021. The Group will continue to carry out these processes and
look forward to the further success in 2022.

In connection with R&D, the Group is envisaged that more focus will be
placed on prioritised projects, and the allocation of resources among
various R&D projects will be optimised and the expenditures will be kept
within the limits of revenues.

The Group is financially stable with strong governance. It is believed that
the above-mentioned measures can bring the Group back to a growth
trajectory and can create value for the shareholders over the long run.
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Directors and Key Personnel Profiles

EENRTEAEREE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Lee Siu Fong

Chairman, chairman of nomination committee and member of
management committee, aged 65

Ms. Lee Siu Fong joined the Group in April 1997 and has since been
responsible for the Group’s financial affairs. She is an entrepreneur and
had since 1992 established and run several companies with primary
responsibility in financial affairs. She is the sister of Ms. Leelalertsuphakun
Wanee and Dr. Li Xiaoyi.

Leelalertsuphakun Wanee

Managing Director, Chief Marketing & Sales Officer, member of
remuneration committee and chairman of management committee,
aged 68

Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee joined the Group in April 1997. She was
appointed the Chief Marketing & Sales Officer in September 2003 and has
been responsible for the Group’s sales and marketing activities since then.
She is the sister of Ms. Lee Siu Fong and Dr. Li Xiaoyi.
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Directors and Key Personnel Profiles

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Li Xiaoyi
Senior adviser, aged 59, PhD

Dr. Li Xiaoyi holds a PhD in Pharmacology from the University of Illinois at
Chicago and was a postdoctoral fellow with Parke-Davis Research Division
of Warner-Lambert company in the United States. He is an Honourary
Fellow and Adjunct Professor at the Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology. He was appointed as a member of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference of Anhui Province in China in January
2018. He is the founder of the Group and has been responsible for the
daily operations and research and development of the Group since 1994 to
April 2021. He has been re-designated to a non-executive director of the
Company and serve as a senior adviser to the Company on 29 April 2021.

James Charles Gale
Aged 71

Mr. James Charles Gale joined the Board on 2 January 2022. He obtained
a master’s degree in Business Administration from the University of
Chicago. He is the co-founder and managing director of Signet Healthcare
Management LLC (“Signet”), a private equity firm based in New York City.
Founded in 1998, the firm provides growth equity to commercial-stage
life sciences companies. He serves on the board of directors of a number
of Signet portfolio companies including Advantice Health LLC, Ascendia
Pharmaceuticals Inc, Bionpharma Inc (Chairman), Chr Olesen Synthesis
A/S, Leon-nanodrugs GmbH, Pharmaceutics International, Inc and RK
Pharma Inc. He is also on the board of two public companies: Knight
Therapeutics Inc (TSX: GUD) and Hyloris Pharmaceuticals SA (Euronext:
HYL).
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Directors and Key Personnel Profiles
EENTEANEBRERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Chan Yau Ching, Bob

Chairman of audit committee, member of remuneration committee
and member of nomination committee, aged 59, PhD, MBA, BBA,
CFA, MHKSI

Dr. Chan Yau Ching, Bob joined the independent Board on 14 January
2002. He has extensive experience in corporate development and
financial management of high-growth companies. He had been a finance
professor, researcher and consultant. He had also served directorship
at various listed and privately held companies in Hong Kong and in the
United States. He was appointed as the independent non-executive
director of Hangzhou Huaxing Chuangye Communication Technology
Co., Ltd., which is a listed company on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange,
from December 2018 to November 2020. Currently, he is the managing
director of KBR Capital Limited, a company engaged in advising clients on
management and investment activities in China and Hong Kong. He is also
the independent non-executive director of China High Speed Transmission
Equipment Group Co., Ltd. and Daisho Microline Holdings Limited, which
are listed companies on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). He does not have any relationship
with any Director, substantial shareholder or controlling shareholder of the
Company.

Lam Yat Cheong

Member of audit committee, aged 60, CPA (Practising), FCCA, BBA

Mr. Lam Yat Cheong joined the independent Board on 1 July 2004. He
is a sole proprietor of an audit firm and has over 30 years of auditing
and accounting experience. He is a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. He had also served directorship at various
listed companies in Hong Kong. He does not have any relationship with
any Director, substantial shareholder or controlling shareholder of the
Company.
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Directors and Key Personnel Profiles
EENTEANEBRER

Tsim Wah Keung, Karl BER

Chairman of remuneration committee, member of audit committee FMZEESIF  BFXZESREREREZEERE
and member of nomination committee, aged 63, PhD, MPhil, BSc 635 ' PhD, MPhil, BSc

Dr. Tsim Wah Keung, Karl joined the independent Board on 20 September EZERIEBE+LHR _ZENEAA - +AMABIEES -
2004. He currently serves as Chair Professor of Life Science at the Hong HERMABEBRIRASLGRSMEELR  BEES
Kong University of Science and Technology. He holds a Bachelor of Science X AKZ\EFMNILEE+ B KAWL ERTEMIA K
degree and a Master degree in Biochemistry from The Chinese University  fIfBAZ2ERN D FHKEMSFE LB - HEHKREL
of Hong Kong, and a Doctorate in Molecular Neurobiology from the HEEBEVREBREFPLENRN - MAXBZ AR
University of Cambridge. He has published numerous articles in biological EEE#&TE(EARBREANERZESNKE - RER
sciences and traditional Chinese medicines. He also serves in several local ~AFMEAIEE - B E SRR AT EE M REIE -
committees in advising the development of traditional Chinese medicine as

health food products. He does not have any relationship with any Director,

substantial shareholder or controlling shareholder of the Company.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT SREBEAR
Chow Yiu Ming ghiEe
Group Chief Financial Officer & Company Secretary, aged 48 SEMBEERNRWE > 485

Mr. Chow Yiu Ming joined the Company in October 2014 and is responsible  #RALAER T —UFE+AMBARAR - BEAREE
for the accounting and corporate finance functions of the Group. He has VB REEV R R % MBERERDE
over 25 years of experience in accounting, auditing, financial management  ¥§& T HEEE R — T REMNEER - ENBEAAFF
and corporate finance. Prior to joining the Company, he had held several HEZRESLZH EHRLAQTEEEE - BARES
senior positions with listed and private companies in Hong Kong. He is HARGHMASEREE  FEQTHACEENRTE
a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, HFEZZEEREE - HIBAEBARBEENTIEEE
a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, 2124 FEeithii’ ITHERIASHESH
and a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors. He holds  Z32EE+E( - I AER(FE)ZERAERAE(—H
a Bachelor of Business Administration degree, majoring in Accounting  BXXFTER ERAR) KB IEMITES -

and Finance, from the University of Hong Kong and a Master of Science

in Professional Accountancy degree from the University of London. He

is also an independent non-executive director of Fortune Sun (China)

Holdings Limited which is a listed company on the Main Board of the Stock

Exchange.

Annual Report 2021 3R



28

Directors and Key Personnel Profiles
EENTEANEBRERE

Jiao Zhongyu

Group Deputy General Manager and General Manager of the Risk
Control Centre, aged 52

Mr. Jiao Zhongyu was appointed as the legal adviser of PRC investment
by the Group in 1999 in his capacity as a practising lawyer in PRC. He
has been appointed as the director of Zhaoke Pharmaceutical (Hefei) Co.
Limited (“Zhaoke Hefei”) since 2010 and has extensive experience in the
government affair and legal affairs. In 2012, he has been appointed as
the Chief Officer of the enterprise development department thereof and
responsible for the Group’s strategic planning and development. The Group
established the risk control centre in 2020 and he has been appointed
as the General Manager. He is responsible for the daily operations of the
Group’s legal department and the compliance and audit department.

Tsui Victor Kailok

Chief Manufacturing Officer, Licensed Professional Engineer, aged
55, P.E. MSc

Mr. Victor Tsui graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnics University
and University of Wisconsin with a master degree in Engineering. Before
joining the Group, he worked for various pharmaceuticals companies in
the United States for over 25 years and was responsible for production
management. He joined the Group in 2009 as Chief Operating Officer of
Powder Pharmaceuticals Incorporated (“PPI”, an associated company of
the Group). He has been appointed as Chief Manufacturing Officer of the
Group since 2012 to oversee the Group’s manufacturing operations. He
has also been appointed as director of PPI since 22 March 2013.

Yang Zhonggqiang

Executive Deputy General Manager of Zhaoke Pharmaceutical
(Hefei) Co. Limited, aged 47

Mr. Yang Zhonggiang holds a master’s degree in Pharmaceutical
Engineering from Shandong University and has a practicing pharmacist
certification. He has been working for the Group for more than 20
years, and has been working in the Department of Research and
Development of New Drugs and Quality Department of Zhaoke Hefei. He
has extensive experience in the research and development of new drug,
project management and quality management. He had served as the
quality authorised person of Zhaoke Hefei since 2012 to oversee the its
drug quality management and protection works. In 2017, he has been
appointed as the Executive Deputy General Manager of Zhaoke Hefei.
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Directors and Key Personnel Profiles

Sun Yuanjue
Chief Medical Officer, aged 47

Mr. Sun Yuanjue holds a bachelor’s degree of medicine in clinical medicine
from Shanghai Medical University (now known as Shanghai Medical
College, Fudan University) and a master’s degree of medicine in oncology
from the Second Military Medical University (now known as Navy Medical
University). He is a licensed Physician in China and has over 20 years’
experience in clinical oncology. Before joining the Group, He served as
the Chief Physician of Medical Oncology at Shanghai Fengxian District
Central Hospital since 2016, and he also served as the President of
Shanghai Fengxian District Guhua Hospital during the period from July
2020 to June 2021. Prior to that, he served as Associate Chief Physician
of Medical Oncology at Shanghai Sixth People’s Hospital and has extensive
experience in medical knowledge and clinical trial for new drugs. He
had joined several academic groups as committee members, including
China Anti-cancer Association (Sarcoma) and Chinese Society of Clinical
Oncology (Sarcoma Specialist). He joined the Group since September
2021 as the Chief Medical Officer, responsible for formulating medical
strategies and product development for the Group’s product introductions,
formulating product development strategies, facilitating and accelerating
product commercialisation process, and taking charge of medical affairs,
drug registrations and compliance matters for pipeline products.

Sun Guorui

General manager of the Group Commercial Operations Centre,
aged 50

Mr. Sun Guorui graduated from Sichuan University with a bachelor's
degree in engineering and a master's degree in business administration
from Peking University. Before joining the Group, he worked in a number
of internationally renowned pharmaceutical companies, including Bayer
Pharmaceuticals, Merck & Co., Ltd., Beijing Novartis Pharmaceutical Co.,
Ltd., etc. He has more than 20 years of sales management experience
in the pharmaceutical industry and rich experience in handling national
marketing business and leading a large-scale marketing team. He joined
the Group since September 2020 as the general manager of the Group
Commercial Operations Centre ("GCOC"), responsible for the development
and management of the GCOC.
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Directors and Key Personnel Profiles
EENTEANEBRERE

Zhang Zeyun

Deputy General Manager of the Group Commercial Operations
Centre and Executive Deputy General Manager of Guangzhou
Zhaoke Lian Fa Pharmaceutical Limited, aged 41

Mr. Zhang joined the Group in October 2018 and is responsible for
the business management of the Group's direct sales team in China.
He graduated from Guangzhou University of Chinese Medicine with a
bachelor degree in Chinese Medicine. Before joining the Group, he worked
for several multinational pharmaceutical and healthcare companies
in China for over 15 years and was responsible for sales and market
access management. In March 2019, he was appointed as Commercial
Operations Director of the Group and Executive Deputy General Manager
of Guangzhou Zhaoke Lian Fa Pharmaceutical Limited (*Zhaoke Lian
Fa”), and is responsible for the commercial operations of the Group and
the daily operations management of Zhaoke Lian Fa, such as rationalise
marketing format innovation, responsible for the Group market access
department, establish non-medical market sales team, and responsible
for overall operations management of the oncology products marketing
team. He has been appointed as Deputy General Manager of the GCOC in
October 2020.

Fang Ling

Corporate Culture and Public Relations Director of the Group, aged
53

Ms. Fang Ling graduated from Anhui College of Traditional Chinese
Medicine (currently known as Anhui University of Traditional Chinese
Medicine) with a major in traditional Chinese medicine in 1992, and
received her Master of Business Administration in pharmaceutical
management degree from Business School, Renmin University of China in
2004. Before she joined the Group in March 1999, she had served Anhui
Province Shucheng County Chengguan Town Hospital Division during 1993
to 1998 as a Chinese medicine practitioner. She had been serving for the
Group for over 20 years in various positions. She has been appointed
Corporate Culture and Public Relations Director of the Group in April 2019
and also serves as the chief supervisor of the Beijing branch of Zhaoke
Hefei and the special assistant of the Chairman, and is responsible for
the external affairs such as brand building and public relations for the
Group, and internal affairs such as corporate culture development, brand
development plan, corporate promotion strategy formulation, preparation
and organisation. She is also responsible for the management of Lee’s
Pharm internet-based official account for corporate promotion, official
website, management and operation of the internal newsletter “Zhaoke
Communication”, as well as the management of the daily operations of the
Beijing branch of Zhaoke Hefei.
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Directors and Key Personnel Profiles

Chen Yueshen
Director of Administration in China, aged 63

Mr. Chen Yueshen had been serving for the Group for more than 20
years in various positions such as the director and Deputy General
Manager of Zhaoke Hefei, Chief Operating Officer of the Group and the
Deputy General Manager of Zhaoke Pharmaceutical (Guangzhou) Limited
(*Zhaoke Guangzhou”). He was responsible for the daily operations of
Zhaoke Hefei, including being responsible for the production and quality
management of Zhaoke Hefei. He has extensive experience in quality
management systems and GMP production. In November 2018, he was
appointed as the Director of Administration in China and is responsible for
the Group’s administrative matters in China.

Yin Lei
Associate Director, R&D of the Group, aged 49

Mr. Yin Lei holds a bachelor’s degree from the Anhui University of Chinese
Medicine. He is also a licensed pharmacist. He joined the Group in 2014
and is responsible for the research and development of new drugs. He
has been engaged in drug research and development for over 20 years
and has led to many successful cases in the field of small molecule drugs,
peptide drugs and biochemical drugs. He had served as the Deputy
Genercal Manager of Zhaoke Guangzhou. In 2019, he was appointed
as Associate Director, R&D of the Group and is fully responsible for the
research and development of new drugs of the Group.

Xia Hongling

Deputy General Manager of Zhaoke Pharmaceutical (Hefei) Co.
Limited, aged 57

Ms. Xia Hongling holds a Bachelor’s degree in Business Administration from
the Renmin University of China and has the qualification of accountant
in China. Before joining the Group, she had been responsible for the
accounting and finance function with a large state-owned manufacturing
enterprise for over 10 years. She joined the Group in 1997 and held
various positions in accounting and supply chain department in Zhaoke
Hefei for over 20 years. She has extensive experience in accounting,
finance and logistics management in pharmaceutical industry. She has
been appointed as Deputy General Manager of Zhaoke Hefei since 2017
and further as the General Manager of the Shanghai branch of Zhaoke
Hefei since 2020.

EEZNTEANBERE

BREBE
TEHETHAE - 635

REBAELERBAEEEA - +F  THESERL -
IRBIEIRE R M RIEAIE  REE 2 EBRE AR
Bz (BN AR AR (TERBEM]) 2 BIRKE - KA
BEARAIENRETEEE  BEAAANAREEREE
ERFHTENTE REEBREEEHERRRGMPEE
BAELELR R_Z-\F+—H REZELATH

WRITRAE  AEAREAEPENITRER -

SEEARPOERE - 495

BREAERERBTBERBRLEM - TARKE
B R -ENBEAEE  BEWENRLE - R—F
WM ETIERB_+F @ £/\DFEY - ZHkEE
) LY RN BE S ERINED] - KB EIRBHEM
BlEER - R T NFRZERAEEREHLE
BE - 2EBRAEEMERRRFAE -

Bal&

KB EZ(SIR)ERATRIEKE 575

BRALIHBETRARKBTIHERS TS IR
BERESAER - EMBAREER - REN—HK
EERECEEES Y BBABBTF - B
—ANEFMBEAREE - SEREKRAIEOSE RUtE
BEPIETSEBCBR - TF  RERETENE
AOMBROREETAREELEENER - FR_F
—tFEZER/KMERRALE IR _FT_TFF
BEZERINMEE LB RAIBLE -

Annual Report 2021 3R

31



32

Directors and Key Personnel Profiles
EENTEANEBRERE

Zhong Chengping

Deputy General Manager of Zhaoke Pharmaceutical (Guangzhou)
Limited, aged 53

Ms. Zhong Chengping graduated from China Pharmaceutical University
with a Bachelor of Science degree and a licensed pharmacist qualification
certificate. Before joining the Group, she worked in many domestic
pharmaceutical companies, including Shanghai Jinke Quanjiao
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Hong Kong Jiuhua Huayuan Pharmaceutical
Co., Ltd., Hangzhou Puji Pharmaceutical Technology Development Co.,
Ltd., etc. She has nearly 30 years of experience in quality and project
management and other aspects. She joined the Group since 2012 as a
quality manager. In 2019, she was appointed as the quality director and
quality attorney of Zhaoke Hefei. In 2021, she has been appointed as the
Deputy General Manager of Zhaoke Guangzhou.

CONSULTANT

Professor Sabino Iliceto
Scientific Director of the Company

Professor Sabino Iliceto is appointed as the Scientific Director of the
Company with effect from 1 February 2022 and is providing consultation
services on all research and development of the Group’s pipeline and
portfolio and supports on developing scientific and research projects and
clinical developments across the Group. He is highly regarded Italian
scientist in cardiology. He is currently the Professor of Cardiology and
Director of the School of Cardiology of the University of Padua, Italy. He is
also the director of Cardiology Unit and director of Cardiac, Thoracic and
Vascular Department of Padua University Hospital. He has a considerable
clinical experience as well as a long-standing tradition in planning and
organising scientific projects.
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Report of the Directors

The directors of the Company (“Directors”) submit their report with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND
SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and the
principal activities of the Group are the developing, manufacturing and
sale and marketing of pharmaceutical products.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by business and
geographical segments is set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group and a discussion and analysis
of the Group’s performance during the year and the material factors
underlying its results and financial position, including a discussion of the
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, as well as the outlook
for the Group’s business, are provided in the “Chairman’s Statement”
(pages 10 to 11) and the “Management Discussion and Analysis” (pages
12 to 23) sections. Particulars of significant events affecting the Group
that have occurred since the end of the year ended 31 December 2021,
if applicable, can also be found in the aforesaid sections and the notes
to the consolidated financial statements (pages 84 to 224). Description
of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group can be found
in the section headed “Key Risks and Uncertainties” below. Description
of the Group’s relationships with its key stakeholders is included in the
section headed “Relationships with Employees, Customers and Suppliers”.
Furthermore, principal corporate governance practices adopted by the
Group and details regarding the Group’s compliance with relevant laws
and regulations which have a significant impact on the Group are provided
in the “Corporate Governance Report” section (pages 54 to 65).

This discussion forms part of this report of the Directors.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 and the
state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 December 2021
are set out in the financial statements on pages 75 to 224.

The Board has resolved to recommend a final dividend for the year ended
31 December 2021 (the “Final Dividend”) equivalent to HK$0.031 per
share (2020: HK$0.031 per share) in cash to the shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company as at the close
of business on Tuesday, 31 May 2022. Together with the interim dividend
of HK$0.030 per share (2020: HK$0.027 per share) paid on 6 October
2021, total distribution of dividend by the Company for the year ended 31
December 2021 will be HK$0.061 per share (2020: HK$0.058 per share).
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Report of the Directors
EFGRE

Subject to the passing of the relevant resolution at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company, it is expected that the Final Dividend will
be paid on 15 June 2022.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in note 46
to the consolidated financial statements.

ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

Particulars of the Group’s principal associated companies are set out in
note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 79 to 80.
Details of movements in the reserves of the Company during the year are
set out in note 47 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2021, the Company’s reserve available for distribution,
calculated in accordance with the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands,
amounted to HK$788,750,000 (31 December 2020: HK$797,301,000).
This includes the Company’s share premium account in the amount of
HK$720,091,000 (31 December 2020: HK$714,813,000) at 31 December
2021, which may be distributable provided that immediately following the
date on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company
will be in a position to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the
ordinary course of business.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable donations amounting to
HK$7,462,000 (2020: HK$2,588,000).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in note 19 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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SHARES ISSUED, REPURCHASED AND
CANCELLED

During the year, as a result of the exercise of share options under the
Company’s share option scheme adopted on 26 June 2002 and the
new share option scheme adopted on 10 May 2012, a total of 710,000
shares of the Company (the “Shares”), fully paid, were issued for a net
consideration of HK$3,543,000.

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year
are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

BANK BORROWINGS

Particulars of the bank borrowings of the Group are set out in note 32 to
the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the 2002 Share Option Scheme and New Share Option Scheme
disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” below and note
37 to the consolidated financial statements, no equity-linked agreements
were entered into by the Group, or existed during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to
the owners of the Company by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31
December 2021.
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Report of the Directors
EFGRE

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases attributable
to the major customers and suppliers respectively during the financial year
is as follows:

- Sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for
approximately 11.6% in aggregate for the Group’s total revenue for
the year (2020: 11.9%)

- Purchase from the Groups’ five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 71.8% in aggregate for the Group’s total purchases
for the year (2020: 80.8%).

- The largest supplier of the Group accounted for approximately
34.5% of the Group’s total purchases for the year. (2020: 27.3%)

At no time during the year have the Directors, their associates (as defined
in the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) or
any shareholder of the Company (who, to the knowledge of the Directors,
owns more than 5% of the number of issued shares of the Company) had
any interest in the Group’s five major customers and suppliers.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

A permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the Directors is currently
in force and was in force throughout the financial year. The Company has
also purchased and maintained directors’ liability insurance throughout the
year, which provides appropriate cover for the Directors.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report are:
Executive Directors

Lee Siu Fong, Chairman
Leelalertsuphakun Wanee, Managing Director

Non-executive Directors

Li Xiaoyi
(re-designated from executive Director to non-executive Director with
effect from 29 April 2021)

Simon Miles Ball (resigned with effect from 30 June 2021)

James Charles Gale
(appointed with effect from 2 January 2022)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Chan Yau Ching, Bob

Lam Yat Cheong
Tsim Wah Keung, Karl
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In accordance with Articles 95 and 112 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Ms. Lee Siu Fong, Dr. Li Xiaoyi, Mr. James Charles Gale and
Mr. Lam Yat Cheong will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting
and, being eligible, have agreed to offer themselves for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director has a service contract which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation other than
statutory compensation.

Each of Ms. Lee Siu Fong (“"Ms. Lee”) and Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee
(“Ms. Leelalertsuphakun”) has entered into a service contract both
dated 14 January 2002 with the Company under which each of them has
been appointed to act as an executive Director on a continuous basis
until terminated by either party by giving to the other party not less than
three months’ notice in writing. During the year, the monthly salaries and
allowance for Ms. Lee and Ms. Leelalertsuphakun have been revised to
HK$408,253 and HK$441,502 respectively.

Dr. Li Xiaoyi ("Dr. Li"”) has a service contract with the Company since 1
September 2003 and after that the contract has been renewed. Both the
Company and Dr. Li shall be entitled to terminate the contract by giving
three months’ prior written notice. If both of the substantial shareholders,
namely Ms. Lee and Ms. Leelalertsuphakun, and Dr. Li together, holding
less than 30% of the issued share capital of the Company, Dr. Li shall
in his absolute discretion terminate the contract and shall be entitled to
the payment equivalent to the aggregate of his monthly salary for the
remaining term as compensation or damages for or in respect of such
termination. With effect from 29 April 2021, Dr. Li has been re-designated
from an executive Director to a non-executive Director and serves as a
senior adviser to the Company. Dr. Li has a three-year service contract
with the Company from 29 April 2021. Director’s fee is HK$300,000 per
annum and bonus will not be paid for service as a non-executive director
and senior adviser to the Company. Director’s fee is determined by the
Board with reference to the market rate. The term of Dr. Li's appointment
is subject to retirement and re-election at the annual general meetings of
the Company in accordance with the Articles of Association. Dr. Li has a
three-year consulting contract with the Company from 1 December 2021
for service as a senior adviser to the Company and is entitled to a service
fee of HK$100,000 per month.

In accordance with supplementary agreement dated 16 April 2017 signed
between the Company and each of Ms. Lee, Ms. Leelalertsuphakun and Dr.
Li (prior to his re-designation as a non-executive Director), employment
terms of executive Directors have been revised as follows:

1. Executive Directors are entitled to annual management bonus 1.5%
to 3.0% (determined based on the growth in net profits of the
Group) on the net profit of the Group for the preceding financial
year. Such sum of the management bonus will be shared between
all the executive Directors in such proportion with reference to their
monthly salary in the final month of the complete financial year.
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2. The annual salary increment shall be equal to official inflation rate if
the growth in net profits of the Group is equal to or less than 15%,
or should the growth exceed 15%, the sum of the official inflation
rate and half of the positive difference between the growth in net
profits and the 15% threshold.

3. Each of executive Directors will be entitled to lump sum payment
upon retirement and monthly pension payment after retirement if
he/she has engaged in continuous service with the Company for
certain years.

In accordance with the supplemental agreement dated 20 December
2021 signed between the Company and each of Ms. Lee and Ms.
Leelalertsuphakun, employment terms of executive Directors have been
revised as follows:

1. The annual salary increment shall be equal to official inflation rate
plus half of the positive difference between the growth in net profits
and the 15% threshold, which shall not be less than 10% or more
than 30% of their salary for the immediately preceding calendar
year.

Each of Mr. Lam Yat Cheong (*"Mr. Lam”) and Dr. Tsim Wah Keung, Karl
(“Dr. Tsim”) has been appointed on 1 July 2004 and 20 September 2004
respectively as an independent non-executive Director. Contract with Mr.
Lam and Dr. Tsim has been renewed for three years from 1 July 2019 and
20 September 2019 respectively. Director’s fees for both of Mr. Lam and
Dr. Tsim are HK$216,000 per annum and bonus will not be paid.

Dr. Chan Yau Ching, Bob has a three-year service contract with the
Company from 12 October 2007. The contract has been renewed for three
years from 12 October 2019. Director’s fee is HK$216,000 per annum and
bonus will not be paid.

Mr. Simon Miles Ball has a three-year service contract with the Company
from 29 December 2017 and the contract has been renewed for three
years from 29 December 2020. Director’s fee was HK$300,000 per annum
and bonus will not be paid. Mr. Simon Miles Ball tendered his resignation as
a non-executive director of the Company with effect from 30 June 2021.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party, and in which the Directors had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND KEY PERSONNEL

Brief biographical details of the Directors and the key personnel are set
out on pages 24 to 32.

COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors, the management shareholders or substantial
shareholders of the Company or any of their respective associates has
engaged in any business that competes or may compete, either directly
or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group, as defined in the Listing
Rules, or has any other conflict of interests with the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2021.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES

Save as the interests disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief
Executive’s Interests in Securities” below, at no time during the year
under review was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors or chief executive of the Company
or their respective spouses or children under 18 years of age or their
associates to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in the
Company or any other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2021, the directors and the chief executive of the
Company and their associates had the following interests in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company and its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFO")), as recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the

EERBSITRAEREZNER

MRIBZ—F+ZA=+—H ARAEERRSHTH
ABRIBENBEANRARR REBBEE(ERERES
RHEERDISEXVER) 89 (7 X A8 BE A () h A 2 "o 80
RIEEZRAEGIIEIS2HEFENELM - JRE
ERRAME T AR ETEITAERETESFR SR
EFRI(TBREFR B RITAE AR R MR RS

Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Ul
Directors of Listed Issuers (the "Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10
of the Listing Rules:
(a) Long position in Shares (a) BRG#E
Number of Approximate
ordinary percentage of
Name of director Nature of interest shares held Total shareholding
EEHR ERME FsEERHA w3t BERESESL
Lee Siu Fong Beneficial owner 875
BINF EmHEA
Interest held jointly with
Leelalersuphakun Wanee 1,600,000
B EHPHERE 2w
Interest of a controlled
corporation (Note 1) 114,000,625 115,601,500 19.63%
—FAZ D EE R (FiEE1)
Leelalersuphakun Wanee Beneficial owner 3,305,000
ER EEHEEA
Interest held jointly with
Lee Siu Fong 1,600,000
B NS HERE 2w
Interest of a controlled
corporation (Note 1) 114,000,625 118,905,625 20.19%
—ER RS EE R (FEL)
Li Xiaoyi Beneficial owner 41,092,766
FR EmfEAA
Family interest (Note 2) 16,000,000
Rz (f3E2)
Others 1,920,385 59,013,151 10.02%
Hh
Chan Yau Ching, Bob Beneficial owner 520,000 520,000 0.09%
BRAIE ElEA
Lam Yat Cheong Beneficial owner 300,000 300,000 0.05%
ZN=E EmHEA
Tsim Wah Keung, Karl Beneficial owner 300,000 300,000 0.05%
EER EnEAA
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Notes: PR3E -

(1) 114,000,625 Shares are held through Huby Technology Limited ("Huby (1) 114,000,625/% %5 753 #Huby Technology
Technology”). Huby Technology is an investment holding company Limited ([ Huby Technology |)#7%4 ° Huby
jointly owned by Ms. Lee Siu Fong and Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee. Technology & — & EZER AR - AF/NFX

TRFERLTHFES -

(2)  These Shares are held by High Knowledge Investments Limited which is (2) #% % & 15 i High Knowledge Investments
wholly owned by Dr. Li Xiaoyi’s spouse, Ms. Lue Shuk Ping, Vicky (“Ms. Limited#5 - ZRAIBEF/NRE MRS AR
Lue”). The interest held by Ms. Lue is deemed to be part of the interest Kr+((Bx)2EHE - axtHBNER
of Dr. Li Xiaoyi. WARIES/ N\ B /D e o

(b) Long position in underlying shares - (b) RIEEER I E — KL B IR
share options of the Company

Under the share option schemes of the Company, the following BIBEARRIHEREE - THESRARER

Directors have personal interest in options to subscribe for the PRIEREPHE AARER - B TRENERE

Shares. Details of the share options granted to them are as follows: BT -

Balance Balance
as at During the year as at Exercise
Exercisable 1 January R 31 December price per
Name of director Date of grant period 2021 Granted Exercised 2021 share
RZB=-F RZB=-%
—-B-H TZA=+-H
E=pE REAH (i iofe3od B Ci:d ok BRITEE
(Notes) HK$
CiE3) B
Lee Siu Fong 30 December 2013 (1) 538,000 = = 538,000 7.300
Fig —F-=F+-A=1H
31 March 2015 (2) 446,000 = = 446,000 11.200
“T-Rf=R=1-H
31 March 2016 3) 587,000 = = 587,000 5.754
B e =
13 April 2017 (4) 590,000 = = 590,000 7.548
“Z—+FmA+=H
13 April 2018 (5) 456,000 = = 456,000 11.216
—Z-/\¥mA+=H
15 April 2019 (6) 592,000 = = 592,000 7.324
“E-NFRATHA
15 April 2020 (7) 588,000 = = 588,000 3.648
“Z-ZFMATEA
21 April 2021 ) = 588,000 = 588,000 5.806
—E--F¥MA-t+-A
3,797,000 588,000 - 4,385,000
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Balance Balance
as at During the year as at Exercise
Exercisable 1 January R 31 December price per
Name of director Date of grant period 2021 Granted Exercised 2021 share
RZB=-F RZB=-%
-B-H +ZA=t-H
SR REAH g d] ik B Ci:d ik BRITRE
(Notes) HK$
(P5E) B
Leelalertsuphakun Wanee 30 December 2013 (1) 338,000 = = 338,000 7.300
TR “Z-=F+ZA=1A
31 March 2015 (2) 446,000 - - 446,000 11.200
“T-Rf=R=1-H
31 March 2016 (3) 587,000 - - 587,000 5.754
B e =
13 April 2017 (4) 590,000 S S 590,000 7.548
“Z—+FmA+=H
13 April 2018 (5) 456,000 - - 456,000 11.216
“Z-\fMA+=A
15 April 2019 (6) 592,000 - - 592,000 7.324
“Z-NERATRA
15 April 2020 (7) 588,000 S S 588,000 3.648
“Z-ZFMATAA
21 April 2021 (8) - 588,000 = 588,000 5.806
“Z4mA-t-A
3,597,000 588,000 S 4,185,000
Li Xiaoyi 31 March 2015 (2) 446,000 S S 446,000 11.200
FINR —Z-RF=A=1-H
31 March 2016 (3) 587,000 - - 587,000 5.754
—Z-"%=R=t-AH
13 April 2017 (4) 590,000 - = 590,000 7.548
“Z—+ERAT=A
13 April 2018 (5) 456,000 S S 456,000 11.216
- /\§mA+=H
15 April 2019 (6) 592,000 S S 592,000 7.324
ZE-NEWATRA
15 April 2020 (7) 588,000 S S 588,000 3.648
ZZ-TERATRA
21 April 2021 (8) - 588,000 - 588,000 5.806
“E--fmA=+-H
3,259,000 588,000 - 3,847,000
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Notes:

(1) Divided into 2 tranches exercisable from 30 June 2014 and 30 March 2015
respectively to 29 December 2023.

(2) Divided into 2 tranches exercisable from 30 September 2015 and 30 June 2016
respectively to 30 March 2025.

(3) Divided into 2 tranches exercisable from 30 September 2016 and 30 June 2017
respectively to 30 March 2026.

(4) Divided into 2 tranches exercisable from 13 October 2017 and 13 July 2018
respectively to 12 April 2027.

(5) Divided into 2 tranches exercisable from 13 October 2018 and 13 July 2019
respectively to 12 April 2028.

(6) Divided into 2 tranches exercisable from 15 October 2019 and 15 July 2020
respectively to 14 April 2029.

(7) Divided into 2 tranches exercisable from 15 October 2020 and 15 July 2021
respectively to 14 April 2030.

(8) Divided into 2 tranches exercisable from 21 October 2021 and 21 July 2022
respectively to 20 April 2031.

(C) As at 31 December 2021, Dr. Li Xiaoyi had beneficial interest in (a)
12,740 ordinary shares in Powder Pharmaceuticals Incorporated;
and (b) 830 share options which can be converted into 830 ordinary
shares of Powder Pharmaceuticals Incorporated when exercised.

(d) As at 31 December 2021, Dr. Li Xiaoyi had beneficial interest in
14,022,800 share options which can be converted into 14,022,800
ordinary shares of ZKO, an associated corporation within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO, when exercised. Dr. Li Xiaoyi
spouse’s, Ms. Lue, had beneficial interest in 166,666 ordinary
shares of ZKO. The interest held by Ms. Lue is deemed to be part
of the interest of Dr. Li Xiaoyi. Dr. Li Xiaoyi holds 65% of the equity
interest of Lee’s Healthcare Industry Investments Limited, which in
turn is the general partner of Lee’s Healthcare Industry Fund L.P. For
the purpose of the SFO, Dr. Li Xiaoyi is deemed to have an interest
in the 2,187,600 ordinary shares of ZKO held by Lee’s Healthcare
Industry Fund L.P.

(6) As at 31 December 2021, Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee had
beneficial interest in 23,557 ordinary shares of ZKO.

(f) As at 31 December 2021, Dr. Chan Yau Ching, Bob, had beneficial
interest in 1,000 ordinary shares of ZKO. Ms. Chan Sau Lin, the
spouse of Dr. Chan Yau Ching, Bob, had beneficial interest in 1,000
ordinary shares of ZKO. The interest held by the spouse of Dr. Chan
Yau Ching, Bob, is deemed to be part of the interest of Dr. Chan Yau
Ching, Bob.

Report of the Directors
EEEWE

GEE

(1) At ARATH—F-NFEA=Z+AR=F—
FZRA=tRABRE_F_=F+-_A-tARLTE-

(2) At ARATH—F-AFAA=TAR=F—X
FRAZTERE-Z-_AF=A=+HILTE-

(3) DKL ARIRTAEZF—AR"FLA=ZTERZ=F—+
FRA=ZTAREZZT-AF=A=1+HIETTE -

(4) At ARATH—F—tF+A+T=AR=F—
FLA+T=BRE_T_LFMA+—HILTRE -

(5) a2t ARATH—E-N\F+A+=AR=FN
FEA+T=ZARE_T-_N\FMA+_HILITE -

(6) AL ARIATH—FE-AF+A+AAR=
FLA+TABRE_T-AFMA A LTTE -

(7) At ARATH—E-_FF+A+ARR-_F_—
FLRATHAERE_Z=2FMB+WBE 1T -

(8) oIFA HRETHE-_ZE-_—4F+A-+—HBR-Z
ZoFtACt+ARET=—FHA=Z+HLTE-

(c) r—2-——fF+-A=+—~ v$ NEE A+ (a)R
TLBmEERNRIN12,7400 E BARF ¢ K& (b)
ﬁ”‘%‘tﬁ@iﬁ}r—lﬁﬁﬁ‘%830%%%5‘%%%@@5?E‘T*

BARMB30MN B EP A Btk o

(d) w—=-—5+-A=+—8 " F\BELH
E%ﬂfﬂ%Tﬁv?ﬁz%m 022,800 JE BHR T} (12
FHRBAEROEXVI AT RIEEER) T
LHXE’]14 022,800t EE B -
?’J\ﬂ‘[ﬁiﬂ’mﬂﬁ%Eni(j:BA166,66BHx)EﬂEE
MEBRAPBEEERER ARTHEOER
WRAETNABELNH S #EE - TNRELH
A Lee's Healthcare Industry Investments
Limited #) 65% A% # - ifi Lee’s Healthcare
Industry Investments Limited % Lee's
Healthcare Industry Fund L.P.#) & & & %
A o IBRIBEFEHFRBAE KL - =\ RETHER AR
Lee’s Healthcare Industry Fund L.P.3FHE /)
2,187,600 K BHR B Z AR P A e ©

(e) R=Z=——F+=-A=+—-R8 THEELLTH
23,557 KRR R A S T asiss

(f) #=Z2=——F+=-A=+—-8 BRE#LIR
1,000 RIRRL A b G B asiEas - R
Ei8+ MBS EL 71,0000 kR R &
B A B o RARIE MR IERE R
W AR EET AR

Annual Report 2021 3R

43



44

Report of the Directors
EERHE

(g) As at 31 December 2021, Mr. Lam Yat Cheong had beneficial interest
in 3,000 ordinary shares of ZKO.

(h) As at 31 December 2021, Dr. Tsim Wah Keung, Karl, had beneficial
interest in 34,323 ordinary shares of ZKO.

(i) Save as disclosed above, no interests and short positions were
held or deemed to be taken to be held under Part XV of the SFO by
any director or chief executive of the Company or their respective
associates in the shares and the underlying shares of the Company
or any of its associated corporations which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Part
XV of the SFO or pursuant to the Model Code which are required
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO to be entered in the register
referred to therein.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to a written resolution passed by all shareholders of the
Company on 26 June 2002, the Company adopted a share option scheme
(the “2002 Share Option Scheme”). At the annual general meeting of
the Company held on 10 May 2012, a new share option scheme of the
Company (the "New Share Option Scheme”) was adopted upon expiry
of the 2002 Share Option Scheme.

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the New Share Option Scheme shall be
subject to a maximum limit of 10% of the Shares in issue on 10 May
2012, the date on which the New Share Option Scheme is conditionally
adopted and approved by the shareholders at the annual general meeting,
which is 47,023,543 Shares. Under the New Share Option Scheme, upon
acceptance of the option, the grantee of an option must pay HK$1 to the
Company by way of consideration for the grant thereof.

The total number of Shares available for issue under the New Share
Option Scheme as at 31 December 2021 was 12,277,543, representing
approximately 2.1% of the Company’s total humber of issued shares as at
the date of this annual report.

As at 31 December 2021, the number of Shares in respect of which
options had been granted and remained outstanding under the 2002
Share Option Scheme and New Share Option Scheme was 28,751,000 (31
December 2020: 27,697,000), representing 4.9% (31 December 2020:
4.7%) of the Shares in issue at that date.

The 2002 Share Option Scheme and New Share Option Scheme shall be
valid and effective for a period of 10 years from the date of adoption,
i.e. 26 June 2002 and 10 May 2012 respectively. The 2002 Share Option
Scheme expired on 9 May 2012. As at 31 December 2021, the remaining
life of the New Share Option Scheme was approximately 0.4 years (i.e.
until 9 May 2022).

Details of the Company’s share option schemes are set out in note 37 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS'’ FERRRBS MR
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2021, the following parties (other than a director or R-ZT-—&+—-F=+—H  TIAT(AAFTEEH
chief executive of the Company) who had interests or short positions in  &&TTEABBRIN AR TN MABRERO P HEER
the shares and underlying shares of the Company which are required to  BEHMHAEEHIEXVEE2R3ID HMAEMESARAF]
be notified to the Company pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of UARBEELENIHEEIFEIZ6IEBLBERRRME
the SFO and required to be entered into the register maintained by the  FERMeERS%AA ¢

Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

(a) Long position in Shares (a) RIGIFE
Number of Approximate
ordinary percentage of
Name Capacity shares held shareholding
19 1 14 FisEEREA FRENEDL
Huby Technology Limited Beneficial owner 114,000,625 19.36%
EmlBA

Assicurazioni Generali S.p.A. Interest of a controlled corporation 81,405,000 13.82%
—ER AR E S

Li Zhenfu Interest of a controlled corporation 81,405,000 13.82%
—ER B EE R ER

Lion River I N.V. Interest of a controlled corporation 81,405,000 13.82%
—ER B EE R

GL Partners Capital Management Limited Interest of a controlled corporation 76,165,488 12.93%
—RZEH AR RS

Apta Finance S.A. Interest of a controlled corporation 58,833,898 9.99%
—FEXEHEE R

Cavazza Paolo Interest of a controlled corporation 58,833,898 9.99%
—ER B EE MR

Paponi Claudia Family interest 58,833,898 9.99%
ENIR 3

Qualister SA Beneficial owner 52,929,577 8.99%
EnERAA

GSR Capital Joy Corporation Beneficial owner 34,566,935 5.87%
EmAA

GoldenSand Capital Ltd Interest of a controlled corporation 34,566,935 5.87%
—AZ R AR R

Wu Sonny Interest of a controlled Corporation 34,566,935 5.87%
—ER ) E A R

High Knowledge Investments Limited Beneficial owner (Note 1) 16,000,000 2.72%
EanEA AL

Lue Shuk Ping, Vicky Interest of a controlled corporation (Note 1) 16,000,000 2.72%

=k —RX LA E AR (L)

Family interest (Note 2) 43,013,151 7.30%
Kz (f512)

Notes: PHEE -

(1) These Shares are legally owned by High Knowledge Investments (1) &% % & 1 £ & # £ f High Knowledge
Limited, which is entirely and beneficially owned by Dr. Li Xiaoyi's Investments Limited#7%5 * ZARIAZF/\FE
spouse, Ms. Lue. THEBE L2 ERESER -

(2)  These Shares are owned by Ms. Lue’s spouse, Dr. Li Xiaoyi. (2) ZERMBEZIORBE)RELIES -

Annual Report 2021 3 45



46

Report of the Directors
EFGRE

(b) Long position in underlying shares -
share options of the Company

(b) RGBT HIIE — K 2 AR

Number of Approximate
ordinary percentage of
Name Capacity shares held shareholding
A 14 g BEREE BREAEIT
Lue Shuk Ping, Vicky Family interest (Note 1) 3,847,000 0.65%
Bk Rz (fIzE1)
Note: PHEE -

(1) These share options are owned by Ms. Lue’s spouse, Dr. Li Xiaoyi.

(c) Short position in Shares

No short positions of other persons and substantial shareholders in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company and its associated
corporations were recorded in the register.

Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, the Directors are
not aware of any other person or corporation having an interest or short
position in shares and underlying shares of the Company which fall to be
disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to information that is available to the Company the percentage
of the Company’s shares which are in the hands of the pubic exceeds 25%
of the Company’s total number of issued shares during the year and up to
the date of this annual report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group conducted certain
transactions with parties deemed as “related parties” under applicable
accounting standards. The details of these transactions are set out in note
43 to the consolidated financial statements. Save for the transactions
mentioned in the section headed “Connected Transactions and Continuing
Connected Transactions” which is subject to announcement and disclosure
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, certain transactions
mentioned in note 43 to the consolidated financial statements also
constituted connected transactions or continuing connecting transactions
as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules but are exempt from the
disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS BEXZREERERS

AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Company and the Group had the following connected FR -

ARBEAREGETTIIER 5 RIS ERME

transactions and continuing connected transactions, and details of which %5 MEBFBECEB EHRIETNAZTHREH

have been disclosed in compliance with the requirements of Chapter 14A 5= o
of the Listing Rules.

Connected Transactions BEX S
1. Advance of shareholder loans to Powder 1. AAREEBENRZHEZLFRAT

Pharmaceuticals Incorporated ("PPI”), an
associate of the Group

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the following shareholder
loan was provided by the Group to PPI:

((ERDBNSERRER

REBE-_Z-_—F+-A=+—8LFE £&
EmELEHOREERET -

Interest Loan amount

rate in original
Advance date Term per annum currency Loan amount
B BH FH FF= REBERE EXE
28 April 2021 1 year 4% HK$10,000,000 HK$10,000,000
—E—FMAZ+N\HAH —4F 10,000,000/& 7T 10,000,000/ 7T

Details of this transaction have been disclosed in the Company’s
announcement dated 28 April 2021.

GL Partners Capital Management Limited ("GL Partners”) is a
substantial shareholder of the Company. The Company and GL
Partners are both shareholders of PPI at the same time, while GL
Partners, being a connected person of the Company, is entitled to
exercise or control the exercise of 10% or more of the voting power
at any general meeting of PPI. Therefore, PPI is a commonly held
entity under the Listing Rules. Therefore, advance of shareholder
loans to PPI constitutes a connected transaction.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had interest in 33.92% of issued
share capital of PPI.

ZRGHABERARAFN AN R -_T_—F0NAH
“HNBRENRE -

GL Partners Capital Management Limited
(IGL Partners ) XA EERE - AR
7] % GL Partners [l B 19 /& & 24 IR 58 - ifi GL
Partners(EL AR A RIBE A L) B L ENT
AIRR ARG EITE IR IEITE10% A FRIRE
o FHit - BIE ETRE - ERA—EXRFE
WER - Bt METEBNRREREREER
% o

RZBE-Z—F+-A=+—H  ~EEIFHLL
BTN 33.92% % ©
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Advance of shareholder loans to China Oncology 2. OFXEEMEBARTEEBEEESR
Focus Limited (“COF”), a subsidiary of the Group AF([COF) B RRER
During the year ended 31 December 2021, the following shareholder REBEEZZT-_—F+-A=+—HLFE  &&
loans were provided by the Group to COF: E M COFRFMRRERMT «

Interest Loan amount

rate in original

Advance date Term per annum currency Loan amount
Bt A FH FRE REWERE BHE
1 February 2021 1 year 4% US$6,000,000 HK$46,800,000
T —F=-A—H —F 6,000,000t 46,800,000/ T
1 February 2021 1 year 4% RMB5,000,000 HK$6,130,000
—E-—F=-A—H —F AR¥5,000,0007T 6,130,000/ 7T
26 March 2021 1 year 4% US$2,000,000 HK$15,600,000
—E-—®=R=+"H —F 2,000,0003 7T 15,600,000/% 7T
28 May 2021 1 year 4% US$3,000,000 HK$23,400,000
—Z-_—FAA=-+N\H —4F 3,000,000 7T 23,400,000/ T
17 July 2021 1 year 4% US$5,000,000 HK$39,000,000
T —Ft+tA++tH —F 5,000,000t 39,000,000/

Details of these transactions have been disclosed in the Company’s
announcement dated 1 February 2021, 26 March 2021, 28 May 2021
and 16 July 2021.

Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee, Ms. Lee Siu Fong and Dr. Li Xiaoyi
are the directors and substantial shareholders of the Company who
are connected persons of the Company under the Listing Rules.
They altogether held a total of approximately 62.85% of the issued
ordinary and preferred shares in Perfect Concept Holdings Limited
("PCH") as at the dates of the transaction and therefore, PCH is
the associate of Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee, Ms. Lee Siu Fong
and Dr. Li Xiaoyi, and is then a connected person of the Company
under the Listing Rules. Lee’s Pharmaceutical International Limited
(“LPI") is a shareholder of COF and at the same time, PCH, is also a
shareholder of COF. PCH, being a connected person of the Company,
is holding 35% of the issued share capital of COF, and therefore, the
shareholder loans made by LPI to COF under the shareholder loan
agreements constitutes a connected transaction pursuant to Rule
14A.27 of the Listing Rules.
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Continuing Connected Transactions

1.

Provision of financial guarantee to PPI, an associate
of the Group

On 11 February 2020 (as supplemented), the Company as guarantor
provided a corporate guarantee in favour of a bank as a security for
the provision of a revolving loan facility of up to HK$13,000,000,
a demand loan facility of up to HK$40,000,000 and an overdraft
facility of up to HK$6,000,000, provided that the total outstanding
balance of the overdraft facility and revolving loan facility shall
not at any time exceed HK$13,000,000, to PPI for the purpose of
funding its normal commercial operation.

The above continuing connected transactions have been reviewed by
the independent non-executive Directors and they have confirmed
that the transactions:

a. have been entered into in the usual and ordinary course of
businesses of the Company and its subsidiaries.

b. are conducted on normal commercial terms.
C. are entered into in accordance with the terms of relevant
agreements that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of

shareholders as a whole.

d. have not exceeded the cap disclosed in previous
announcements.

The Company’s auditor, HLM CPA Limited, also has confirmed that
the above continuing connected transactions:

a. have received the approval of the Company’s Board of
Directors;
b. have been entered into in accordance with the relevant

agreement governing the transactions; and

(o have not exceeded the cap disclosed in previous
announcements.

Save as disclosed above, there was no other transaction requiring
disclosure of connected transactions and continuing connected transactions
in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and considers all the independent non-executive
Directors are independent.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 9.

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the effectiveness of the
internal control and risk management systems of the Group, which are
designed to manage the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and
provide reasonable assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Business Risk

The Group’s business risks include rapid change in the general market
conditions, downturn pressure on the overall economy of China and price
competition from other market players. The Board is responsible for the
overall management of the business and review of material business
decisions involving material risks exposures from time to time.

Financial Risk

The Group adopts financial risk management policies to manage its
currency risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, and liquidity risk. The Board
also reviews monthly management accounts, capital structure and key
operating data of the Group.

Compliance Risk

The Board adopts procedures to ensure the Group is in compliance with
the applicable laws, rules and regulations. The Group engages professional
advisers and consultants to keep the Group abreast of the latest
developments in the regulatory environment, including legal, financial,
environmental and operational developments. The Group also adopts
a strict policy in prohibiting any unauthorised use or dissemination of
confidential or inside information.
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Operational Risk

The Group adopts procedures to manage its operational risk such as
inadequate management efficiency, inefficient raw material procurement
and production facilities utilisation. The Board has reviewed the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control and risk management systems
covering business, financial, compliance and operational risks of the Group
and is satisfied that such systems are effective and adequate.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The sustainability of the Group’s business relies on the growth of the
Group’s employees. Remuneration packages of the employees are
generally structured with reference to prevailing market terms and
individual qualifications. Salaries and wages are normally reviewed on an
annual basis based on performance appraisals and other relevant factors.

Apart from salary payments, there are other staff benefits including
mandatory provident fund, medical insurance and performance related
bonus. Share options may also be granted to eligible employees of the
Group.

Relationship is the fundamentals of business. The Group fully understands
this principal and thus maintain good relationship with the customers to
fulfil their immediate and long-term need.

The Group strives to maintain fair and co-operating relationship with the
suppliers.

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES AND
SERVICES AND ENVIRONMENTAL
POLICY

The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of its businesses
and the communities with which it engages. The Group pursues this
business approach by managing its business prudently and executing
management decisions with due care and attention. Over the years, the
Group has been fully committed to environmental protection. Periodic
internal control meetings are held to review environmental issues in the
production plants to update environmental laws and regulations and to
make valuable suggestions and recommendations for improvement.
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COMPLIANCE WITH REGULATIONS

The Group is not aware of any instances of material breach of or non-
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations such as the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), Listing Rules, and other applicable
local laws and regulations in various jurisdictions during the year ended 31
December 2021 and up to the date of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Environmental, Social and Governance Report prepared in accordance
with Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules will be published on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange within five months after the
Reporting Year.

STAFF RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The group companies operated in Hong Kong are required to participate
in a defined contribution retirement scheme set up in accordance with
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485). Under the
scheme, the employees are required to contribute 5% of their monthly
salaries up to a maximum of HK$1,500 and they can choose to make
additional contributions. The employer’s monthly contributions are
calculated at 5% of the employee’s monthly salaries up to a maximum
of HK$1,500 (the “Mandatory Contributions”), and are charged to the
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
scheme. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in an independently administered fund. The employees are entitled
to 100% of the employer’s Mandatory Contributions upon their retirement
at the age of 65 years old, death or total incapacity.

In addition, pursuant to the government regulations in the PRC and
Taiwan, the employees of the group companies operated in the PRC and
Taiwan are members of a state-managed retirement benefit plan operated
by the government of the PRC and Taiwan. Those group companies
are required to contribute a specified percentage of payroll costs to
the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation
of the Group with respect to the retirement is to make the specified
contributions.

Certain Directors will be entitled to lump sum payment upon retirement
and monthly pension payment after retirement if they have engaged in

continuous service with the Company for certain years.

Particulars of the scheme of the Group are set out in note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2021 have been audited by HLM CPA Limited who will retire and, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Lee Siu Fong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 March 2022
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The Board believes that corporate governance is essential to the success
of the Company and has adopted various measures to uphold good
corporate governance to safeguard the interests of our shareholders,
investors, customers and staff.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintain a high standard of corporate
governance to protect the interest of the shareholders of the Company.
The Company has complied with all the then-applicable code provisions of
the Corporate Governance Code (the "CG Code”) as set out in Appendix
14 of the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31 December 2021,
with deviations from provision A.5 of the CG Code.

Under provision A.5 of the CG Code, a nomination committee should be
established to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
and reappointment of Directors. The Board as a whole is responsible
for the appointment of its own members. The Board did not establish a
nomination committee in view of the small size of the Board. The Chairman
of the Board was responsible for identifying appropriate candidate and
proposing qualified candidate to the Board for consideration. The Board
would review profiles of the candidates recommended by the Chairman
and make recommendation the appointment, re-election and retirement
of the Directors. Candidates were appointed to the Board on the basis of
their skill, competence, experience and diversity of perspectives that they
can contribute to the Company.

A new CG Code came into effect on 1 January 2022. A nomination
committee of the Company comprising Ms. Lee Siu Fong as the chairman,
Dr. Chan Yau Ching, Bob and Dr. Tsim Wah Keung, Karl as the members
has been established by the Board with written terms of reference with
effect from 2 January 2022, in which majority of the committee members
are independent non-executive Directors. Since then, the Company
has complied with code provision A.5 of the CG Code (which has been
renumbered as code provision B.3 with effect from 1 January 2022).

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL
CODE FOR DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company has adopted
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
(the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules. The
Company has made specific enquiries of all the Directors and the Company
was not aware of any non-compliance with such Model Code and required
standard of dealing throughout the year ended 31 December 2021.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The non-executive Directors provides the Group with a wide range of
expertise and knowledge in the pharmaceutical sector. The independent
non-executive Directors are persons of high calibre; with academic
and professional qualifications in the areas of accounting, financial and
pharmaceutical field. With their experience gained from senior positions
held in other companies, they provide strong support towards the effective
discharge of the duties and responsibilities of the Board.

The Company has a Board diversity policy whereby it recognises and
embraces the benefits of a diversity of Board members. It endeavors to
ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business.
All Board appointments will continue to be made on a merit basis with
due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board members. Selection
of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills and knowledge.

The list of Directors and their roles and functions is posted on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are segregated and
are not exercised by the same individual. The Chairman of the Company
is Ms. Lee Siu Fong and the management committee is responsible for
the effective and timely management of the daily activities and business
dealings of the Group, as well as implementation of all policies and
decision approved by the Board and to assist the Board in implementing
the Group's strategic plans.

The Board formulates overall strategic plans and key policies of the Group,
monitors its financial performance, maintains effective oversight over
the management, risks assessment, controls over business operations
and ensures good corporate governance and compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements. Responsibility in relation to daily operations and
execution of the strategic business plans are delegated to each of the
executive Directors and senior management.
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During the year ended 31 December 2021, 22 Board meetings and two HEZT-—F+_F=+—HILFE  AFELLET
shareholders meeting were held and the attendance of individual Director 22XEEE@HLMABEAE  UWTARESHFES

at these meetings is set out below: FEAECER
Number Number of
of Board shareholders
meeting meeting
attended/ attended/
Attendees Total Total
HEEEgeE HERRAS
HEE WE ERE B R
Executive Directors BITES
Lee Siu Fong (Chairman) TN (FE) 22/22 2/2
Leelalertsuphakun Wanee (Managing Director) PR (EFARAEHE) 22/22 2/2
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Li Xiaoyi (re-designated from executive director to Z/\R(BE-ZZ=—FMNA=-F+NAR
non-executive director with effect from 29 April BATESATIERITES)
2021) 22/22 2/2
Simon Miles Ball (resigned with effect from 30 June Simon Miles Ball
2021) (BZZE=—FA=THEEHT) 12/22 0/2
James Charles Gale (appointed with effect from 2 James Charles Gale
January 2022) (BZZ==F—A-HEBEZE) N/ATE A N/ATE A
Independent non-executive Directors BIFHITES
Chan Yau Ching, Bob BRARLE 21/22 0/2
Lam Yat Cheong NEES 21/22 0/2
Tsim Wah Keung, Karl B 21/22 0/2

The Company’s auditor, HLM CPA Limited, also attended the shareholders  ANAFWZEEAIERSHAITTAR AT ITHEREAS -
meetings.

During the year under review, a meeting was held between the Chairman  REEBEFE @ FFEMEELIFATESZRELE T

and all independent non-executive Directors in accordance with provision — 1§XA.2.78177 — X &% °
A.2.7 of the CG Code.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All non-executive Directors are appointed for a specific term, subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

All the independent non-executive Directors have confirmed in writing
to the Company that they have met all the guidelines for assessing their
independence as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Notwithstanding
that certain of the independent non-executive Directors have served on
the Board for more than nine years, in view that they have demonstrated
the attributes as independent non-executive Directors during their tenure
in office and taking into account their written confirmation of independence
as regards Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, the Company considers that all
the independent non-executive Directors to be independent and believes
that their continued service as independent non-executive Directors will be
beneficial to the Company and the shareholders.

TEERRSE

FIITES

AN TESHEZE—RARTFY ARz 8=
FWERE—R -

EBILFNTEECMAARNEAER  HWECKHAE
ERAIES 3G AR EBLIENABIES - &
EETEBUIFATEERNESTGRGEBIF  ENE
EREHMRNCERRBEILFFNTESZER  YOEE
WER ETRAEI G EEMER - AARRRAE
BYIFNTERHBEY - WARERSEREILIFNT
EFRERBBHARRRBERER -
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND EERIIREXRE

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

The Group regularly updates Directors on the latest development regarding ZAN&EEFHHMESEE AR 1R M EKSEITRGRE
the Listing Rules and other applicable legal and regulatory requirements FIHESEABNEGERZEZLEERTNSRTEE -
regarding subjects necessary in the discharge of their duties. In addition, Lo AEE—EEEBESEFEEEREE - RAIX
the Group has been encouraging Directors to attend training courses or BRI ZEENZIIRENE L ERKFIBERBER -
via online aids or reading relevant materials on the latest development of {55 Al RS N — 212 5 HARRD 138 S RhE -
applicable laws, rules and regulations so that they can continuously update
and further enhance their knowledge and skills.
Records of the Directors’ training during 2021 are as follows: BER T —FHEIIREET :
Type of
continuous
professional
development

Directors training
BiEEE

2 B REER

Executive Directors BITES

Lee Siu Fong (Chairman) TN (F/E) (i) & (ii)

Leelalertsuphakun Wanee (Managing Director) T (B BT ) (i) & (ii)

Non-executive Directors FHITES
Li Xiaoyi /B (i) & (ii)

Simon Miles Ball Simon Miles Ball (i) & (ii)
James Charles Gale James Charles Gale N/ATER
Independent non-executive Directors BUFHITES

Chan Yau Ching, Bob PR IE (i) & (ii)
Lam Yat Cheong i N=R= (i) & (ii)
Tsim Wah Keung, Karl EER (i) & (i)
(i)  Attending seminar(s) or training session(s). (i) HEEEELIEIRE -

(i) Reading newspapers, journals and updates relating to the (i) MEBEEBEARNESRESTHE - tHEAIRE
Company’s business or Directors’ duties and responsibilities, MERETH TSI RREIBE BT R&H

the latest development of the Listing Rules and other applicable

regulatory requirements, etc.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE AND
ACCOUNTABILITY

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
comprehensible assessment of the Group’s performance and prospects.
The Board is also responsible for preparing the accounts of the Group,
which give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group on a
going concern basis.

The Company set up an audit committee with written terms of reference in
compliance with Rules 3.21 and the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 of
the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the audit committee are to review
and supervise the financial reporting process, internal control and risks
management system of the Group.

The audit committee is to serve as a focal point for communication
between other Directors, the external auditors, the internal auditors (where
an internal audit function exists) of the Company, and the management
as regards their duties relating to financial and other reporting, risk
management, internal controls, external and internal audits and such
other financial and accounting matters as the Board determines from
time to time. The audit committee is to assist the Board in providing an
independent review of the effectiveness of the financial reporting process,
internal control and risk management system of the Group, overseeing the
audit process and performing other duties and responsibilities as may be
assigned by the Board from time to time.

The audit committee comprises three members, Dr. Chan Yau Ching, Bob
(chairman of the audit committee), Mr. Lam Yat Cheong and Dr. Tsim
Wah Keung, Karl, who are the independent non-executive Directors of
the Company. In the financial year ended 31 December 2021, four audit
committee meetings were held to review and comment on the Group’s
draft annual, interim and quarterly financial reports, met with external
auditor and provided advices and recommendations to the Board. The
individual attendance record of each member is as follows:

Al AA N/
PEERRE

EREEEREE

BEEE AV AERRANNENER B k2|
- BEFETARURBELEEERRABRA T
RRAREBPHEARRNOAEERE -

RRRRILTERZEG  WASHELAHIELBEE
C AR A ETARRIE 3. 2 GA R SR+ PR 3
EaTh c BRZEENTIERAERRN KEEAKE
MM ERRET - AEEERGREREE

ERREENEREMES - JMNERBED - NABED
(HFENRPERBE) REEE ZHMNEBBR - BT
FEBRBETHENTHELEGRS  BREE - N
% SMNED R NP AIA R E G TR TE B A I K
B EE - BREEENRABYESSBURTAEE
FBHRERE - APEIERERE R EAKRY - BE
BERBERBTEEFETRERNEMBEREE -

ERRESH=-RAKEMER  RAEBL(EREZES
EE) MBESE4EREERITT  BEHARARINE
VHEHTEE -HE_E-_—F+-A=1+—HIHK
FE - BOTOABRZEZEESSH  USRHASENTF
B HFERFENEREERTRHER - HIMNERK
HRBRTER  URNESSRUEARKEER - 84
AR E MR F R T

Number
of audit
committee
meeting
attended/ Attendance
Attendees Total percentage
HEEREES
HEE BEREHERE HER
Chan Yau Ching, Bob PR & IE 4/4 100%
Lam Yat Cheong MHE 4/4 100%
Tsim Wah Keung, Karl JEE 4/4 100%
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BEEAEE

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

A remuneration committee has been established in February 2012 in
accordance with the requirement of Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules. The
remuneration committee of the Company comprises two independent non-
executive Directors and one executive Director.

Dr. Tsim Wah Keung, Karl is the chairman of the remuneration committee
and Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee and Dr. Chan Yau Ching, Bob are
members of the remuneration committee. The Company has adopted
the model to make recommendations to the Board to determine the
remuneration packages of individual executive Director and senior
management. The major roles and functions of the Company’s
remuneration committee are as follows:

a. Establish and apply a formal and transparent procedure for
setting policy on remuneration for executive Directors and senior
management, and for fixing the remuneration packages for all
Directors and senior management; and

b. Ensure that procedures and principles for fixing packages of all
Directors and senior management are proper so that the levels of
remuneration of Directors commensurate with their qualifications
and competencies, and that such remuneration is sufficient to attract
and retain the Directors and senior management but not excessive.

The terms of reference of the remuneration committee are posted on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The remuneration
committee meets at least once a year. During the year ended 31
December 2021, three meetings are held by the remuneration committee
and all the committee members attended the meeting to approve the
annual bonus payable to executive Directors for the financial year 2020,
the monthly salary of Directors and the remuneration packages of
executive Directors during the year under review.

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the Board has resolved
that the senior management of the Company comprise only the Executive
Directors of the Company. Please refer to note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements for details of the remuneration payable to the
Directors.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

A nomination committee has been established in January 2022 in
accordance with the requirement of Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules. The
nomination committee of the Company comprises one executive Director
and two independent non-executive Directors.

Ms. Lee Siu Fong is the chairman of the nomination committee and Dr.
Chan Yau Ching, Bob and Dr. Tsim Wah Keung, Karl are members of the
nomination committee. The major roles and functions of the Company’s
nomination committee are as follows:

a. Review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge, experience and diversity of perspectives) of the Board at
least annually and make recommendations on any proposed changes
to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

b. Identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and
select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of,
individuals nominated for directorships;

C. Assess the independence of independent non-executive directors;

d. Make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of directors and succession planning for directors (in
particular the chairman or chairlady and the chief executive officer);

e. Review the policy on Board diversity (the “Board Diversity Policy”)
and any measurable objectives for implementing such Board
Diversity Policy as may be adopted by the Board from time to time
and to review the progress on achieving the objectives; and to make
disclosures of its progress on its review results in the annual report
of the Company annually; and

f. where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual as an
independent non-executive director at the general meeting, it should
set out in the circular to shareholders and/or explanatory statement
accompanying the notice of the relevant general meeting:

(i)  the process used for identifying the individual and why the
Board believes the individual should be elected and the
reasons why it considers the individual to be independent;

(ii) if the proposed independent non-executive director will be
holding their seventh (or more) listed company directorship,
why the Board believes the individual would still be able to
devote sufficient time to the Board;

(iii)  the perspectives, skills and experience that the individual can
bring to the Board; and

(iv) how the individual contributes to diversity to the Board.

/\\ //‘—h—\
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BEEAEE

The terms of reference of the nomination committee are posted on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

A management committee has been established in April 2021 which
comprises two executive Directors and several key management
personnels of the Group in respect of research and development,
manufacturing, sales and marketing and finance. The management
committee is established for the purpose of effective and timely
management of the day-to-day activities and business dealings of the
Group, as well as implement all policies and decisions approved by the
Board and to assist the Board in implementing the strategic plans of the
Group.

Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee is the chairman of the management
committee and Ms. Lee Siu Fong and several key management personnels
are members of the management committee. The major roles and
functions of the Company’s management committee are as follows:

a. Oversee the management and the administrative functions of the
day-to-day operations of the Group;

b. Review the documents from the senior management of the Company
on issues relating to its operation, management, strategies and
developments (such as vision, mission, and annual strategy of the
Company) on a regular basis and make recommendations to the
Board regarding any proposed changes;

C. Identify market changes and competition or make recommendations
to the Board on issues relating to the Company’s operation,
management, strategies and developments, such as Company’s
market positions, pricing strategies, new markets and strategic
partnerships;

d. Make recommendations to the Board on matters relating to the
Company’s operation, management, strategies and developments;

e. Handle such other matters as delegated by the Board from time to
time; and
f. Perform all such duties and all such acts in relation to paragraphs

above pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association and all
applicable statutory rules and regulations in force from time to time.

The terms of reference of the management committee are posted on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The management
committee meets at least twice a year. During the year ended 31
December 2021, two meetings are held by the management committee
and all the committee members attended the meeting.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary’s biography is set out in the section under
“Directors and Key Personnel Profiles” of this annual report. During the
year ended 31 December 2021, the company secretary has taken no less
than 15 hours of professional training to update his skills and knowledge.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective internal
control and risk management systems over the Group’s asset and
shareholders’ interests, as well as for reviewing such systems’
effectiveness. Such systems are designed to provide reasonable, but
not absolute, assurance against misstatement or loss, and to manage
risks of failure in the Group’s operational systems. The systems include
a well-established organisational structure with clearly defined lines
of responsibility and authority, which is designed to safeguard assets
from inappropriate use, maintain proper accounts, ensure compliance
with regulations and regulate the handling and dissemination of inside
information of the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Board has, through the audit
committee with the Group’s internal audit team and the assistance of the
management, conducted a review of the Group’s internal control and risk
management system, including without limitation to financial control,
operational control, and compliance control. The Board assesses the
effectiveness of internal controls by considering reviews performed by the
audit committee, executive management and auditors.

The Board is of the view that the internal control and risk management
systems are effective and there are no irregularities, improprieties, fraud
or other deficiencies that suggest material deficiency in the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control system.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Total auditor’s remuneration for the fiscal year 2021 in relation to
statutory audit work of the Group amounted to HK$1,312,000 of which a
sum of HK$1,180,000 was paid to HLM CPA Limited.

In additions to the statutory audit work, there is sum HK$151,000 paid to
HLM CPA Limited, auditor of the Company, for non-statutory audit service
for the fiscal year 2021.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on payment of dividends.
Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and the Group and
the conditions and factors as set out in the dividend policy (including but
not limited to the Group’s financial results, cash flow position, business
conditions and strategies, future operations and earnings, capital
requirements and expenditure plans), dividends may be proposed and/or
declared by the Board during a financial year and any final dividend for a
financial year will be subject to the shareholders’ approval.

CONVENING OF EXTRAORDINARY
GENERAL MEETINGS ON REQUISITION
BY SHAREHOLDERS

Shareholders shall have the right to request the Board to convene an
extraordinary general meeting ("EGM"”) of the Company. Two or more
shareholders holding in aggregate of not less than one-tenth (10%) of
the paid up capital of the Company which carries the right of voting at the
general meeting of the Company may send a written request to the Board
of the Company to request for an EGM. The written requisition, duly signed
by the shareholders concerned, must state the purposes of the meeting
and must be deposited at the registered office of the Company.

Shareholders who wish to move a resolution at general meetings may
follow the procedures set out in the preceding paragraph.
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PROCEDURES FOR DIRECTING
SHAREHOLDERS’ ENQUIRIES TO THE
BOARD

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the
Board in writing through the company secretary whose contact details are
as follows:

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited

1/F, Building 20E, Phase 3

Hong Kong Science Park, Shatin, Hong Kong
Telephone: (852) 2314 1282

Fax: (852) 2314 1708

Email: investor@leespharm.com

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general
meetings of the Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, there was no significant
change in the Company’s constitutional documents, and these documents
are published on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Yo & & 3t 6 4T TR 5]
HLM CPA LIMITED

Certified Public Accountants

Rooms 1501-8, 15th Floor, Tai Yau Building
181 Johnston Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
FusEAT A LA 18197

KA KE15H1501-8%

Tel TE6: (852) 3103 6980

Fax f#E.: (852) 3104 0170

E-mail 7 ¥: info@hlm.com.hk

TO THE MEMBERS OF LEE'S PHARMACEUTICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Lee’s
Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 75 to 224,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2021, and consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Revenue recognition
(refer to note 7 and 8 to the consolidated
financial statements)

The Group’s revenue amounted to HK$1,266 million for the year ended 31
December 2021. Sales of goods are recognised as revenue when goods
are delivered and titles have been passed.

We identified the recognition of revenue as a key audit matter because
revenue is one of the key performance indicators of the Group and
therefore there is an inherent risk of manipulation of the timing of
recognition of revenue.

Our response
Our main procedures in relation to revenue recognition included:
- Obtaining evidence regarding the transfer of control of ownership.

- Testing the key internal controls over revenue recognition, and
assessing whether the accounting policy related to revenue
recognition was applied appropriately and consistently throughout
the year.

- On a sample basis, making selections from sales records and
delivery records, and tracing to their contracts, delivery orders
and customer’s acknowledgement of receipts, and paying special
attention to samples before and after the end of the reporting period
to assess whether the relevant revenue was recognised in the
correct period.

Based on our procedures described, we found that the amount and timing
of the revenue recorded were supported by available evidence.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BN 2B S

Valuation of retirement benefits on defined
benefit plan

(refer to note 38 to the consolidated financial
statements)

The Group entered into service contracts with the executive directors to
provide certain retirement benefits. There is judgement in determining
valuation of the retirement benefits as recorded at the end of the reporting
period. The valuation is based on a number of assumptions including
discount rate, growth rate of salary and life expectancy.

Our response

Our main procedures in relation to the valuation of the retirement benefits
on defined benefit plan included:

= Assessing the independence and competence of the independent
external valuer appointed by the Group to calculate the fair value of
the retirement benefits.

- Assessing the accuracy and relevance of the input data provided
by management to the independent external valuer by challenging
and corroborating the market data and information from similar
transactions from independent sources.

= Evaluating appropriateness of the methodology and assumptions
used by the independent external valuer.

= Testing mathematical accuracy of the underlying valuation.

We found the methodology and key assumptions to be reasonable.

Intangible assets recognition and impairment
assessment
(refer to note 20 to the consolidated financial
statements)

As at 31 December 2021, the Group reported intangible assets of HK$923
million, of which HK$621 million were capitalised development expenditure
and HK$302 million were license fee.

Development expenditure mainly comprised of development of
pharmaceutical products. The Group capitalised eligible product
development costs upon meeting the criteria as described in Hong Kong
Accounting Standard 38 “Intangible Assets” ("HKAS 38"). Capitalisation
criteria assessment requires significant management judgement and there
is measurement uncertainty at inception and throughout the lives of the
individual projects.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Management is required to assess at the end of each reporting period
whether any indication of impairment exists, which requires significant
management judgement and assumptions with reference to the ability to
use or sell the products, its future market or economic development.

Our response

Our main procedures in relation to the recognition of intangible assets
included:

= Gaining an understanding of the business process undertaken by
management to assess the appropriate accounting treatment for
each project.

= Assessing the reasonableness of recognition and eligibility criteria
for intangible assets by challenging the key assumptions used or
estimates made in capitalising the cost.

= Testing on a sample basis the expenditure capitalised against source
documents and signed contracts.

= Assessing the ownership of license fee.

Our main procedures in relation to the impairment assessment of
intangible assets included:

= Assessing management’s determination of the impairment based on
our understanding of the nature of the Group’s business.

= Assessing whether there are any indications of impairment by
understanding the business, rationale for the products under
development.

= Discussing with and interviewing the responsible staff and managers
on the progress and future prospects of respective development
projects.

— Selecting products with significant development cost and request for
independent valuation to be done for impairment assessment.

Based on our procedures described, we found the recognition and
impairment assessment on intangible assets to be reasonable.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BN 2B S

Impairment assessment of goodwill
(refer to note 21 to the consolidated financial
statements)

Management is required to assess at the end of each reporting period
whether there is any indication that goodwill may be impaired. If any such
indication exists, the management shall estimate the recoverable amount
of the asset.

Our response

Our main procedures in relation to the impairment assessment of goodwill
included:

= Assessing management’s determination of the Group’s cash-
generating units based on our understanding of the nature of
the business and the economic environment in which the cash-
generating units operate.

= Based on our knowledge of the business and industry, challenging
the reasonableness of the underlying key assumptions and data used
in the cash flow forecasts (including revenue growth rate, operating
profit, and discount rate used).

Based on our procedures described, we found the estimations of
management in relation to goodwill are supported by plausible evidence.

Fair value measurement of unlisted
investments held as financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income
and through profit or loss

(refer to note 23 and 24 to the consolidated
financial statements)

The Group held several unlisted investments on a combination of market
observable inputs, unobservable inputs and valuation techniques. The
Group’s fair value measurement of the financial assets arising from the
unobservable inputs used in determining the fair value of the unlisted
investments was grouped under level 3 of fair value hierarchy.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group held several unlisted investments
which were measured at fair value amounted to HK$161 million, which
had significant unobservable inputs in the valuation, and hence were
categorised within Level 3 of fair value hierarchy, representing 4.43% of
the Group’s total assets as at 31 December 2021.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

The valuations of these unlisted investments are conducted by
independent qualified valuers. The appropriateness of the valuation is
dependent on determination of different valuation techniques and certain
key assumptions. With different valuation techniques and assumptions
applied, the valuation result can vary significantly.

As the unlisted investments are considered significant due to the size of
the balance and the inherent judgement involved in determining the fair
value measurement, it is considered as a key audit matter.

The fair value was determined using market approach, income approach
and reference to the prices of underlying investment portfolio quoted by
administrator. The determination of fair value measurement requires the
management to exercise their judgement to ensure the appropriateness of
the estimates and assumptions.

Our response

Our procedures in relation to management’s fair value measurement of
unlisted investments included:

= Evaluating the independent professional valuers’ competence,
capabilities and objectivity.

= Focusing on the valuation methodologies and assumptions of
unlisted investments that were classified as level 3 in the fair value
hierarchy and involving valuation specialists in evaluating and
assessing:

- the valuation techniques through comparison with the
valuation techniques that are commonly used in the market;

= the validation of observable inputs using external market data;
and

= the reasonableness of management’s assumptions.

— Checking the accuracy and reasonableness of the input data
provided by management to the independent professional valuer.

= Review sensitivity analysis in consideration of the potential impact
of reasonably possible upside or downside changes in these key
assumptions.

Based on our procedures described, we found the impairment assessment
on unlisted investments adopted by management to be reasonable.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BN 2B S

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BN 2B S

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identified during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

HLM CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Chan Lap Chi
Practising Certificate number: P04084

Hong Kong, 29 March 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

mEBEmR

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Notes
FisE

Revenue Was 7
Cost of sales SHERA
Gross profit il
Other income E A A 10
Other gain and losses, net Efhilas RESEFRE 11
Selling and distribution expenses HERDIHER
Administrative expenses THER
Net provision for expected credit losses  Bfi & EBHEEEEREFHE

on financial assets
Research and development expenses MERFAZEEA
Profit from operations Fed=envil 12
Finance costs RS R 13
Share of results of associates DIEEE AR R 22
Profit before taxation BRARIDE A
Taxation BiIA 16
Profit for the year N R
Attributable to: T AL -

Owners of the Company ZN/NGIEZ 2SN

Non-controlling interests PR
Earnings per share BREF] 18
Basic L= 9N
Diluted E
The notes on pages 84 to 224 form an integral part of these consolidated 584EB %%

ﬁj\ o

financial statements.

BE-_ZE--—F+-A=+—HIFE

2021 2020
—EBC-—F —ZEF
HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

1,266,157 1,216,716
(459,873) (435,650)
806,284 781,066
102,323 150,587
2,067,799 (57,588)
(366,439) (279,947)
(297,265) (237,721)

(90,284) (1,180)
(243,835) (203,294)
1,978,583 151,923
(5,722) (6,472)
(3,495) (11,414)
1,969,366 134,037
(CR:1:¥)) (55,503)
1,959,884 78,534
1,987,176 129,316
(27,292) (50,782)
1,959,884 78,534
HK cents HK cents
Al Al
337.58 21.99
337.35 21.99

2248 Z i B AR M B iRE 2 — 3
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
relEnkHEMEENKER

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE-_Z-—Ft+-A=1+—HIFE

2021 2020

B —ETF

HK$'000 HK$'000

T FHTT

Profit for the year NEEm A 1,959,884 78,534
Other comprehensive income (expense): Hih2mka=(FAx)

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to HEZAIgEEH D BEER 2 EE ¢
profit or loss:

- Exchange differences on translation —HRERINGTE A R B Rk 2 [E =58
of financial statements of overseas
subsidiaries 89,829
- Reclassification of exchange reserve upon — R EKTE R RIRSE X A EES DA
disposal of subsidiaries (3,460)
- Reclassification of other reserves upon —RHEERBAREEEMBEEETHE
disposal of subsidiaries (92,545)
- Share of other comprehensive income of — D {REE ARz B 2 E R
associates 314
Item that will not be reclassified HigtegsmoRziasncEa
subsequently to profit or loss:
- Fair value changes of financial assets at —RAFESBEMEEEEGRSR 2 HHEE
fair value through other comprehensive EZRNTFEES
income (1,706,606) (256,320)
Other comprehensive expense AEFEEMEEAS - EHKREIE
for the year, net of tax (1,668,640) (262,182)
Total comprehensive income (expense) NEE2ENE (L) L5
for the year 291,244 (183,648)
Total comprehensive income (expense) THIATEAEAFE 2R (FX) B
for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company NAFHER A 330,243 (125,820)
Non-controlling interests FEFERR A (38,999) (57,828)
291,244 (183,648)

The notes on pages 84 to 224 form an integral part of these consolidated

B4E EE224B Z WA A br & M H iRk 2 — &
financial statements. ©

D #
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BEIR R

At 31 December 2021
RZZEZ—F+-A=+—H

2021 2020
—EBC-—F —ZEF
Notes HK$'000 HK$’000
Pl s FHT FAT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - WEREE 19 688,265 724,552
Intangible assets mILEE 20 922,525 844,954
Goodwill 5k 21 3,900 3,900
Interests in associates REEE N B 2 xS 22 6,267 6,056
Financial assets at fair value through BATHESERIBRSECHFEEE
profit or loss 23 30,480 38,050
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEEAEMEEYETIRZ
other comprehensive income WEEE 24 1,006,717 377,584
Deferred tax assets RIERIHAE 34 15,424 18,729
2,673,578 2,013,825
Current assets REEE
Inventories eSS 25 331,394 414,377
Trade receivables FEWE 5 BRFK 26 168,323 159,574
Other receivables, deposits and H b fEREIE « 12e RIEF A
prepayments 27 162,736 149,081
Advance to associates B FHEE N T2 FIE 28 - 77,504
Tax recoverable ALY E I 23,338 -
Pledged bank deposits BERITER 29 - 24,025
Time deposits TE BRTE R 29 - 39,336
Cash and bank balances & MIRTTAERR 29 277,529 375,199
963,320 1,239,096
Current liabilities REAE
Trade payables BN E SR 30 62,599 73,733
Other payables and accruals HA R Ia R ETE A 31 684,670 691,195
Bank borrowings RITERK 32 162,540 141,377
Lease liabilities HEAE 33 12,639 7,828
Tax payables JEFRIE 132 29,916
922,580 944,049
Net current assets REEEFE 40,740 295,047
Total assets less current liabilities EEABRABEE 2,714,318 2,308,872
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Are B IRLR

At 31 December 2021
RZZEZ—F+=-A=+—H

Notes
FisE
Capital and reserves EXRHE
Share capital &N 35
Reserves fiatt 36
Equity attributable to the owners of A2RQFEEAEEES
the Company
Non-controlling interests IR
Total equity RS
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Other payables and accruals HihEFIERESER 31
Bank borrowings RITIER 32
Lease liabilities HEBE 33
Retirement benefits RNAEF] 38
Deferred tax liabilities RERIHE & 34

The notes on pages 84 to 224 form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 75 to 224 were approved
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 29 March 2022 and

are signed on its behalf by:

Lee Siu Fong
FNFE
DIRECTOR
BE
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2020
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HK$’000
THITT

29,406
2,120,389

2,149,795
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mEERBER

For the year ended 31 December 2021

At January 2021 HoR-%
-A-A

Employee share option benefits ~ (EEEREEH

Exerdise of share options fiERE

Share of reserve of an associate  1A-EEEL7

i

Profit (loss) for the year KERRA(ER)

Other comprehensive income.~ AFEERZENE
(expense) for the year ()

- Exchange differences on -BEBHEAT
translation of financil BBERIER
statements of overseas 8
subsidiaries

- Share of other comprehensive  ~HEEEATER

income of associates e
- Fair value changes of financial - AT EEEL K
assets at fair value through 2RI
other comprehensive income IHRELAT
&9

Total comprehensive income FERAENE
(expense) for the year (F%)eg

2020 final dividend paid Bfi-E-FERH
(Note 17) RE(Hi7)

2021 interim dividend paid BRZE=-544
(Note 17) R (i)

At 31 December 2021 NE--F1-f

=t-f

Share
capital

Bx
HK$'000
T

29,406

Share
premium

RER
HK$'000
Tin

714813

5,278

720,091

Merger
difference

AiER
HK$000
Tin

9,200

Attributable to the owners of the Company
KDAEEARS

Share-based
compensation Other
reserve reserves

Witz
Hekk HbfE  REEHRE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T#n Tén T#n

Investments
revaluation
reserve

0847 6528 (254155)

16,888 - -
(wm) - -

PL]

(1,694,660)

(1,694,660)

65302 (1,948,815

Exchange
reserve

Efik
HK$000
Tin

(14,883)

Retained
profits

A
HK$000
Tin

1,559,299

1,987,176

1,987,176

(18,254)

(17,665)

3,510,556

BHE_T-—F+-A=1+—HILFE

Attributable
to non-
controlling

Sub-total interests
Nt AERERER it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tén Thn THL

2,149,795 2,115,378
16,888 16,888
3,543 3,543

(34417)

3 - 2
1987476 (27,292) 1,959,884

(1,694660)  (11,946)

U3 (389%)
(18,254)
(17,665)

2464578

(73416) 239,162
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
yeo A s L et =

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HE —F+ZRA=+—HIEFE
Attributable to the owners of the Company
ARIEANEL Attributable

Share-based Investments to non-

Share Share Merger  compensation Other  revaluation Exchange Retained controlling

capital premium difference reserve eserves reserve reserve profits Sub-total interests Total
HRARfZ

R ks AlER HeRE ibkE  REERRE B REAH 5 FREaRE o)

HK§'000 HKS'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$ 000 HK§000 HK$'000 HK$ /000 HK$ 000
TEL T T TEL TER TR ThL TR TR TR TEn

At 1 January 2020 WN-E-2E

-5 %6 74,146 9200 BES 1574 (B38) (O707) 148172 225900 18158 24774%
Employee share option benefits ~ [EEERERF - - - 17,442 - - - - 17442 - 17,442
Exercise of share options fikERE 10 667 - (231) - - - - 46 - 446
Share options lapsed BRERE = - - (39) - - - 39 - - -
Share of reserve of an associate A EHEL7

it - - - - 5 - - - 5% - 55

Capital contribution from non-~~~ ZEfARiEE A
controlling interests - - - = . - - _
Acquisiion of a subsidiary WE-FHENR

31,6 31,

(Note 44) (24) - - - - - - - - - QB0 (20)
Disposal of nterests in HERBLER
subsidiaries (Note 45) (Ftas) - - - - - - = = - (187103)  (187,103)
Profi loss) forthe year RERRHBE) - - - - - 129316 129316 (50,782) 78,534
Other comprehensive income.~ ZEREM2EKE
(expense) for the year ()
- Bxchange differences on — EIMEAE
translation of financial RRBEL
statements of overseas EfZR
Subsidiaries - - - - = - 86,324 - 86,324 3,505 89,829
- Reclassification of exchange ~ ~ KHEHEATE
reserve upon disposal of REREE
subsidiaries (Note 45) Erip ]
(H:45) - ® > = = 2 (3,460) - (3,460) - (3,460)
- Redlassification of other reserves -~ MEEHEATE
upon disposal of subsidiaries REREREN
(Note 45) M‘ﬂ - - - - (92,545) - - = (92,549) - (92,545)
- Share of other comprehensive  — {EEE L
income of associates ﬁ‘ﬁﬁ”&ﬁ - - - - 314 - - - 314 - 314
- Fair value changes of financial - ZATEEREN
assets at fair value through 2EHRTIRL
other comprehensive income IBEEL
ATEEY - - - - - (245,769) = = (245,769) (10,551) (256,320)
Total comprehensive (expense)  BEE2(FR)
income for the year . . - - @B (M7 084 1936 (1580)  (78%)  (183649)
2019 final dividend paid
(Note 17) - - - - - - - (22,349) (22,349) - (22,389)
2020 interim dividend paid
(Nete 1) : - : : - SRl (158M) - (158m)
At 31 December 2020 N2k
t-A=t-H 29,406 714813 9,200 40,847 65,228 (254,155) (14,843) 1,559,299 2,149,795 (34417) 2115378

The notes on pages 84 to 224 form an integral part of these consolidated 84 EZ 52248 2 it A& MKz — &0
financial statements. b

o

N)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

n _\éiﬁﬁﬁiﬂ%

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—Z-—F+-A=1+—RHIFE

Operating activities
Profit before taxation
Adjustments for:
Amortisation of intangible assets
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment
Fair value gain on derivative financia
liabilities
Fair value loss on financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, net
Foreign exchange gain, net
(Gain) loss on deemed disposal of
interests in associates
Loss on derecognition of financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss at
expiration
Gain on disposal of plant and
equipment, net
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries, net
Gain on early termination of lease
Interest expenses
Interest income
Impairment loss on intangible assets
Impairment loss on goodwill
Provision for expected credit losses on
financial assets
Provision for slow moving stock
Provision for retirement benefits
Share-based payments
Share of results of associates
Write-off of expired stock
Write-off of intangible assets
Write-off of property, plant and
equipment

R
B A AT A
FL TSR E fFHH AR

BB R

TEMBaEZ A FERE

BAFEEBESIIRZMBEEZ
NHERRFE

HNE UK 5 7R

BRh Sl AR 2 (e ) 1R

RERR R ERIEATEERIRE
SIRRZ IS B E 2 518

HE B K&z K F R

HEHB A B2 et FHR
RELHEZ WS
MEF

ISUON

B EEZRIERE

BB ZBEERE

M EEZ HREEEERE

Wik i=EEA =y
RKERBHE
VAR S2 9 2 5R0R
DIEBE R RIS
MssERER
MIHEEE
WHTE - BERRE

2021 2020

—E-—-F T oTF

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BtsE THExT FHET
1,969,366 134,037

20 29,053 18,203
19 117,814 109,301
11 3,502
11 21,827 17,963
11 (3,051) (214)
22(ii) (2,321,626) 180,923
11 4,584
11 (35) (30)
45 - (155,625)
11 - (2)
13 4,404 5,385
10 (5,912) (9,072)
20 230,509 3,840
21 - 2,342
26, 28 90,284 1,180
35,338 2,087

38 7,970 14,770
37 16,888 17,442
3,495 11,414

13,231 5,764

11 357 -
11 4,220 305
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
meERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—Z-—Ft+-A=1+—HIFE

2021 2020
—E-—-F T oTF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B e F#ET FHIT
Operating cash flows before movements &E&ESEFHA 7 KLLBELRE
in working capital 214,132 368,099
Decrease (increase) in inventories TFERAGEm) 43,340 (147,463)
(Increase) decrease in trade receivables  FEUE 5 RN (45 0) 54 (1,950) 5,648
Increase in other receivables, deposits EAbFEWGRIE - e RIBRFIEE I
and prepayments (10,630) (33,036)
Decrease in pledged bank deposits BRI EOR D 24,025 16,320
Decrease in trade payables FERTE SRR (11,346) (6,512)
Increase in other payables and accruals  EfthfEfF 708 & B 5T & A N 21,077 93,762
Cash from operations KEMEECRS 278,648 296,818
Interest paid BEAIFLE 39 (3,787) (4,715)
Income tax refund REIFTEH c]-1:] -
Income tax paid BEAIFTSE (64,536) (73,192)
Net cash generated from operating REERELE RS TE
activities 210,683 218,911
Investing activities REFE
Additions of development cost and license FE£Rk 2N K S A & 1 AN
fee 20 (320,029) (219,744)
Advance to associates B THEE AR ZFIE (10,000) (37,000)
Acquisition of financial assets at fair value WHEZAFEFBEMEEIGRTIERZ
through other comprehensive income WIEEE 24 (10,727) (18,983)
Acquisition of financial assets at fair value REEZ AT EEBIERIIREZHEEE
through profit or loss (17,643) (1,270)
Decrease in time deposits with initial JREABR 838 = & A 2 & BiTF 208 2
terms of over three months 39,831 45,040
Total interest received B A B 4B 5 2,579 7,415
Purchase of plant and equipment i A= % 19 (43,154) (94,141)
Payment for construction in progress FEEIRAR 19 (7,542) (44,254)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HEY¥ « BE & &2 FSHE
and equipment 35 63
Repayment from associates & R EMEE - 4,682
Subscription of shares of an associate RS R RS (1,581)
Net cash inflow from acquisition of a WEE—MHBRAREEZRESTRA
subsidiary R 44 474
Net cash outflow from disposal of HEWBRREE RS F5E
subsidiaries 45 - (164,443)
Net cash used in investing activities RETEFMAZRESEE (370,282) (523,742)

82  Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited 2= K32 A% A R A F)



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

= AN D 3Z2s B
,Z\\/ \éiﬁ,i//lbiﬁ

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZE-—F+-A=t+—RHIFE

2021 2020
—E-—-F T oTF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
gz F#ET FHIT
Financing activities AEEE
Capital contribution from non-controlling  FEZE S HE
interests - 31,226
New loans FEE R 39 227,371 167,418
Repayment of loans BEEXK 39 (122,616) (160,428)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEaE 39 (11,405) (10,238)
Net proceeds from issue of ordinary BN TR B T B AR TS RUIBE T 58
shares upon exercise of share options 35 3,543 446
Dividend paid RN 17 (35,919) (38,228)
Net cash generated from (used in) RMETHEE(A) ZREFE
financing activities 60,974 (9,804)
Net decrease in cash and cash ReRBSEERDFE
equivalents (98,625) (314,635)
Cash and cash equivalents at R—B—BzBEELRELEE
1 January 375,199 693,516
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes  /MEEREH) 2 /4 955 (3,682)
Cash and cash equivalents at R+-A=+—BzBHEeRELEE
31 December 277,529 375,199
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents RE&RHEESZEDIH
Cash and bank balances Re RIBTTES 277,529 375,199
Time deposits TEBRTF R - 39,336
277,529 414,535
Less: Time deposits with maturity over B ZEAREEZ EEE R
three months - (39,336)
277,529 375,199

The notes on pages 84 to 224 form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.

s
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R RMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021

S

1.

T —F+-A=t+—HItFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited (the “"Company”) is a limited
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its shares are
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the registered
office and principal place of business of the Company are disclosed
in the section headed “Corporate Information” in this annual report.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “"Group”) are the developing,
manufacturing and sales and marketing of pharmaceutical products.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars ("HK$"”), which is also the functional currency of the
Company.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments
to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA") for the first time which are mandatorily
effective for the annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements. HKFRSs
comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards; Hong Kong
Accounting Standards ("HKASs"”); and HK (IFRIC) Interpretations,
HK Interpretations and HK (SIC) Interpretations (collectively
referred to as “Interpretations”).

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform -
Phase 2

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39,
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions

Amendments to HKFRS 16

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year
had no material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or disclosures set
out in these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2.

AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue
but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments
to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

and HKFRS Practice

Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRSs

Insurance Contracts and the related
Amendments?

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)3

Disclosure of Accounting Policies®

Definition of Accounting Estimates?®

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction?

Property, Plant and Equipment - Proceeds
before Intended Use?

Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract?

Reference to the Conceptual Framework?

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture*

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond
30 June 2021*
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020?

a Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021, earlier
application is permitted

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022,
earlier application is permitted

9 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023,
earlier application is permitted

. Effective date to be determined

The Group has already commenced an assessment of the impact of
these new and amendments to HKFRSs but is not yet in a position to
state whether these new and amendments to HKFRSs would have a
material impact on its results of operations and financial positions.

Are SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZE-—F+-A=t+—RHIFE

FERFTIEE BB REENR
BBV B|ERER BT (&)

BB fE e REKZ FT B EER
BHEERIR BB B HEER
ZIEET

AEREAWEAR TP IER T 5B AR R R AERZ
EEBYBRELR R BB BMELR 2R

AN HRELER  RRAOKAEEET
FE175

ARG ENELIRZ RBIIERBEEZHER
5 ABRESSH
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FERHAUEIFR HBERE

BT RE R
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EH)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
4= AR

ARe SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE

3.

T —F+-A=t+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In additions, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance ("CO").

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments that
are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment” ("HKFRS
2"), leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance with
HKFRS 16 “Leases” ("HKFRS 16”), and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use in HKAS 36
“Impairment of Assets” ("HKAS 36").
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(CONTINUED)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements
are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and
the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its
entirely, which are described as follows:

. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

. has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss from the date the Group
gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Are SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZE-—F+-A=t+—RHIFE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
4= AR

ARe SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE

3.

T —F+-A=t+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the
Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group’s equity therein, which represent the interests
entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries that do not
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted
for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s
relevant components of equity and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries, including re-attribution of relevant reserves between
the Group and the non-controlling interests according to the Group’s
and the non-controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of
the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(CONTINUED)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any)
are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable
to the owners of the Company. All amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted
by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in
the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as
the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under
HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” ("HKFRS 9”) or, when applicable,
the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

Except for certain recognition exemptions, the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed must meet the definitions of an asset
and a liability in the International Accounting Standards Committee’s
Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial
Statements (replaced by the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting issued in September 2010).

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

. deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and
measured in accordance with HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” and
HKAS 19 “Employee Benefits” respectively;

. liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace
share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree are
measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 at the acquisition date;
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (Continued)

. assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale
in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current Assets Held for Sale
and Discontinued Operations” are measured in accordance
with that standard; and

o lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the present
value of the remaining lease payments (as defined in HKFRS
16) as if the acquired leases were new leases at the acquisition
date, except for leases for which (a) the lease term ends
within 12 months of the acquisition date; or (b) the underlying
asset is of low value. Right-of-use assets are recognised and
measured at the same amount as the relevant lease liabilities,
adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of the
lease when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net amount of
the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at
acquisition date. If, after reassessment, the net amount of the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum
of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially
measured at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair
value. The choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-
by-transaction basis.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes a contingent consideration arrangement, the
contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair
value and included as part of the consideration transferred in a
business combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are
adjusted retrospectively. Measurement period adjustments are
adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during
the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed one year from the
acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (Continued)

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration that
does not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends
on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is
classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured to fair value at
subsequent reporting dates, with the corresponding gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains
control), and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss or other comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts
arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date
that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income and measured under HKFRS 9 would be accounted for on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had disposed directly
of the previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by
the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs,
the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
retrospectively during the measurement period (see above),
and additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new
information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed at
the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts
recognised at that date.

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are included in the Company’s statement
of financial position at cost less any identified impairment losses.
The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the
basis of dividends received and receivable.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. XEGBE(E)

(CONTINUED)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business (see the
accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each
of the Group’s cash-generating units ("CGUs") (or group of CGUs)
that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
which represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored
for internal management purposes and not larger than an operating
segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently when there is
indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on
an acquisition in a reporting period, the CGU (or group of CGUs) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before
the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount of
the CGU (or group of CGUs) is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based
on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or group of CGUs).
Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or
loss. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU within the group
of CGUs, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal. When the
Group disposes of an operation within the CGU (or a CGU within a
group of CGUs), the amount of goodwill disposed of is measured
on the basis of the relative values of the operation (or the CGU)
disposed of and the portion of the CGU (or the group of CGUs)
retained.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an
associate is described below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated
in these consolidated financial statements using the equity method
of accounting. The financial statements of associates used for
equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment in
an associate is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income
of the associate. Changes in net assets of the associate other than
profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not accounted
for unless such changes resulted in changes in ownership interest
held by the Group. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate
exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes any
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net
investment in the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an associate.
On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised
as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the
period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that
the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any objective
evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount
(higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its
carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to
any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable
amount of the investment subsequently increases.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—Z-—Ft+-A=1+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates (Continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in
the investee with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit
or loss. When the Group retains an interest in the former associate
and the retained interest is a financial asset within the scope of
HKFRS 9, the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at
that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition. The difference between the carrying amount of the
associate at the date the equity method was discontinued, and the
fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing
the relevant interest in the associate is included in the determination
of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate. In addition, the
Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that associate on the same
basis as would be required if that associate had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate would
be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets
or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to
profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial
disposal of the relevant associate.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate but
the Group continues to use the equity method, the Group reclassifies
to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had previously
been recognised in other comprehensive income relating to that
reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or
liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group,
profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the associate
are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only
to the extent of interests in the associate that are not related to the
Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the
customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

. the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

. the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that

the customer controls as the Group performs; or

. the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—Z-—Ft+-A=1+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income recognition
policies are as follows:

Manufacturing of proprietary and generic products
and trading of licensed-in products

Revenue from manufacturing of proprietary and generic products
and trading of licensed-in products are recognised at a point in time
when control of the asset is transferred to the customer, generally
on delivery of the product and accepted by the customers. No right
of return by customers is allowed based on contractual terms.
Revenue is thus recognised when the products are delivered to
the customers and the customers accepted the products. There is
generally only one performance obligation and the consideration
include no variable amount.

Other income

Licensing income is recognised over time on a time proportion basis
throughout the license period as providing the licensees the right to
use the Group’s intellectual property.

Research and development service income is recognised when the
Group renders the services and all the benefits are received and
consumed simultaneously by customer throughout the contract
period. Thus, the Group satisfies a performance obligation and
recognises as over time.

Rental and utilities income is recognised on a time proportion basis
over the lease terms.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis on the principal
outstanding at the applicable interest rate, which is the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Contract balances

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment
in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of
time is required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer. If a customer pays consideration before the Group
transfers goods or services to the customer, a contract liability
is recognised when the payment is made or the payment is due
(whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue
when the Group performs under the contract.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same contract
are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Leasing

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business
combinations on or after the date of initial application, the Group
assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the
definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ire ISR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HE—_ZT—
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FES:HEE)
(CONTINUED)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as a lessee

(a) Allocation of consideration to components of a

(b)

(c)

contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the
lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the
non-lease components.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases of machinery and equipment and premises that have
a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option. It also applies the
recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another
systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;
. any lease payments made at or before the

commencement date, less any lease incentives received;

. any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Are SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE-_ZE-—F+-A=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FES:HEE)
(CONTINUED)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end
of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date
to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

When the Group obtains ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term, upon exercising purchase
options, the cost of the relevant right-of-use assets and the
related accumulated depreciation and impairment loss are
transferred to property, plant and equipment.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in “property, plant and
equipment”, the same line item within which the corresponding
underlying assets would be presented if they were owned.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS
9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARe SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—Z-—Ft+-A=1+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.
(CONTINUED)

Leasing (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(e) Lease liabilities (Continued)
The lease payments include:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable;

° variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

. the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

. payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever:

° the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

° the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review/expected
payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Are SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE-_ZE-—F+-A=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FES:HEE)
(CONTINUED)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(f)

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

° the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

. the consideration for the leases increases by an amount

commensurate with the stand-alone price for the
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to
that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability, less any lease
incentives receivables, based on the lease term of the modified
lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities
by making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-
of-use asset. When the modified contract contains a lease
component and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
modified contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ire ISR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HE—_ZT—

—F+=A=t—HLLFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FES:HEE)
(CONTINUED)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as a lessor

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified
as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating
leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset, and such costs are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Rental income is
included in “other income” in profit or loss.

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 “Revenue from
Contracts with Customers” ("HKFRS 15”) to allocate
consideration in a contract to lease and non-lease components.
Non-lease components are separated from lease component
on the basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to
fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional
lease payments from lessees.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not
part of the original terms and conditions are accounted for
as lease modifications, including lease incentives provided
through forgiveness or reduction of rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease
as a new lease from the effective date of the modification,
considering any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to
the original lease as part of the lease payments for the new
lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary
items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for exchange
differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a
foreign operation for which settlement is neither planned nor likely
to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in the foreign
operation), which are recognised initially in other comprehensive
income and reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal or
partial disposal of the Group’s interests in associates.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong
Kong Dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at
the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case the exchange
rates at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of exchange reserve
(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving
loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
or a partial disposal of an interest in an associate that includes a
foreign operation of which the retained interest becomes a financial
asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in
respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the Company
are reclassified to profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARe SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—Z-—Ft+-A=1+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the
proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences is re-
attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in
profit or loss. For all other partial disposals, the proportionate share
of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit or
loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
on an acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Borrowing costs

Borrowings costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are added to the cost to those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is
deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(CONTINUED)
Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grant will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current
assets are recognised as a deduction from the carrying amount of
the relevant asset in the consolidated statement of financial position
and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis
over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purposes of giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they become receivable. Such grants are presented under
“other income” in profit or loss.

Retirement benefits

Defined contribution plan

Retirement benefits are provided to eligible staff of the Group. Hong
Kong employees enjoy retirement benefits under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme. The employer’s monthly contribution is
5% of each employee’s monthly salary with maximum amount of
HK$1,500 per month for each employee.

The pension schemes covering all the Group’s employees in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and Taiwan are defined
contribution schemes at various funding rates, and are in accordance
with the local practices and regulations.

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans (including
state-managed retirement benefit schemes and the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme) are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARe SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—Z-—Ft+-A=1+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(CONTINUED)
Retirement benefits (Continued)

Defined benefit plan

For defined retirement benefits plan, the cost of providing benefits is
determined by the valuation conducted by independent valuer at the
end of the reporting period, amortised over the expected average

remaining working lives of the participating directors.

The retirement benefits recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position represents the cost of providing benefits, based on

the valuation.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the service. All short-term employee benefits are
recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits

the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting any

amount already paid.

Share-based payment arrangements

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of
the equity instruments at the grant date. Details regarding the
determination of the fair value of equity-settled share-based
transactions are set out in note 37 to the consolidated financial

statements.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration all
non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis
over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity
instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase
in equity (share-based compensation reserve). At the end of each
reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of
equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all
relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision
of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a

corresponding adjustment to share-based compensation reserve.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(CONTINUED)

Share-based payment arrangements
(Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(Continued)

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised
in share-based compensation reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When share options are forfeited after the vesting date
or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share-based compensation reserve will be transferred
to retained profits.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit/loss before taxation because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than
in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In
addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARe SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—Z-—Ft+-A=1+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(CONTINUED)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reserve in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which
to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled
or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions
in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the
related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax
deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(CONTINUED)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax (Continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 “Income Taxes”
requirements to the leasing transaction as a whole. Temporary
differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are
assessed on a net basis. Excess of depreciation on right-of-use assets
over the lease payments for the principal portion of lease liabilities
resulting in net deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same
taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the
current and deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or
deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the
business combination.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments, the Group
considers whether it is probable that the relevant tax authority will
accept the uncertain tax treatment used, or proposed to be use by
individual group entities in their income tax filings. If it is probable,
the current and deferred taxes are determined consistently with the
tax treatment in the income tax filings. If it is not probable that the
relevant taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment,
the effect of each uncertainty is reflected by using either the most
likely amount or the expected value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
4= AR

ARe SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE

3.

T —F+-A=t+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes (other than construction in progress as
described below), are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost, less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or
administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include any costs directly attributable to
bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by management and,
for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with
the Group’s accounting policy. Depreciation of these assets, on the
same basis as other property assets, commences when the assets
are ready for their intended use.

Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals and
another portion is held for use in the supply of goods or services
or for administrative purpose. If these portions could be sold
separately (or leased out separately under a finance lease), these
portions shall be accounted for separately, if the portions could not
be sold separately, the property is classified as property, plant and
equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets (other
than construction in progress) less their residual values over their
useful lives, using the straight-line method, at the following rates
per annum:

5%-20%
7%-33%
10%-33%
10%-33%

Buildings

Leasehold improvement

Plant and machinery

Office and laboratory equipment and electronic
equipment

Motor vehicles 10%-33%

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method

are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of

any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iR ISR MR

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(CONTINUED)
Intangible assets

License fee (intangible assets acquired separately)

License fees are consideration paid for the license contracts and
are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses. License fees with finite useful lives are amortised
from the date they are ready for intended use over the remaining
license period. The license period ranges from 3 to 10 years, with
certain licenses contain renewal clause.

Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed annually,
with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a
prospective basis.

License fees with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Development cost (internally-generated intangible
assets - research and development expenditure)

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the
period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development
of licensed-in products or from the development phase of internal
projects is recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been
demonstrated:

. the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so
that it will be available for use or sale;

. the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell
it;

. the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

. how the intangible asset will generate probable future

economic benefits;

. the availability of adequate technical, financial and other
resources to complete the development and to use or sell the
intangible asset; and

. the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to
the intangible asset during its development.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARe SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—Z-—Ft+-A=1+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(CONTINUED)
Intangible assets (Continued)

Development cost (internally-generated intangible
assets - research and development expenditure)
(Continued)

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible
assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when
the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above.
Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised,
development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible
assets are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation commences when the
development of products completes. Amortisation of development
cost of internal projects is over the estimated useful life of 5 years,
while amortisation of development cost of licensed-in products is on
the same basis as license fees.

The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and recognised
separately from goodwill are initially recognised at their fair value at
the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in
a business combination are reported at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis
as intangible assets that are acquired separately.

Derecognition of intangible assets

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future
economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains and
losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(CONTINUED)

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets, and intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets, and intangible assets are estimated individually. When it
is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the
asset belongs.

In addition, the Group assesses whether there is indication that
corporate assets may be impaired. If such indication exists,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual CGUs, when a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, or
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a CGU) for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—Z-—Ft+-A=1+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(CONTINUED)

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets other than goodwill
(Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to
be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset
(or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to a CGU, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of CGUs, including the carrying amounts
of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to
that group of CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the group of
CGUs. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of CGU.
The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest
of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in
use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss
that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of CGUs. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or CGU or a group of CGUS) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset (or a CGU or a group of CGUSs) in prior years. A reversal of
an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on weighted average
method. Cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw
materials, direct labour, other direct cost and related production
overheads (based on normal operating capacity). Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all
estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(CONTINUED)
Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that
the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of
the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle
a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that
reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable
can be measured reliably.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless
the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
4= AR

ARe SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE

3.

T —F+-A=t+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS
15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss ("FVTPL")) added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount
on initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVTOCI"):

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting contractual
cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that at the date of initial recognition of a financial asset the
Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair
value of an equity investment in other comprehensive income if
that equity investment is neither held for trading nor contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to
which HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations” applies.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—Z-—Ft+-A=1+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in
the near term; or

on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as
measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch.

(M

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost and debt instruments/receivables subsequently
measured at FVTOCI. Interest income is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below).
For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning of
the reporting period following the determination that the asset
is no longer credit impaired.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Equity instruments/partnership interests designated as at
FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments/partnership interest at
FVTOCI are subsequently measured at fair value with gains
and losses arising from changes in fair value recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
investment revaluation reserve; and are not subject to
impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will
not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity
investments/partnership interests, and will be transferred to
retained profits.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive
the dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly
represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.
Dividends are included in profit or loss.

Financial assets as at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

This category contains investments in life insurance policies.
The Group accounts for the investments at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end
of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on the
financial asset and is included in the “other gains and losses”
line item.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
4= AR

ARe SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE

3.

T —F+-A=t+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit
loss ("ECL"”) model on financial assets (including trade and other
receivables (excluding prepayments and other items which were
not financial instruments), deposits, loan receivables, advance to
associates, pledged bank deposits, time deposits and cash and bank
balances) which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9. The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes
in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL ("12m ECL") represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment are
done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
without significant financing component. The ECL on these assets
are assessed collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate
groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F R B2 AL A R A 7]

TESBER(E)

HMBETR(E

MBEEGE)

AEERBEEBVBHIRELENFIRE HIRRE
2 BARE(BERRE 5 8RR H it B UKRIA
(TEEBRNFREMIEFBTARE) - 750
FEWESR ~ B TS AR F0R - EEIRRTT
T3 EHEFARRE RRITHER)IZERER
ERERETRERN G - REEEBEZEER
BIREBHERN - AR B TR AREER

E2HBHEEERESHEBTAZERERHA
PBEREZENEHELEZRRERER - 1
R 128 AEHEEREESERNSRSE B K12
BEANAIEEEZ BNEMHER 2 2 HRHAEE
EERED o FHEDREAREZELERERL
BT YRBEEBARE AR - —REER
TUA RS BB E ATAR L 2 #F0h LA R SR AR
Sz FORIME L FEEE

REE—BERITEBEAREKD 2 EWE SRR
BRAEHMEREEER - 2SEECHAEES
BEEREEARN BEERETTREE -

HRABERMTA  AREHEZBEREER
12{A AFEBEEERE - BRIEBVRERREER
BREEEIEN - AIAKERER 2 BRBEEERE -
LR RAMEEER TG ERE 1A
MR AR E B 40 2 Pl RE It Sk R B R B R AN -



3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(M

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of
a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

3 existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARe SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HE—_ZT—

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

—F+=A=t—HLLFE

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(M

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

. an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual payments are more
than 365 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined to
have low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of
default, (ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and (iii)
adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability
of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
The Group considers a debt instrument to have low credit risk
when it has an internal or external credit rating of “investment
grade” as per globally understood definitions.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(M

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

For loan commitments, the date that the Group becomes
a party to the irrevocable commitment is considered to be
the date of initial recognition for the purposes of assessing
impairment. In assessing whether there has been a significant
increase in the credit risk since initial recognition of a loan
commitment, the Group considers changes in the risk of a
default occurring on the loan to which a loan commitment
relates; for financial guarantee contracts, the Group considers
the changes in the risk that the specified debtor will default on
the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in
credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an
event of default occurs when information developed internally
or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full.

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers default has
occurred when a financial asset is more than 365 days
pass due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARe SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—Z-—Ft+-A=1+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events

that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash

flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a

financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data

about the following events:

. significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

. a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

. the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s)
that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

o it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

. the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example,
when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries
are recognised in profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

V)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks
of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for cases
where evidence at the individual instrument level may not
yet be available, the financial instruments are grouped on the
basis:

. Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group’s trade
receivables and other receivables (excluding prepayment
and other items which were not financial instruments),
deposits, advance to associates, pledged bank deposits,
time deposits and cash and bank balances;

° Past-due status;
. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
. External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
the constituents of each group continue to share similar credit
risk characteristics.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARe SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—Z-—Ft+-A=1+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FES:HEE)

(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

Except for financial assets at FVTOCI the Group recognises
an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial
instruments by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade receivables where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated
liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred
financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset
and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

On derecognition of an investment in a debt instrument classified
as at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in
the investments revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the
Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI upon
application of HKFRS 9, the cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is not
reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to retained profits.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised
and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the
Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ire ISR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—Z-—Ft+-A=1+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FES:HEE)
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued) BB TA(E

Financial liabilities and equity instruments MEaERBRATA(E)

(Continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

R FES

81 15 BUER EE B XN 1) T HER R R IEE BIZ
ANHEBEBERYIR  AMBRESEREAYT
BEBIRRTIER

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial
liability is either held for trading or it is designated as at FVTPL on
initial recognition.

A financial liability is classified is held for trading if: BB AEETIBER THEIWEFHEEE

. it has been incurred principally for the purpose of repurchasing . FERTHABRIMELE ; 3
it in the near term; or

KT HERRETDE #AIM % TEES —
M RAEEHRER - WHTHER
EHANEREN %

. on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified .
financial instruments that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a . HEMTETE  BI3Ewisc BB L3k
hedging instrument. IR T A o

ETHERT @ BBaEGRHEERZMBE
B)RVIARERE - AR EE A RAFEERIES
B8R

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading may
be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets
or financial liabilities or both, which is managed and its
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance
with the Group’s documented risk management or investment
strategy, and information about the grouping is provided
internally on that basis; or

it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded
derivatives, and HKFRS 9 permits the entire combined contract
(asset or liability) to be designated as FVTPL.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

For financial liabilities that are designated as at FVTPL, the amount
of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is attributable
to changes in the credit risk of that liability is recognised in other
comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the effects of
changes in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income
would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss.
For financial liabilities that contain embedded derivatives, such
as derivative financial liabilities, the changes in fair value of the
embedded derivatives are excluded in determining the amount to
be presented in other comprehensive income. Changes in fair value
attributable to a financial liability’s credit risk that are recognised
in other comprehensive income are not subsequently reclassified to
profit or loss; instead, they are transferred to retained profits upon
derecognition of the financial liability.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Other financial liabilities (including trade payables, other payables
(excluding contract liabilities and other tax payable) and accruals,
obligations under license contracts, retirement benefits and bank
borrowings) are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer
to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contract issued by the Group is initially
measured at their fair values and, if not designated as at FVTPL, is
subsequently measured at the higher of:

. the amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined
in accordance with HKFRS 9; and

. the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with the
revenue recognition policies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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ARe SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE

3.

T —F+-A=t+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.

When the contractual terms of a financial liability are modified,
the Group assess whether the revised terms result in a substantial
modification from original terms taking into account all relevant
facts and circumstances including qualitative factors. If qualitative
assessment is not conclusive, the Group considers that the terms
are substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash
flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees
received, and discounted using the original effective interest rate,
is at least 10% different from the discounted present value of the
remaining cash flows of the original financial liability. Accordingly,
such modification of terms is accounted for as an extinguishment,
any costs or fees incurred are recognised as part of the gain or loss
on the extinguishment. The exchange or modification is considered as
non-substantial modification when such difference is less than 10%.

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities that do not
result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the relevant financial
liabilities will be calculated at the present value of the modified
contractual cash flows discounted at the financial liabilities” original
effective interest rate. Transaction costs or fees incurred are
adjusted to the carrying amount of the modified financial liabilities
and are amortised over the remaining term. Any adjustment to the
carrying amount of the financial liability is recognised in profit or
loss at the date of modification.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iR ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZE-—F+-A=t+—RHIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FES:HEE)
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued) BT A&
Financial liabilities and equity instruments MEaERBRATA(E)

(Continued)

Derivative financial instruments PTAHERBTA

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date PTETARITIMESGHNE BV TIERAFERE
when derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently R HBERBRERRRATEENE - IEE
remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting period. Z e sk IE R B ER o

The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability HE B EERIERE

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and the net REERAEBERIAET IR THREHEER
amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and &R BRVFREEREGAESIRAREREERE
only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set EEER  FEEMBEEEMBEAERRTB
off the recognised amounts; and intends either to settle on a net RRR 25 255

basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents BeREZZEHE
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks and on hand, RERRSEERFERITRFHEESUARTFTHR
and time deposits with banks and other financial institutions, having RITREMeREERKBERIHBEA=EAR
been within three months of maturity at acquisition. ZTEHRTFRR
Related parties Ly
(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related (@) fWEBUATAL @ AIZATHZALZOR
to the Group if that person: HEZRER (875 A
(i)  has control or joint control over the Group; (i)  FEhIsEREGIARER
(i)  has significant influence over the Group; or (i) HEAEEEERTFET : =
(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the (i) AAEBEIZEZEEENKE -
Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—Z-—Ft+-A=1+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FES:HEE)

(CONTINUED)

Related parties (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others);

(ii)  the entity is an associate or joint venture of the Group (or
an associate or joint venture of a member of a group of
which the other entity is a member);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

(iv) the entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
Group is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan,
the sponsoring employers are also related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); or

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group.

Close members of the family of an individual are those family

members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by,
that individual in their dealings with the entity.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F R B2 AL A R A 7]

B (&)

(b) fHTFE THMEMGRE - BIEREREERE
A

(i) *ATE‘TEEEEZKEI%H SEZKE
RRI(EEERF - MBARKRER
BN ELLEA )

(i) %ERSAKBEZHZQ/RLAE
E(EE-BRAKERAZEE
HTRERRZEE ARG DR

%)

(iii) ZEBRASEHAR—F=52
BEME

(iv) ZREBRAF=-FEBEREZAELZE.
MAEBAZE=-HEREZHED
al s

(V) Z%ERAAKENEREEERHH
Z BREpLE B FER R BERAR A
FrE o WAREARS mZtE - Al
R I TR ERAER B R

(vi) ZEBX@)MARAEATESNLR
HEES

(W)E%mm%%iAi%E%ﬁiﬁ
MENNBZER(ZERZER
T)Ix BEKE 3

(viii) ZERKZERNEEEZ MK
BRAR/AEERHERZSR
7% o

ERE 2B RIEK B ATEMH SRR EEEITR
S0 - Alpe B EE (S Z%E %2@‘)2%%
RIRRKE °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements,
the directors of the Company are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on the historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year.

Estimated impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on
an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of
the CGUs to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value
in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected
future cash flows from the CGUs and also to choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash
flows. As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amount of goodwill is
HK$3,900,000 (net of impairment loss provision HK$2,342,000) (31
December 2020: HK$3,900,000, net of HK$2,342,000 impairment
loss provision). Details of the recoverable amount calculation are
disclosed in note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

4.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—Z-—Ft+-A=1+—HIFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Determination of impairment loss event and
estimated impairment of trade and other
receivables

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for the trade and
other receivables. The provision rates are based on past-due status
of debtors as groupings of various debtors on this basis demonstrate
similar loss patterns with shared credit risk characteristics. The
provision matrix is based on the Group’s historical default rates
taking into consideration forward-looking information that is
reasonable and supportable available without undue costs or effort.
At every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are
reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information are
considered. In addition, trade and other receivables with significant
balances and credit impaired are assessed for ECL individually.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. Where
the actual future cash flows are less than expected, a material
impairment loss may arise. As at 31 December 2021, the carrying
amount of trade receivables is HK$168,323,000, net of allowance for
ECL of HK$1,046,000 (31 December 2020: HK$159,574,000, net of
allowance for ECL of HK$1,708,000).

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

As at 31 December 2021, certain of the Group’s financial assets
(including financial assets at FVTPL and financial assets at FVTOCI)
are measured at fair value with fair value being determined based
on significant unobservable inputs using valuation techniques.
Judgement and estimation are required in establishing the relevant
valuation techniques and the relevant inputs thereof. Changes
in assumptions relating to these factors could result in material
adjustments to the fair value of these instruments. Details of the
fair value measurement are disclosed in note 6 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iR ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZE-—F+-A=t+—RHIFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4. BREe:tHE Rt TeH
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION AECZETERR(E)
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty 1&at TR & 2 T EXKIR (&)
(Continued)
Estimated impairment of intangible assets, BIVEE Y% RERZKEBEUREAR
property, plant and equipment and right of use EEEZMAFHRE
assets
Being part of the principal activities, the Group acquired certain EREEXEB—HD  NEEUECE T B
license fees and capitalised development cost relating to the ERERIENEBREACAZENER - AAZ
development of pharmaceutical products, since these costs meet ERAFEBT B G ERNFE I8 2 BRI -
the recognition criteria of HKAS 38. The Group reviews the carrying AEBRBEHAREMBEZLEHEREEL
amount of all intangible assets held at the end of the reporting FESHETEN  BERBEAHRETEERE
period and HK$230,509,000 (2020: HK$3,840,000) impairment was 230,509,000 0 (= =Z4F : 3,840,000/
considered necessary for these assets. JT) °
As at 31 December 2021, in view of impairment indicators, the RZZEZ—F+=ZA=+—8 ' ptREESH
Group performed impairment assessment on property, plant T AEEDREYE  BERRBHCTRE
and equipment approximately (excluding right-of-use assets) fFFREEE)532,289,0008 L (ZE=_ZTF+=
HK$532,289,000 (31 December 2020: HK$573,359,000) and right- BA=+4+—8 :573,359,000;87T) M{EAEEE
of-use assets approximately HK$155,976,000 (31 December 2020: #9155,976,000 c( ZE=TF + A =+—
HK$151,193,000) respectively. No impairment losses in respect of H : 151,193,000 0 ) # /TR EE - BEZ
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets have been T FRZFZEFFTA=+—HLEFE -
recognised for both years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020. Y - B MR DA R M AR A B T SR ISR AL (E
JE518 o
Depreciation e
The Group’s net carrying amount of property, plant and equipment RZTEZ—F+ZA=+—H AEEYXE
(excluding right-of-use assets) as at 31 December 2021 was FERZE(TEEEREERE) 2 REFEL
approximately HK$532,289,000 (31 December 2020: approximately #532,289,0008 L (ZE_FF+_HA=+—
HK$573,359,000). The Group depreciates the property, plant and H : #9573,359,00087T) - REELRALER
equipment, using the straight-line method, at the rate 5% to 33% AERR  AEERAEFSEEZTFS5%E33%
per annum, commencing from the date the assets is placed into ZEEBIEE - BRE R REETITE - AEEE
productive use. The estimated useful lives and dates that the Group BERANEEFR 2GR FHF AR
places the assets into productive use reflect the directors’ estimate TERHREERNE AT EERRE T
of the periods that the Group intends to derive future economic 2 B 2 (5T

benefits from the use of the assets.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—Z-—Ft+-A=1+—HIFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Share-based payments

The Group recognises share-based payments expense on options
granted. Share-based payments expense is based on the estimated
fair value of each option at its grant date, the estimation of which
requires the directors to make assumptions about future volatility
of the Group'’s stock price, future interest rates and the timing with
respect to exercise of the options. The effects of a change in one
or more of these variables could result in a materially different fair
value. The fair value of the share options granted during the year
was estimated at HK$4,605,000 (2020: HK$9,225,000) and the
amount associated with share-based payments for the year ended
31 December 2021 is HK$16,888,000 (2020: HK$17,442,000).

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in a number of jurisdictions.
Significant judgement is required in determining the provision for
income taxes in various jurisdictions. There are many transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit
issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the
current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the period in
which such determination is made.
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5. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to owners of the Company through the optimisation of the
debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains
unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt (which
includes borrowings and lease liabilities net of cash and cash
equivalents) and equity attributable to the owners of the Company
(comprising issued share capital, share premium, reserves and
retained profits).

Gearing ratio

The gearing ratio at end of the reporting period was as follows:

Are SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZE-—F+-A=t+—RHIFE

EXERER

REERITENEE  UERAEE 2 Ei8sE
FHERE - RFRBEIERRESEMSRER
AEEAQBZAL - HEFES  AEEZ
BERRRFTE -

3
/&
L
AR 2 A AR QAR (DR RER
8BRS MRS SE) RARAEE AR
% (BEERTRA - RIDEE - HERREY
F) -

BERMELE

REERRZEERBLEOT

2021 2020

—E-—-F T oTF

HK$'000 HK$’000

FHxT FHT

Debt (Note a) &% (Fizra) 267,138 156,707
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEE (277,529) (375,199)
Net debt B FRE (10,391) (218,492)
Equity (Note b) #a= (HiEb) 2,464,578 2,149,795
Net debt to equity ratio FREREER 2 R N/A TEH N/A i@

Notes:

Debts are defined as bank borrowings and lease liabilities as described
in notes 32 and 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

Equity includes all capital and reserves attributable to the owners of the
Company.

FfeE

a. BB ERRGFAUBRRAMEI2R3I3MR
RITEFAREERE -

b. BEREARBTEE NEGZRAELRREE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE

6.

T —F+-A=t+—HIFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Categories of financial instruments

6. MEEREE

MBEE

Financial assets

At FVTPL BRAFESEBIERYIE
At FVTOCI RAFESBEMEEmKETR

At amortised cost

R E S AT BR

MBaE
R SEPR AT R

Financial liabilities
At amortised cost

BT AEF
2021 2020
—B-—F —TTF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERx FAT
30,480 38,050
1,006,717 377,584
480,857 716,231
1,518,054 1,131,865
1,036,226 870,444

Financial risk management objectives

The Group’s corporate treasury function provides services to the
business units, co-ordinates access to domestic and international
financial markets, monitors and manages the financial risks relating
to the operations of the Group through internal risk reports which
analyse exposures by degree and magnitude of risks. These risks
include market risk (including foreign currency risk, interest rate
risk, and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Group seeks to minimise the effects of these risks and may
use derivative financial instruments to hedge risk exposures. The
use of financial derivatives is governed by the Group’s policies
approved by the board of directors, which provide written principles
on foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, the use of
financial derivatives and non-derivative financial instruments, and
the investment of excess liquidity. The Group does not enter into or
trade derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

There has been no change to the types of the Group’s exposure in
respect of financial instruments or the manner in which it manages
and measures the risks.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F R B2 AL A R A 7]

HEREEEE R

AR B (S IR BB B B K TS AL AR HEARTS - 17759
EANEARERSRTS  BRNEERRE (K
B2 2R R EE ORISR B R E IR EAE
B2EARMBRR - LFRBREBET SRR
(BHESNERR - MERRREMERRR) - F
ERERRBESRR -

AEEREBERTENBITAE AR - LS
K E ARz B R ME - MBITETRZE
RARZBESSHEZAEBRRMEE  ZEXK
REBHIMNERR - MXER  FERR - ERH
BOTETAEITAMB TR - UREREZHZ
mBEEEEMRR c AEEWETTHEET
T AEREARE -

AEBEGRAMB TRz AR 2 BRI AEEEHE
KEtERBRR AL EEE)



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

Market risk management

The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of
changes in foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates and other
price. The Group may enter into foreign currency forward contracts
to hedge the exchange rate risk arising on foreign currency
purchase.

Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity analysis.

There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to market risks
or the manner in which these risks are managed and measured.

Foreign currency risk management

The Group undertakes transactions denominated in foreign
currencies; consequently, exposures to exchange rate fluctuations
arise.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated
monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the end of the reporting
period are as follows:
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MR IBEINEFTE L 2 B ER ©
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RRRELE °

AEERBEPRMINEEECEREEREY
BEZERESENT

Assets Liabilities

BE

2021
—%

HK$’000

T

Renminbi ("RMB”) AR 388,040
United States Dollars ("US$”)  %*7T 64,942

Euro ("EUR”) BT
Pound Sterling ("GBP”) W
New Taiwan Dollars ("NTD") ek
Japanese Yen (“JPY") =]

535

3

814
(G

454,285 614,800 631,953 649,869

=i

2020 2021 2020
—ToTE —E-—F —ECFF
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
THET TER FAT
465,125 387,045 392,613
147,730 190,642 187,243
800 41,967 68,992
866 1,022

- 11,433 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARe SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—Z-—Ft+-A=1+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6.
(CONTINUED)

Market risk management (Continued)

Foreign currency risk sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% (2020:
5%) increase in the relevant foreign currencies against HK$. The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusted their translation at the
period end for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. A positive
number indicates an increase in profit or equity whereas a number
in bracket indicates a decrease in profit or equity. For a 5% (2020:
5%) decrease in the relevant foreign currencies against HK$, there
would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit or equity.

Profit or loss
Bz

2021
B
HK$'000
FET

RMB AREE (4,943)
Us$ ET (6,441)
EUR BT

NTD akk

JPY S|

(14,031)

In the management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the year
end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.

Interest rate risk management

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk because entities in the
Group borrow funds at floating and fixed interest rates. The Group
currently does not have any interest rate hedging policy. However,
the management monitors interest rate exposure periodically.
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Other comprehensive
income
Hib 2 mE K

2020 2021 2020
—EoEF e T TF
WL HK$'000 HK$'000
FHBT FHx TAET
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

Market risk management (Continued)

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for both derivative and non-derivative
instruments at the end of the reporting period. For floating rate
liabilities, the analysis is prepared assuming the amount of
the liability outstanding at the end of the reporting period was
outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis points (2020: 50 basis
points) increase or decrease in variable-rate borrowings is used
when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest rates. Bank balances are
excluded from sensitivity analysis as the directors of the Company
consider that the exposure of cash flow rate risk from variable-rate
bank balances is insignificant.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points (2020: 50 basis points)
higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the
Group’s pre-tax profit for the year ended 31 December 2021 would
decrease/increase by HK$1,233,000 (2020: decrease/increase by
HK$707,000). This is mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to
interest rates on its variable-rate borrowings.

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk mainly through its
investment in financial assets measured at FVTPL and FVTOCI
with the underlying assets are equity securities. The Group’s
equity price risk is mainly concentrated on entities operating in
biopharmaceutical industry which are either listed in Nasdaqg Capital
Market® or Hong Kong or unlisted.

Other price risk sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to equity price risk at the end of the reporting period.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, if the price of the equity
instruments had been 5% (2020: 5%) higher/lower, the Group’s
pre-tax profit would increase by HK$268,000 (2020: HK$1,593,000)
or decrease by HK$262,000 (2020: HK$1,589,000) as a result of
the changes in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL, while the other
comprehensive income would increase/decrease by HK$47,012,000
(2020: increase/decrease by HK$14,774,000) as a result of the
changes in fair value of financial assets at FVTOCI.

Are SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZE-—F+-A=t+—RHIFE

MRk EE ()

m5 R EE ()
NEYRED T

TXABFRESMIERBRERRITET AR
FOTETAZARREBRERE - HFEEEME -
WEA M DR N HRE PRREE B BSERE
BEFEHREEMBRR - AEZEEABRE
AR E R - A AT R S S RIS R S O B
(ZZF 4 : S0fEEE) - KREEBHMEZ
BIBEEBEL 2 FHE o RITABRTIMERREL
RESH - AARABERRRFERITHARSIE
ZBREREBREM -

iR £, THAS0EEL (T =—Z4 : 501@
HE)  MAAAHMESARETE  NREERE
BT S+ _A=+—HILFEZRARF
¥R 01,233,000 T (— B =24 : R
4 /191707,00087) - TEREAANEERHR
HEE) 8 RIEFERZF KRR

HivER R

AEEFZEBENEAFEERBRRIIRAF
EEBEMEEWESSIRAE 2B ERECEHH
MEEBBRAES) 2 REMAZBABBRRR
REE 2 BAEREREESPNEEMRLET
XLEBEER MZSERBENNEREART
BOREE LRI L

HitvERERSURED T

LA NGRS E 55 4 TH IR R R #R 45 B K 2 IR AN (B AR /2
BRAAIEMETE ©

HE_Z-—S+-F=1+—HIFE  MER
AT EBE LT/ 5% (B -F4F : 5%) -
REEE 2 B AT @ A5 hn268,0008 (= =
Z4E : 1,593,000/ 7T) 384 262,0008 7T (=
T —F4F : 1,589,000 ) + WIHIRAFESE
BIERIERZMBEEEAFEZEEMEK » ME
b2 EURES L I, 547,012,000 L (=F
—B4E 800,50 14,774,000087T) ¢ TR
AFEEAHEMEANSSRZVEEEATE
Z BB -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARe SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—Z-—Ft+-A=1+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(CONTINUED)

Credit risk management

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by counterparties is the carrying amount
of each financial asset as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group
has delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits,
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition,
the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual trade
debt at the end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate ECL
provision are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the
directors of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The Group’s credit risk exposure is spread over a number of
counterparties and customers. Hence, it has no significant
concentration of credit risk by single counterparty. Ongoing credit
evaluation is performed on the financial condition of receivables.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties
are banks with high credit ratings.

The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
to cover its credit risks associated with its financial assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(CONTINUED)

Liquidity risk management

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with
the board of directors, which has built an appropriate liquidity risk
management framework to meet the Group’s short, medium and
long-term funding and liquidity management requirements. The
Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves,
banking facilities and reserve borrowing facilities, by continuously
monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity
profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

Liquidity tables

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The tables have
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be
required to pay. Specifically, bank borrowings with a Repayment on
Demand Clause are included in the earliest time band regardless of
the probability of the banks choosing to exercise their rights. The
maturity dates for other non-derivative financial liabilities are based
on the agreed repayment dates.

On demand
or less than

Interest rate

1 year

BERH
A= DPR—F
% HK$'000

%

At 31 December 2021 RZZE=—5+=A
==

Non-derivative financial F{T£HEEE
liabilities

Trade and other payables [EfTE ZIRIEEA
JEF0R -

HEARE 1.76-6.00

RITERK 1.39-3.85

RRET 3.55-4.54

Leases liabilities
Bank borrowings
Retirement benefits

At 31 December 2020 RZZ_TF+_A

T

617,118
12,977
164,745

794,840

Are SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZE-—F+-A=t+—RHIFE

MR EREE (&)

B EZ R EE

RPECRARERZRREFERELS &S
BOREE 2R ECRBRERER - IS
AEEZES  FHRERESHENIRDES
ERER - AEEBBER RHFHE - RITRE
LiFBEERE  HEERBEIRERZHSR
EBREHVBAERBEZEHAAERRE
AwRk -

TRAVBAKEITEMBRBZHR T AHEIE
H - ZERRIREAEBEREAX N 2&KER
Bz BABEZFGRASRERE - A8M
= ' MARERETIERZ RITESEFARRE
B MAAmIRITRIBIT R AR 2 ATAEIE - Bt
FEOTEM B AE 2 BB A SA R R A B A -

Total
More than undiscounted Carrying
1 year cash flows amount
RERRE
BBE-F REEHE RESHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FET FHT

40,000
7,982
90,502
253,899

392,383

657,118

20,959
255,247
253,899

1,187,223

657,118

20,508
246,630
111,970

1,036,226

==

Non-derivative financial ¥{T4£#¥aE
liabilities

Trade and other payables E+E 5 8RR E b fE

308 - 609,737 = 609,737 609,737
Leases liabilities HEAE 2.37-6.00 8,259 7,703 15,962 15,330
Bank borrowings RITIEH 1.75-3.85 145,113 = 145,113 141,377
Retirement benefits RIRGER 3.32-4.31 - 264,680 264,680 104,000

763,109 272,383 1,035,492 870,444
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ARe SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—Z-—Ft+-A=1+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments

Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities are
measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The
following table gives information about how the fair values of these
financial assets and financial liabilities are determined (in particular,
the valuation technique(s) and inputs used).

Fair value as at

6. MEEREE(E)

BT Az FlEE

AEEETHBEERYBABDRSRERR
ZRAFEFE o« TRIBRINAEEZENBEE
M BRERAHEZ ER LERRAZ AER
i S g ABUR) °

Financial asset/ RT3 BR2 A FE Fair value Valuation technique(s)  Significant unobservable
Financial liability 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 hierarchy and key input(s) inputs
HBEE HMBEEE “EC-54+ZA=t-H ZB-EFT-A=1-H AVESE RGERNREIZRABE TERARNBAYE
Financial assets at fair Investments in life Investments in life Level 2 Based on the Cash Value. N/A
value through profit or insurance policies insurance policies
loss HK$5,856,000 HK$5,191,000
BATERBBEHIIGZHE ASRBRRERE ASRBRREFE FZR ERE2EME - NER
BE 5,856,000/ T 5,191,000/ T
Financial assets at fair Investments in Investments in Level 2 Based on the lowest level of N/A
value through profit or club debenture club debenture input such as quoted price.
loss HK$3,768,000 HK$3,200,000
RATEEREHIIR MY SFeREFRE SEREESRE E_R ERGAHIE 2 RIEKT TEm
BE 3,768,000/7C 3,200,000/ 7T (In3RfE) -
Financial assets at fair Unlisted warrants Unlisted warrants Level 2 Note a N/A
value through profit or HK$2,288,000 HK$17,776,000
loss
RATEEBRERIIR MY 3 EmRREZR2,288,000 3 EmARER EZR fifita NEA
BE BT 17,776,000/ T
Financial assets at fair Convertible notes Convertible notes Level 2 Note b N/A
value through profit loss ~ HK$2,968,000 HK$6,501,000
BATEEBBRIIR MG TEREE2,968,0008T AHREE6,501,0008T F=& MiiEEb NER
BE
Financial assets at fair Not applicable Convertible loan Level 3 Note b Not applicable (2020: long-
value through profit loss HK$2,239,000 term revenue growth rate
ranging from 3% to 25%)
(Note d).
Not applicable (2020:
discount rate of 15.04%)
(Note e).
RATEERERIIRZ MY TEA ARRER2,239,000%8 T =4 i3] NER(ZZZZF - RS
BE RENTF3%Z25%) (Hizd) »
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZE-—F+-A=t+—RHIFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. BKRAMRERE(E)
(CONTINUED)
Fair value measurements of financial BB THEZ N FHETE(E

instruments (Continued)

Fair value as at

Financial asset/ RT3 B2 A FE Fair value Valuation technique(s)  Significant unobservable

Financial liability 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 hierarchy and key input(s) inputs

HBEE MBEE ZE--F+ZA=+-H ZBIEE+-A=t-H APEER HERNRIEBARE TEFTRABARE

Financial assets at fair Convertible note Not applicable Level 3 Note ¢ Enterprise value to sales
value through profit or HK$15,600,000 multiple of 4.14 (2020: not
loss applicable) (Note f).

Discount rate of 10.9%
(2020: not applicable)

(Note g).

RATEEBERIIG MY HRRRE MR E= Bitzke MEX414(ZFZF - T
BE 15,600,0007% 7T ) (BiIZEF)

BRE10.9%(ZF=FF: §
#A) (fiztg)

Financial assets at fair Unlisted warrants Unlisted warrants Level 3 Note a Not applicable (2020: long-
value through profit or HK$Nil (Note h) HK$3,143,000 term revenue growth rate
loss ranging from -80% to

264%) (Note d).

Not applicable (2020:
discount rate of 14.73%)
(Note e).

BATEERERFIRHY FLTARERTAET I LM RMAEE3, 143,000 E=M fitita NER(ZZZZF RS

RE (KtsEh) BT RENT-80%%£264%)
(FitzEd)
NER(ZZZZF : BiRX
14.73%) (FiizEe) ©

Financial assets at fair Unlisted warrants Not applicable Level 3 Note a Enterprise value to sales
value through profit HK$Nil multiple of 4.14 (2020: not
or loss applicable) (Note f).

RATEERBEHIIR MY FEMAREETHET NEm =R fitita MER414(ZT=ZF : T
BE F) (HZEF)

Financial assets at fair Listed equity securities Listed overseas Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an N/A
value through other (both Hong Kong equity securities active market.
comprehensive income and overseas) HK$208,287,000

HK$861,305,000

RATEEREMEENE  EHRAZFH(BAREIN) B EmRAES F—/ WEBTIHMIRZEAE @
R BTS B E 861,305,000/ 70 208,287,000/#70

Financial assets at fair Unlisted partnership Unlisted partnership Level 3 Based on the net asset value The fair values estimated
value through other investment investment with reference to the prices with reference to the latest
comprehensive income HK$66,472,000 HK$82,098,000 of underlying investment private/market transaction.

portfolio quoted by fund
administrator.

RATEEREME2ENE  FLMEBRE EETaBRE =8 ENEEFE(2ZECERA ATENSEREHLA/ M5
R TS B E 66,472,0007%7C 82,098,000 7T PR AR EMAER) - RSETIEET
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—Z-—Ft+-A=1+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT B Rk SR ()

(CONTINUED)

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (Continued)

BT Rz FlETTE(E)

Fair value as at

Financial asset/ RT3 B2 A FE Fair value Valuation technique(s)  Significant unobservable
Financial liability 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 hierarchy and key input(s) inputs
HBEE HMBEE ZE--F+ZA=+-H ZBIBE+ZAZ=+-H APEER HERGRIEBARE TEFTRABARE
Financial assets at fair Unlisted equity Unlisted equity Level 3 Income approach, the Long-term revenue growth
value through other securities securities discounted cash flow rate ranging from 3% to
comprehensive income HK$78,940,000 HK$87,199,000 method was used to 251% (2020: -80% to
capture the present value  263%) (Note d).
of the expected future
economic benefits to be  Discount rate of 15.11%
derived from the ownership  (2020: 14.62% to 15.04%)
of this investee, based on ~ (Note e).
an appropriate discount
rate.
RATEFBEMPERS  FLTRAZES I ERAE S E=R WANE-—FRERRERBEN REKEERENT3%ZE251%
SRR AR 78,940,000/ 7T 87,199,000%7T RIFEE 2 BREHERZR  (ZT2FF  -80%%£263%)
REFZFBRESZERR  (fad) -
RIS ERN R B
B E15.11%(ZF=FF :
14.62%%15.04%) (Kiite) o
Financial assets at fair Unlisted equity Unlisted equity Level 3 Note h N/A
value through other securities HK$Nil securities HK$Nil
comprehensive income
BRATEEBEMEERE FEMRABATAET FEMRAZFLFZ AT E=R Fitith TEm

SRR TS A E
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (Continued)

Notes:

Binomial Model was used by applying discrete timestep lattice model of
the varying price over time of the underlying financial instruments which
based on the exercise price, time to expiration, risk free rate and stock
price as quoted in active market (for fair value measurement within
Level 2) or as determined by Income approach or Market approach (for
fair value measurement within Level 3).

Partial differential equation, especially the Crank-Nicolson finite-
difference method, was used by applying discount rate, volatility level
and underlying stock price as quoted in active market (for fair value
measurement within Level 2) or as determined by Income approach (for
fair value measurement within Level 3).

Binomial Model was used by applying the discount rate and the
underlying stock price determined by Market Approach. With call option
exercise price being deep out of money which implies the convertible
note is effectively a straight debt instrument.

Long-term revenue growth rate was determined by taking into account
of management’s experience and knowledge of market conditions of the
specific industries. Increase in long-term revenue growth rate would
result in an increase in fair value measurement, and vice versa.

Discount rate was estimated by considering the weighted average cost
of capital determined by using a Capital Asset Pricing Model. Decrease
in discount rate would result in an increase in fair value measurement,
and vice versa.

Enterprise value to sales was estimated by considering companies
operating in similar industries to the investee. Increase in enterprise
value to sales would result in an increase in fair value measurements,
and vice versa.

Discount rate was estimated by considering corporate bonds with similar
grading. Decrease in discount rate would result in an increase in fair
value measurements, and vice versa.

The underlying investees are under liquidation and no accounting
records are available for fair value estimation. As a result, the
management assessed the fair value is approximately HK$Nil.

There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 in the current year.

AR e WIS HRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2021
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ire ISR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—Z-—Ft+-A=1+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. BKRAMRERE(E)
(CONTINUED)
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value BN FETEZEHER
measurements

Financial assets (liabilities)

HREE(ER)
At FVTOCI - At FVTOCI -
At FVTPL - At FVTPL - Unlisted Unlisted Derivative
Unlisted Convertible equity partnership financial
warrants loan securities investment liabilities
BRATERB RAYLERR RAYEER
BB BRATEEB Hih2E Hit2E
¥ BERFIE- Wz 5~ WE 5%~ ok
AREE TRRER FETRARS FLETRBRE 3=V
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL TH T TEL TAT
Year ended 31 December BZE-E2--5+-A=t-H
2021 JI:3:5
Opening balance BEH 2,239
Additions A 17,643
Conversion i (3,386)
Total gains (losses): Bl (EE)
- in profit or loss e (896)
- in other comprehensive —REMEANRE
income (11,759) (26,239)
Closing balance R 78,940 66,472
Year ended 31 December BE-3-ZEf+-A=1-H
2020 LLFE
Opening balance s 1,062 - 60,377 75,950 (80,085)
Additions Fiip 1 1,269 7,750 11,233 -
Total gains (losses): Bl (EE)
- in profit or loss —RBE 2,080 970 - - (3,502)
- in other comprehensive —REM2AYE
income - - 19,072 (5,085) -
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAR
(Note 45) (Hiz45) = - - - 83,587
Closing balance Bt 3,143 2,239 87,199 82,098 -
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZE-—F+-A=t+—RHIFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. BKRAMRERE(E)
(CONTINUED)
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value BN FETEZEH R (E

measurements (Continued)

Of the total gains or losses for the year included in profit or loss: FTABRZ FAREERRE

- there are HK$4,139,000 loss (2020: HK$3,050,000 gain) —  RIEflam REEFE B TRRERR
and HK$Nil (2020: HK$3,502,000 loss) related to financial AT EBBERYEMEEERITEN
assets at FVTPL and derivative financial liabilities respectively BARaED 554,139,000 TEE (==
recognised under “other gains and losses, net”. —ZF4F : 3,050,000 tiliEm) REETT

(ZZ==%% : 3,502,000/ TE#E) -

Included in other comprehensive income is HK$37,998,000 AFTAEMEEREANERRE PRFEW LR
loss (2020: net HK$13,987,000 gain) related to unlisted equity TEEAHMEMERINRZVBEESEZIE
securities classified as financial assets at FVTOCI held at the end A EFER S A37,998,000/8 TEE
of the reporting period and is reported as changes of “investments (ZZT=FF : 13,987,000 Tz /558) - &
revaluation reserve”. ERIBREEHFEBIZB2RK -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
4= AR

ARe SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE

7.

T —F+-A=t+—HIFE

REVENUE

Revenue represents the net amounts received and receivable for
goods sold by the Group to outside customers during the year which
is recognised at a point in time.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the Chairman of the Company, being
the chief operating decision maker, for the purpose of resources
allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses on the
types of goods delivered.

During the year, the Group commenced the business in generic
products after obtaining the approval for manufacturing and
marketing the generic products from the relevant authority, and it
has been aggregated into the proprietary segments for reporting.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable segments under HKFRS 8 are as
follows:

- Manufacturing and sales of
self-developed and generic
pharmaceutical products

Proprietary and generic
products

Licensed-in products - Trading of licensed-in pharmaceutical

products
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SR IS SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZE-—F+-A=t+—RHIFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION 8. AHWER(H)
(CONTINUED)
Segment revenue and results P EBY 2 R RAE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by AT RIZF 2FH D BEID 2 AEBW G R EED
reportable segments: o

Proprietary and
generic products Licensed-in products Consolidated
HRARGHER SIEEmR =E
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
—E2--F ekt - —F Eebdablal —T-—f el
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FHET TER FHET TET FHET

Segment revenue D E 517,022 538,765 749,135 677,951 EWIImEy, 1,216,716
Segment operating results A& ¥4E 220,706 239,931 95,065 192,133 315,771 432,064
Research and development %Kk FH%EER

expenses CPEEP) (57,003) QRELLELEY)]  (146,201) [EXERE)]  (203,294)
Impairment of intangible &/ &EERE

assets (43,523) (186,986) (3,840) N @EX{ AT 1)) (3,840)
Impairment of goodwill AEE - - (2,342) - (2,342)
Write-off of intangible MsEpEE

assets (357) - (357)
Segment results DEELE 93,894 182,838 (252,824) , (158,930) 224,930
Gain on disposal of HEHBRRZ

subsidiaries, net Wias 58

(Note 45) (Ff7¥45) 157,345
Gain (loss) on deemed Zﬁf&tﬂ% D

disposal of interest in ek 2 Woas (85 ,\)

associates (Note 22(ii)) (BiEE22(ii)) 2,321,626 (180,923)
Unallocated income KABBA 14,326 12,717
Unallocated expenses KDERER (198,439) (62,146)
Profit from operations BEEF 1,978,583 151,923
Finance costs BTSN (5,722) (6,472)
Profit before share of Pax el NI ES T

results of associates il 1,972,861 145,451
Share of results of ax el YN ES

associates (3,495) (11,414)
Profit before taxation BRECADE A 1,969,366 134,037
Taxation TRIE (9,482) (55,503)
Profit for the year RERZHF 1,959,884
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ire ISR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021

B=E

—F+-A=t—HLEFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue generated
from external customers. There were no inter-segment sales in the
year (2020: Nil).

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same
as the Group’s accounting policies. Segment results represents
the profit earned/loss from by each segment without allocation of
central administration costs including directors’ emoluments, certain
transactions with associates, gain or loss on disposal/deemed
disposal of certain subsidiaries/associates, fair value changes of
certain financial instruments at FVTPL, interest income, finance
costs, share of results of associates, and income tax expense. This
is the measure reported to the chief operating decision maker for
the purposes of resources allocation and assessment of segment
performance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iR ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZE-—F+-A=t+—RHIFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION 8. AHER(E)
(CONTINUED)
Segment assets and liabilities DEHEERER
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by T RIZFZFDBED 2AEBEERAES
reportable segments: o

Proprietary and
generic products Licensed-in products Consolidated
HRARGHER SIEEmR =E
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
—E2--F ekt - —F Eebdablal —T-—f el
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FHET TER FHET TET FHET
Segment assets AEEE 884,279 875,134 WELEPLERS 1,704,544 Feleikfi-bhaN 2,579,678
Unallocated assets ROBEE 1,243,371 673,243

Total assets BEBE N R0 3,252,921

Segment liabilities HEBEE 233,565 263,839 574,211 516,420 807,776 780,259
Unallocated liabilities Ko EE 437,960 357,284

Total liabilities BfREE Wk 1,137,543

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating BERASIEE BN TEAEER
resources between segments:

= all assets are allocated to operating segments other than - BB NT Y M BECHBEE £
interests in associates, deferred tax assets, certain right-of- FEAEEENRIRA T EBEBIENYIE
use assets and financial assets at fair value through profit R AFEEBE M2 KT EE 2 B
or loss and fair value through other comprehensive income, BEE - HBLNT Y M5 - TR ERIE -
balances with associates, tax recoverable, pledged bank CHRIRIRITIES - THIER A RIES R IR
deposits, time deposits and cash and bank balances. Goodwill is TERIN - FEREENREELHEL o
allocated to segment of proprietary and generic products; and RIS RESFRFEERSE &

= all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than — BIRITEZ - ENFIE BEEREEER
bank borrowings, tax payables, deferred tax liabilities and RKIBRISN - A BEE DI ERKLE DI o

retirement benefits.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HE —F+ZA=+—HILFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION 8. AHWER(H)
(CONTINUED)
Other segment information (included in Bt 7 S8 8 (BT B S8z
the measure of segment profit or loss or 5‘,6 7 EPE E B R o £ B E R
segment assets or regularly provided to EEEHR)

the chief operating decision maker)

Proprietary and
generic products Licensed-in products Consolidated

ENRGRER SIEER )

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
el T T bl —TTF Ml dmblal _—T_TF
HK$’000 HK$'000 BRGIEHOND) HK$'000 BGIEHON) HK$'000

T FHT FTHET FHET FHET FHAT

Depreciation of property, %1% - BiER&HE (R

plant and equipment EERAREE)TE

(including right-of-use

assets) J . b . 117,814 109,300
Amortisation of intangible 7 & &k i

assets , , , , 29,053 18,203

Additions to non-current  ERFEIERBEE
assets (Property, plant (W% - BEREE

and equipment, and AREREE)

intangible assets) during

the year 104,152 256,164 282,227 182,074 386,379 438,238
Impairment of intangible ~ EFEERE

assets 43,523 186,986 3,840 230,509 3,840
Write-off of intangible WikER EE

assets 357 357
Geographical information I BB EH)
During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, more than REBEE_ZE-_—FR-_ZF-_ZTF+_A=+— EI
90% of the Group’s revenue was derived from activities conducted IEFE » AEEBIO% SR ARPEARL
in the People’s Republic of China (the “"PRC”), no geographical B([HRE )T %7 - B E 25| s tfg[
information on revenue is presented. BHl o
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by U T AEETmREEIS 2 ANERETERBEIHT :

geographical markets:

The PRC Hong Kong and others Total

HE BERHEM st
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
=t bl CTOTF bl _CTOTF bl T TF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FTHAT FTET TET THER FAT

Total assets BERE pIo PRV 2,060,059 RECEZBETE 1,192,862 Rl 3,252,921
Total liabilities AR 532,981 560,912 712,755 576,631 WX ipvic{m 1,137,543
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iR ISR MR

9. INFORMATION ABOUT MAJOR 9.

10.

CUSTOMERS

For both the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, no single
customer accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s total revenue.

OTHER INCOME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZE-—F+-A=t+—RHIFE

TREEREFZER

HE-T - —FR-F-FF+-_A=+—HIE
MEFE @ HEE R EAEERKE 210%

SPAL o

10. EAay A

2021
—E-—F
HK$'000

FHT

Interest income on:

Bank and pledged bank deposits
Financial assets at FVTPL
Advance to associates

THIRRZFBHA
RIT M B AEIRIRITER
BAFEERBEIIRCUMBEE
BTSN R]Z FOR

2,461
117
3,334

Total interest income

Compensation income

Government and development grants
Licensing income

Rental and utilities income

Incentives from vendor

Research and development service income
Sundry income

ISR ON
fERA

B M Fa 3 Bh
ERUA

HE R R ERBIA
e 220

T R RISIA
FEEUA

5,912
18,156
3,443
11,798
60,274
2,740

102,323

The Group received the development grants from the local
government as recognition of the Group’s performance and
development of high-technology pharmaceutical products.

During the year 2020, the Group recognised government grants
of approximately HK$6,344,000 in respect of COVID-19-related
subsidies, of which approximately HK$2,607,000 relates to
Employment Support Scheme provided by Hong Kong government.

AR B W B3 75 BUR AR P AN SR B R ER R BB = 3

MxZEmmix T2 REHE -

RZZTZTFER - AEEHCOVID-1948#
BE#ER 476,344,000 T 2 R IFfEB) » HF A
2,607,000 T EBBUT IR EBREE -
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2020
T oTF
HK$'000
FAT

6,624

2,448

9,072
41,208
30,958

3,431
2,860
56,387
6,671

150,587
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ire ISR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—Z-—Ft+-A=1+—HIFE

11. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 11, iR EETE
2021 2020
—EB-—F —EEF
HK$'000 HK$’000
FTERT FHTT
Fair value loss in respect of BRANTEEZ AT EER
- Financial assets at FVTPL, net —RATEBBERIIE VB EEFE (21,827) (17,963)
- Derivate financial liabilities —THEMBEE = (3,502)
Gain (loss) on deemed disposal of interests 8 /5 H Sk A AIHERS 2 U2 (E518)

in associates (Note 22(ii)) (FF7E22(ii)) 2,321,626 (180,923)
Gain on disposal of plant and equipment, net H&RE & &E 2 U555 30
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries, net HEWB AR 2 KesF5E

(Note 45) (Fi3£45) 155,625
Gain on early termination of lease REERIEHRE 2 e 2
Impairment loss recognised in respect of BRANTSIE EERRESE
- Intangible assets (Note 20) — g E (FTEE20) (230,509) (3,840)
- Goodwill (Note 21) — B (ME21) — (2,342)
Loss on derecognistion of financial assets at R @SR IEERIZ A T ESBERYIER

FVTPL at expiration (Note 23) 2 BB E 2 BB (MEE23) - (4,584)
Write-off of property, plant and equipment  H#iis%% - BE M &RE (4,220) (305)
Write-off of intangible assets MiHmpEE (357) -
Foreign exchange gain, net SNE Wz FRE 3,051 214

2,067,799 (57,588)
12. PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS 12, &&RF

Profit from operations has been arrived at after charging: LR E IR TSI &SIA
2021 2020
—B-—F e
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT

Depreciation of property, plant and Y BEREEBEERAEEE)TE

equipment (including right-of-use assets) 117,814 109,301
Amortisation of intangible assets EREEEHEGIAEENR)

(included in cost of sales) 29,053 18,203
Total depreciation and amortisation mEREHERE 146,867 127,504
Auditors’ remuneration ZEETE & 1,312 1,251
Staff costs BIRA 412,452 298,471
Share-based payments LARR 2 244 2 5K IB 16,888 17,442
Research and development costs MERFEER 243,835 203,294
Cost of inventories charged to profit or loss BBz 2 FERA 428,205 405,308
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZE-—F+-A=t+—RHIFE

13. FINANCE COSTS 13. BAEEE A

2021 2020
—E-—F —ToTF
HK$'000 HK$’000
FTHExT FHT
Interest expenses on: MATEEZF SR

Bank and other borrowings $RIT R EABIETR 3,787 4,698
Lease liabilities HERE 617 687

Total interest expenses for financial liabilities I 3FD AR A FES BERETIER 2 817
not classified as FVTPL BEZHEMTEE 4,404 5,385
Bank charges RITER 1,318 1,087
5,722 6,472

14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 14. EERBRETHRAEME

EMOLUMENTS

REERLMARMEARGIREZEE &S
THABRAFEZ HanT -

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and CO is as follows:

Salaries, Employer's Equity-
allowances, contributions settled 2021
and other Management to pension Retirement  share option Total
Fees remuneration bonus schemes Sub-total benefits expense  emoluments
A1) S HE ] WRELS I
he HfpEH EREA B it RIFEH ERERX Heug
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tn ThR TR TR Thn Tin TR Thn
Executive Directors yires
Lee Siu Fong £ 5,468 23,850 12 29,330 4,720 3,664 37,714
Leglalertsuphakun Wanee ZEE 5913 25,832 - 31,745 4,580 3,585 39,910
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Li Xiaoyi (Note i) Z)R () 11,777 12,079 (1,330) 3,454 14,203
Simon Miles Ball (Note ii) Simon Miles Ball(FfzFii) - 150 - - 150
Independent Non-executive ~ BisfE%
Directors
Chan Yau Ching, Bob RRE 216
Lam Yat Cheong H#BE 216
Tsim Wah Keung, Karl By pil}
Total @it 73,952
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—Z-—Ft+-A=1+—HIFE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
4= AR

ARe SRR

for their service in connection with the management of the affairs of
the Company and the Group.

One of the directors of the Company waived emoluments
HK$2,416,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

Certain directors of the Company are entitled to bonus payments
which are determined based on a percentage of the Group’s profit
after tax for the year.

During the year, certain directors were granted share options in
respect of their services to the Group under the share option scheme
of the Company. Details of the share options scheme are set out in
note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F R B2 AL A R A 7]

14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 14, EERBSTHRAEME (E)
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
Salaries, Employer's
allowances, contributions Equity-settled 2020
and other  Management to pension Retirement  share option Total
Fees  remuneration bonus schemes Sub-total benefits expense  emoluments
54 2R S IhiEgE “3-%F
k3 A EEEI xR gt RN BlRERS iEact]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thr Thn Thn Thn Thn Thn Thn Thn
Executive Directors #iEs
Lee Siu Fong £l = 5453 589 18 6,060 9,380 3,851 19,291
Leelalertsuphakun Wanee T - 5,915 637 - 6,552 (1,780) 3,740 8,512
Li Xiaoyi (CEQ) ZA(fnEs) = 8,120 877 18 9,015 7170 3,551 19,736
Non-executive Director FufEs
Simon Miles Ball Simon Miles Ball 144 - - - 144 - - 144
Independent Non-executive ~ BuiirEs
Directors
Chan Yau Ching, Bob RRE 144 - - - 144 - - 144
Lam Yat Cheong GiEE 144 - - - 144 - - 144
Tsim Wah Keung, Karl EE3 144 - - - 144 - - 144
Total it 576 19,488 2,103 36 22,203 14,770 11,142 48,115
Notes: FfeE :
i Re-designated from executive Director to non-executive Director with i B —FHA-thBRARITESAME
effect from 29 April 2021. HITEE -
ii. Resigned with effect from 30 June 2021. ii. BZZ - —FR A=1THERE -
The directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments shown above were EXBERZEERESTHRAEMES I EFEAK

REIRAEEEREEA B REHE -

HE-ZS-—F+-_A=+—HIEE ' AQ7
Heh— {7 EEWE2,416,000 8 THIE (- =
TFE )

AREETEEAREBEREERFERHE
M E DAt B Z FEAT

WAFER  BTESHRERAEERE 2R
TSR R R MBI HE AT 81 X T BB AR AE o BBRRAE R
B2 FHEH N R A MR MRS -



14.

15.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Transactions, arrangements or contracts
in which directors of the Company have
material interests

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which
the Company or its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director
of the Company had material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year (2020:
Nil).

Loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in
favour of directors

No loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of directors of the
Company or body corporate controlled by such directors, or entities
connected with such directors, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year (2020: Nil).

FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

The five highest paid individuals of the Group during the year
included three (2020: three) directors, details of whose remuneration
are set out in note 14 above. Details of the remuneration for the
year of the remaining two (2020: two) highest paid individuals who
are neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as
follows:

14.

15.

Are SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZE-—F+-A=t+—RHIFE

EERREESTHRAEME (&)

ERAEEREEA R ZX
5 ZHEEH

WAFEERKAEENTARE - ARFRE
WBARBIE L EMARRESEENRAER
HABMBEARGZEARD  THIEHN(ZE
ZEF 4E) o

UEERZm AZEN - BEM
RAMX S

RAEEERIANEZATMER - BEARRD
AIEE  IREEFEFEANEEKEZEE
EEEMIEBAITAZER - EERKREAM
RPG(ZBEZZF: &) -

FEEEHAL

RAFER  AEBRERHALTES =4
(ZZ2-ZF: ZR)REF  EFHEHNLX
fiFE14 - REFALTHESRME(ZB_2F
MB)ALAFEARRERLRDTRAR © KF
ZF BT

Salaries and other benefits e REAET
Employer’s contributions to pension schemes K% ztEIE T H3%
Equity-settled share option expense VAR 8 45 L PR AR A 2

2021 2020
—E-—-F e a3
HK$'000 HK$’000

FERT FHET

3,917 3,671

189 18

1,722 2,124

5,828 5,813
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ire ISR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—Z-—Ft+-A=1+—HIFE

15. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 15. AEREHFAL(E)
(CONTINUED)
The number of the highest paid individuals who are not the directors HRH AT (EFEARBESE) 2HMN T 548
of the Company whose remuneration fell within the following bands is B2 NBHIATE
as follows:
2021 2020
—E-fF —T-THF
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AEL
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,0017%7c%2,500,0007 7T 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,00177c%3,000,00077C -
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001&7%3,500,000% 7T
2
During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the five RAFER  AEBYENTFRESSHALTH
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the SERBEEMAREE - SR INAR 2 52E) =k
Group or as compensation for loss of office. BER R o
16. TAXATION 16. B
2021 2020
—EBE-—F —TCTF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHExT T
Current tax BNEARHIE
Hong Kong Profits Tax B S 11,177 34,176
PRC Enterprise Income Tax P B EEFTS - 163
11,177 34,339
(Over) under provision in prior years BEFE(GBEREB BETE
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEBFER 161 (19)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax FEI RS (284) 190
(123) 171
Deferred tax BRI
Origination and reversal of temporary B R B E R R (M 5E34)
differences (Note 34) (1,572) 20,993
9,482 55,503
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

16. TAXATION (CONTINUED)

For a qualified entity, Hong Kong Profits Tax for the years ended
31 December 2021 and 2020 is calculated at 8.25% on the first
HK$2 million of the estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on
the estimated assessable profits above HK$2 million according to
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. Hong Kong Profits Tax is
calculated at 16.5% for both years ended 31 December 2021 and
2020 for all other entities.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”)
and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rates of the
PRC subsidiaries range from 15% to 25% (2020: 15% to 25%).

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates
prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

Are SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZE-—F+-A=t+—RHIFE

16. #i1E (%)

MEERERMS RBAESHMAH - &5
—E - FR-TTFF+_A=t+—HLHF
EzBBNEGRHE2E 8B Tt ERREF
1Z8. 25%&5&525%‘,amﬂéﬁ;ﬂ%%mm%lw
16.5%:E - iFMEEMERME HE_-FT
- ERZETFEF_A=F— EIMWIEJ?
ZEBFIERIIE16.5%:TH -

m““ﬂtﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁ’aﬁé%((ﬁ%ﬁﬂ%ﬁ%)&ﬁ%
FREREE A - BB AR 2 X
15%ZE25% (=T =_FTF : 15%i25%>°

REM A EREREE 2 BB RAMN A ERE 2T
AR -

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before AEEFEZRBES HELEEERRANZBRR AT ST
taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows: HERWT -
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$’000
FTERT FAT
Profit before taxation BREL AR 1,969,366 134,037
Notional tax at the rates applicable to results #&EARHBIEEZEZHEFE2EE
in regions concern BiIA 327,686 17,782
Tax effect of share of results of associates DL E RN RIEB BB E 577 1,883
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax FHEM = A FHIRH S 2 RIS 2
purpose 46,027 60,574
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax PRRIEM 5 BERMBA 2 R E
purpose (382,665) (31,044)
(Over) under provision in prior years BEFE(GBEREEB BETRE (¢PX)) 171
Tax effect on temporary differences not REREG R ER 2 RBETE
recognised 13,638 (324)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERBHE B ST E 41,631 36,531
Tax effect of preferential tax allowance BEMERZTRIGTE (26,023) (23,101)
Utilisation of tax loss previously not )R Se AT ARTER 2 T TE &S 18
recognised (11,266) (6,969)
Tax charge for the year AEE 2B 9,482 55,503

As at 31 December 2021, the Group has estimated unused tax
losses of approximately HK$784 million (2020: HK$551 million)
available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has
been recognised in respect of the estimated tax losses due to the
unpredictability of future profits streams.

R-TE-——&F+-_A=+—8  AEEMHHER
Az oA EREE RS 2 HIBEIBLA
784E BB L(ZE-FF : 551 HEHBIT) ° B
AR BETE RS SR T 2 2R - B I B R B

HERREREERREE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARe SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HE —F+-A=+—HIFE
17. DIVIDENDS 17. RE
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHTT
Dividends for ordinary shareholders of the FANERRD IR L AR B EBRIRE 2
Company recognised as distribution ARE
during the year:
2021 interim - HK$0.030 —T - —FhHRE —8k0.030%8 T
(2020: 2020 interim dividend (ZZ=ZF : ZZTFFHRE
HK$0.027) per share 0.0277%7T) 15,879
2020 final - HK$0.031 T T ERHRE —FR0.0315T
(2020: 2019 final dividend (Z2=2F : —T—NFREKRE
HK$0.038) per share 0.0387%7T) 22,349
38,228

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, final dividend in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2021 of HK3.1 cents
per share (2020: final dividend in respect of the year ended 31
December 2020 of HK3.1 cents per share), in an aggregate amount
of HK$18,254,000 (2020: HK$18,232,000) has been proposed
by the directors and is subject to approval by shareholders at
the forthcoming annual general meeting, and is not included as a
dividend payables in the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2021.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F R B2 AL A R A 7]

NBEARE EERRRNHE=T=—F

A=t HLEEEZAHAREER3.1E
W(ZZE=TF : BEZT-_TF+=-A=1+—
EIJJ:EEEE,H\HHX,%HQ3 1/%111” RN R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

18. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share attributable
to owners of the Company is based on the following data:

Are SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZE-—F+-A=t+—RHIFE

18. BIR&ERI

Earnings:

Net profit attributable to owners of the
Company for the purpose of basic and
diluted earnings per share

&
Mt EEREA LIRS ZARF
BB AR

Number of shares:

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares for the purposes
of basic earnings per share

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:

Options

Bir#a -
RAEFREARRN N 5 2 EBRINETF
B

BT RR TR
R 398

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares for the purposes of
diluted earnings per share

ShEt SRS AT S 2 WRRIE
FH

RAREEABGEBRERNREFRFTIERT
PIBURETH -
2020
—ZTEHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FAT
1,987,176 129,316
2021 2020
B —ETF
‘000 Share(s) ‘000 Share(s)
T8 T
588,649 588,120
43
589,047 588,163
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARe SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE_Z-_—F+-A=1+—HIFE

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

19. 1% - BERXE

Office and
laboratory
equipment
Leasehold Leased Leasehold Plant and and electronic Construction
Buildings land premises improvement machinery equipment Motor vehicles in progress Total
BAEREAR
53 HELH EENE BRUEEE RERES RERETRE it HRIE it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$/000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$/000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
L T T Tin T Tin Tin Tin Thn
CosT A
At 1 January 2020 W-3-35-A-R 236,366 143,987 32473 52,519 247,841 138,774 12,710 192,750 1,057,486
Exchange rate adjustments ExgE 16,002 9433 1,673 5574 434 9457 499 3399 69471
Reclassification 28 1,033 - - (1,033) - - - - -
Additions 26 = 2,604 20424 57,19 16,054 41 44254 140,999
Tranferin out) 511 - - 4,642 7879 15,880 . (164.433) -
Disposals = = = = (201) = = = (201)
Write-off i - (157) (12,848) (635) (1699) = 21 (17,00)
Modification of lease term BEHRB - (1,420) - - - - - (142)
Early termination of lease REMHEE = - (446) - - - - - (446)
Disposal o subsidiaries (Note 45)  HEJEA () 976) - 6381 48318) 2792) (47) (B515) (164,664)
At 31 December 2020 and i 32 |
1 January 2021 R-E-—5-5-7 25849 152,444 B3 65,907 35812 150,549 13,193 52,184 1,084,205
Exchange rate adjustments ERge 71277 4348 797 182 10,729 3941 iy 1471 30,601
Reclassification v (6,026) - - 6,026 - - - - -
Additons 5E - - 15,65 8605 7% 6813 - 754 66,350
Transfer in (out) EA) - - 2193 223 - - (442) -
Disposals i3 = = = = = = (295) - (295)
Write-off iy %) - (8,507) (3557) (203) (1) = 4201) (16,936)
Modiicaton of lease term i) = = (56) ° - - - - (%)
At 31 December 2021 R3--#t-f=1-R 259,650 156,792 41,199 80,995 398,618 160,931 13,115 52,569 1,163,869
DEPRECIATION i
At 1 January 2020 W-3-35-3-A 44366 1339 8,453 18728 106,597 61,501 8,141 = 261,177
Exchange rate adjustments ExjE 3750 1,055 688 900 9,192 4,698 4 - 20,725
Redlassifcation EifAR 6 - - ) - - - - -
Charge forthe year HeREE 13,81 280 9761 15,391 B4 7% 1219 . 109,301
Eliminated upon disposal e = = = = (168) - - - (168)
Eliminated upon write-of b - (157) (12,848) (634) (1,660) = = (16,715)
Eiminated upon early termination 81X - Sk
oflease = (93) = = = = o (93)
Eliminated upon disposal of HEMBATEYE
subsidaries (Note 45) (Kizt9) 5) . . (5,103) (3749) (5,661) ) - (14574)
At 31 December 2020 and i 42 e
1 January 2021 R=E=-%-A-A 62,008 17,326 17,236 17,062 149,664 86,612 9,745 = 359,653
Exchange rate adjustments EEgE 1987 543 at 474 5,018 2,509 206 - 11,148
Redlassifcation B (842) - - 842 - - - - -
Charge for the year T5RAR 14729 3,087 11,919 13918 47469 25,765 927 = 117,814
Eiminated upon disposel kS = = = = = = (295) - (295)
Eliminated upon write-of b %) - (8,507) (3557) (188) (366) - - (12,716)
At 31 December 2021 - 71,78 20.9% 21,059 879 21,963 114518 1058 . 475,604
CARRYING AMOUNTS EHLE
At 31 December 2021 KB--%t-p=1-R 181,864 135,836 20,440 52,05 196,655 46413 250 52,569 688,265
At 31 December 2020 i 196,487 135,118 16,075 1845 208458 63,997 34 52,184 T35
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iR ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZE-—F+-A=t+—RHIFE

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 19. M¥ - BERRE(E)
(CONTINUED)

The leasehold land, which is held under medium-term lease, and HE L (AP EBBEEREH) REFARFRH -
buildings are situated in the PRC.

The Group as lessee AEEIERAAAN
Right-of-use assets (included in the property, plant FEREEEGIAYE  BERRE)
and equipment)

The analysis of right-of-use assets by class of underlying asset is as RAAEERRSEREEEZ T ¢
follows:

2021 2020

—B-—F —ETHF

HK$'000 HK$’000

FExT FAT

Leasehold land THELTH 135,836 135,118
Leased premises HEMZE 20,140 16,075

155,976 151,193

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognised in FRATERER2HEZ X HIBER ST :
profit or loss is as follows:

2021 2020
—EB-_—F ZETF
HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets by ZIRAEEREID 2 (FEREEERE
class of underlying assets: BR -
Leasehold land HE L 2,880
Leased premises HEME 9,761
Motor vehicles i 58
12,699
Expense relating to short-term leases and HESHEEAERAERET—EAR
other leases with lease terms end within i A E R M EEE 2 B
12 months from date of initial application 2,498
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARe SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—Z-—Ft+-A=1+—HIFE

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (included in the property, plant

and equipment) (Continued)

Total cash outflow for leases in 2021 was approximately

HK$13,056,000 (2020: approximately HK$12,736,000).

Total additions to right-of-use assets in 2021 was approximately

HK$15,654,000 (2020: HK$2,604,000).

For both years 2021 and 2020, the Group leases various offices,
warehouses and motor vehicles for its operations. Lease contracts

are entered into for fixed term of 2 years to 5 years.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions. In determining the lease
term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the
Group applies the definition of a contract and determines the period

for which the contract is enforceable.

In addition, the Group owns several leasehold land where its
manufacturing facilities and office buildings are primarily located.
The Group is the registered owner of these leasehold land. Lump
sum payments were made upfront to acquire these leasehold land.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for leased

premises and equipment.
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13,056,000 (=T =T 4 : 412,736,000
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iR ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZE-—F+-A=t+—RHIFE

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 20. EFEE
License Development
fee cost Total
2hE BRRAR @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT AT THT
COST BA
At 1 January 2020 R-Z-Z5—f—R 271,766 478,800 750,566
Exchange rate adjustments EXFE 7,520 32,640 40,160
Additions NE 111,139 186,105 297,244
Write-off HisH (47,824) - (47,824)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 45) HEMTB AR (Fi3H45) (39,921) (124,145) (164,066)
At 31 December 2020 and RZZEZZTF+-A=+—-HR
1 January 2021 —Z-—F—-f—H 302,680 573,400 876,080
Exchange rate adjustments R 3,470 16,551 20,021
Additions AE 100,717 219,312 320,029
Write-off HisH - (1,072) (1,072)
At 31 December 2021 RZE-_—F+-A=1+—H 406,867 808,191 1,215,058
AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT BHRAE
At 1 January 2020 WZZZTF—A—H 45,241 10,708 55,949
Exchange rate adjustments ERFE - 958 958
Charge for the year AEERE 14,958 3,245 18,203
Eliminated upon write-off MsHia L (47,824) - (47,824)
Impairment provision for the year AFERERR 3,840 - 3,840
At 31 December 2020 and RZZZZFET-A=+—HK
1 January 2021 e 16,215 14,911 31,126
Exchange rate adjustments ExE 347 2,213 2,560
Charge for the year AEERE 9,154 19,899 29,053
Eliminated upon write-off MisHE 8 - (715) (715)
Impairment provision for the year AFERERRE 78,888 151,621 230,509
At 31 December 2021 RZZ=——F+=-fA=1—H 104,604 187,929 292,533
CARRYING AMOUNTS RESH
At 31 December 2021 R=F=—F+-A=1+-H 302,263 620,262 922,525
At 31 December 2020 RZE-_FF+-_A=1+—H 286,465 558,489 844,954
During the year 2020, acquisition cost of HK$77,500,000 license fee RZTE_TFE - WEKA77,500,000%TE
was non-cash transaction. Details are further disclosed in note 45 to FMEAIEFERH o FIBRERE W HBREM 45
the consolidated financial statements. E— R -
Included in HK$922,525,000 intangible assets, there was no £ A%0922,525,0008 c 2 EREES T - HIE
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives (2020: Nil), and ETREAFAFHCBEEEE(ZEFF :
HK$723,816,000 (31 December 2020: HK$749,280,000) intangible ) - Mm723,816,0008 (=T —=F+—_ 7
assets are not yet available for use as at 31 December 2021. =+—H8 : 749,280,000/8 L) EFLEEN —Z

Z—F+-A=t+—BERAHEER -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARe SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—Z-—Ft+-A=1+—HIFE

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Impairment of intangible assets

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the management of the
Company has conducted a review of its intangible assets portfolio.
After considering the continuous reforms of drug pricing mechanisms
by the Chinese authority and the tight competition for drugs which
are covered by the Volume-Based Procurement, the Group has
made a full impairment of HK$40,195,000 (comprising of license fee
HK$35,816,000 and development cost HK$4,379,000) on Rasilez®, a
launched oral antihypertensive licensed-in product of the Group.

In additions, the management of the Company has implemented
tight measure on resource allocation for its existing research and
development portfolio with more focus will be given to prioritised
projects, and decided to postpone a total of 14 development
programmes. A total of HK$190,314,000 impairment provision
(comprising of license fee HK$43,072,000 and development costs
HK$147,242,000) was made.

Development programme

The Group has over 40 early- to late-stage development in various
therapeutics areas. Key development programme is set out below:

1. Anfibatide

Anfibatide is a new molecular entity discovered and
developed by the Group. It is a first-in-class platelet
GPIba receptor antagonist that has fast onset, potent, and
reversible antithrombotic effect among healthy subjects
without impairing coagulation or prolonging bleeding time.
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, Anfibatide was not
ready for sales and the Group continues the underlying
research and development activities. As such, it is subject
to annual impairment test based on its recoverable amount.
Management determined the recoverable amount of this asset
using the value in use calculations. These calculations use
cash flow projections based on management’s expectations of
timing of commercialisation, royalty rate and success rate of
commercialisation over useful life of Anfibatide. The valuation
is considered to be level 3 in the fair value measurement
hierarchy due to unobservable inputs used in the valuation.
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20. BILEE (&)

HEEEERE
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FEE RBY Y EEMIRFERE - UARER
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BB A (AEECHEEHN D Ri=MmES|
HEER)TE28URE40,195,0008 T (2EE
F|%35,816,00078 7T & B ZE K 44,379,000
JT) °

o - RAREREE RAR ARG HEK
REESHTERERDEER  RERNEE
HE  WREHEX14TBEFREIRE - 2EH
5 3£190,314,0008 TR ER B (RIEHEN &
43,072,000% 7T I [ 3 B A< 147,242,000 &
JT)

FZEH

REBETRREEREGBA40IED RN T
M2 AR NIER - T2RBEBEHIIM
T

1. ZRIEMHK

ZIFEMARNEERENAZENTD TE
B2 REHAIM/MRGPIba AL A
ERRZHAETEGRRBK - AREA
BPHRMEER - TEIEZRMmIEEKE
REMERE RZTEZ—FRZZT_FF
+=ZA=+—8 ' ZIFEERERATEHE
& MASEEERETHBTERARE
g o Bt - RIFEMAENEATIRE S
ETEERENE - BEBERTEREE
ATERETZEEZAIRESE o T
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Development programme (Continued)

1.

Anfibatide (Continued)

With the assistance of an external appraiser, management
determined the recoverable amount of Anfibatide based on the
following approach and the key assumptions:

. Anfibatide will be launch in year 2025 based on the
research and development process and experience of
the approval process;

. The estimated royalty rate by reference to general
pharmaceutical market;

. The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflects specific
risks relating to the relevant products; and

. The expected success rate of commercialisation by
reference to practices of pharmaceutical industries,
development of technologies and related regulations
from administrations.

The key assumptions used for fair value calculation as at 31
December 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

iR IR T
For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_ZE-_—F+-_A=+—HILFE
l /\\\ﬁ/ﬁE (I%E.)
FIZIEH (&)

1. ZIFEIREE)
ENBTFEM BT - EREERA TS
$HREBHERETRIINOTRELH

. IR M B R R E I BEN
& RIEBRBR _—T_AFE

HEH
. SREBEZTHSHNGTFH
HE

J PR MBRIR R BHIAT + A R R AR
HRMERB NS ERR R

J SIREZER] - BAMERRABT
E&/X%E?%tlj BV FREAR LRI X o

RZEZ—FR-ZT_TF+-_A=1+—
At EAFEFRANESBBRLT «

2021 2020
—EB_—F ZETF

Pre-tax discount rate HURIRAER
Expected success rate of commercialisation — FEERE(LA N =
Recoverable amount (HK$'000) Al El SR8 (T T)
Carrying amount (HK$'000) BRESRE(THT)

13.64% 14.25%

20.7% 20.7%
144,040 125,555
139,129 118,394

Based on the result of impairment assessment, there was no
impairment as at 31 December 2021 and 2020.

EWREFEER R_F_—Fk=
“EE+ A=+ —RWERE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HE —F+-A=+—HIFE
20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 0. BEEE (&)
Development programme (Continued) BI%IEE (&)
1. Anfibatide (Continued) 1. ZIFEHEKRE)
Impairment test - sensitivity IR B — U=
The Group has performed sensitivity test by increasing AEEEE B EF0.35% % A B IR R 5
0.35% of pre-tax discount rate or decreasing 3% of expected T #3% T8 Bl e s 1T SR ERIE, - TER
revenue, which are the key assumptions for determining the BEMESHERFTE - BRIRIE R RTEH
recoverable amount of the intangible asset, with all other WaDhEEEFEEARBEENEER
variables held constant. The impacts on the amount by which B HEFEAENRECEBLEERS
the intangible asset’s recoverable amount above its carrying BoEmE(m EEFOFENT

amount (headroom) are as below:

Headroom A = Z2fE

Impact by increasing pre-tax discount rate  _EFFBIBAIR R FE

Impact by decreasing expected revenue TR G2

Considering the headroom available based on the assessment, ZRIGEEAEHR EEH  EBERA
the management consider that a reasonably possible change HABEEERESEMEKBENEER
in the key assumptions on which management has based on H2 SRR REEB T SELRERSE -

its determination on the asset’s recoverable amount would not
cause an impairment loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iR ISR MR

21. GOODWILL

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZE-—F+-A=t+—RHIFE

21, B8

2021
B
HK$'000

FTERT

COST

At beginning of the year

Recognised on acquisition of a subsidiary
(Note 44)

B

RE]

Ui — T B A RIFFRERR
(FfzE44)

6,242

6,242

2,342

2,342

At end of the year PRER
IMPAIRMENT RE

At beginning of the year REL
Impairment loss recognised EFER 2 R EE R
At end of the year RER
CARRYING AMOUNTS IRE&%E

At end of the year RER

3,900

Impairment testing on goodwill

Bl (5

2020
—ECEF
HK$’000
FAT

3,900

2,342
6,242

2,342
2,342

3,900

Goodwill is assessed for impairment annually irrespective of whether
there is any indication of impairment.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill has been allocated
to the following CGUs. At the end of the reporting period, the
carrying amount of goodwill mainly represents goodwill arising from:

FEEGFETREN G - THEBHEREDR -

RETREIR  BEDOREATHRSELSE
i - R|MEHR - BEZREASBEZEREAUT
BHEMELZEHE

Licensed-in products CGU
Proprietary products CGU

SEEMREELEN
ENERREELEM

At end of the year

RER

2021 2020
—E-—F T TF
HK$'000 HK$’000

FHT FHT

3,900 3,900
3,900 3,900

For the purpose of impairment testing, the recoverable amounts of
the CGUs are determined by value-in-use calculations by using cash
flow projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year
period. The discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is 10%
per annum (2020: 10% per annum).

Based on assessment, the recoverable amount of Licensed-in
product CGU will be less than its carrying amount and accordingly
the Group recognised an impairment loss of HK$2,342,000 on
goodwill during the year ended 31 December 2020, which is grouped
under “other gain and losses, net” in profit or loss.

Based on assessment, the recoverable amount of Proprietary
products CGU is higher than its carrying amount and accordingly,
management of the Group determined that there is no impairment
of goodwill for both years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

BETRENR  REELEN 2 AIRE S E
AEBEFEEEE  EFERBREAFHZH
BEEETRESREEANF;E - EARBESR
EBAZAHRERETFIO%(ZE_ZF : §F
10%) °

RIRFHEER  slEEMB S EE B 2T E
SHEERNEFEESE  HAKERBE_FT—
TEF A=t HUEFERABERERR
2,342,000 7T + st AR A2 [ Bl e K e
BFEl -

R EER - SHERR S EEBAZ A KE
THEaRNEENSE  HASEEREETHE
R FRITFEFTA=t+—HIEME
FEWEEAERE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARe SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—Z-—Ft+-A=1+—HIFE

22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

The movements in the Group’s interests in associates during the
year are as follows:

22. REHERTZ2HE

AREBFEARBZE AR ZEREFHNT

At beginning of the year REH]
Additions NE

Share of post-acquisition loss AIEUEER BB
Share of exchange reserve DAGEE &
Share of option reserve AMERERERE

Loss on deemed disposal of interests
in associates

BRI ER L R RS 2 BB

At end of the year PRER

Details of the Group’s associates at the end of the reporting period
are as follow:

Place of Proportion of
Name of incorporation/ ownership interest
associate operations held by the Group
AEEERL
BENTERH Y S P R e )

Powder Pharmaceuticals Incorporated British Virgin Islands/

2021
=
33.92%

(*PPI") (Note a) Hong Kong
LaEEERAR([TR])(Fiza) HBRELEHE/BH 33.92%

RIT Biotech (Holding) Company Limited  British Virgin Islands/

("RIT") (Note b) Hong Kong
RIT Biotech (Holding) Company Limited ~ ®BELZEE /& 24.08%
(TRIT])(PFizEb)
Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited ("ZKO")  British Virgin Islands*/ N/A
Hong Kong (Note 22(ii))
KRIEERIBRAR ([ KRR ) EBELEE*/FE TER
(BfEE22(ii))
ZERO Biotech Company Limited ("ZERO") Hong Kong/Hong Kong 36.32%
BNEDEEBRAR(ERM]) B/ BE 36.32%
&3 Incorporated in British Virgin Islands and redomiciled to the Cayman

Islands on 2 June 2020.

24.08%
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33.92%

33.92%

24.08%

24.08%

33.58%

33.58%

N/A

NEm

2021 2020
B T TF
HK$'000 HK$’000

THET FHT

6,056 15,802
3,632 182,222
(3,495) (11,414)

46 314
28 55
(180,923)

6,056

RIBERR - AEEBERARZFEOT

Proportion of

voting rights held  Principal
by the Group activities
@B
ERLLp TEEH
2021 2020
SE--F e
33.92% 33.92% Development,
manufacturing and
sale of pharmaceutical
products
33.92% 33.92% HE SERHEER
24.08% 24.08% Operate a central
pharmacy for
compounding
radiopharmaceuticals
24.08% 24.08% REESHGERY PR
25
N/A 33.58% Development,
(Note 22(ii)) manufacturing
and marketing of
ophthalmic drugs
TEA 33.58% F% - HEREHREEY
(Bf3E22(ii))
36.32% N/A  Not yet commenced
business
36.32% NER  mARFBREE

* REBREZHSEMRLIN T _TF A
HEMEZERSHS -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

Fo

Are SRR M

r the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZE-—F+-A=t+—RHIFE

22, P& N TF 2 s ()

Notes: P 5E -

a PPI has two wholly-owned subsidiaries, Powder Pharmaceuticals (HK) a TLEEREEENBAR - DR ABES L L%
Co., Limited (incorporated in Hong Kong) and Powder (Guangzhou) HXERAR (RBEBEMKL) KL (BN ) BE3
Pharmaceuticals Co., Limited* (incorporated in PRC), and are engaged ARAB(RPREIMKL) - 5% - 2ER
in developing, manufacturing and trading of pharmaceutical products. BEEES -

b RIT has a wholly-owned subsidiary, RIT Biotech Company Limited, which b RIT 2 2 & B2 & ARIT Biotech Company

is incorporated in Hong Kong and is engaged in operating a central
pharmacy for compounding radiopharmaceuticals.

Summarised financial information of
associates

(i)

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s
associates is set out below. The summarised financial
information below represents amounts shown in the associates’
financial statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

All of these associates are accounted for using the equity
method in these consolidated financial statements.

(i)

Limited » RNEBEMAR L R FLEE S BET
B 2 hREESE

BE LR ZHMBEREE

BRASEBZE AR ZMBERBEEERS
W o AT BERBERRIEEEHB
HREAERIPTARELZ B R B R TSR PR
RZEH °

FAZEHE DRI RAERENZ SR
BHBHRPALRK -

PPI RIT ZERO
T RIT =gl
31 December 31 December 31 December
+=A=+—-H +=A=+—-H +=A=+—-H

*

2021 2020 2021 2020 2020
ZE-F mbdnblal T —F Embdubdcll T 5 Bmbdmioad
HK$'000 HK$'000 B L€30 0] HK$'000 B L300 HK$'000

T TR TR TR THT

Current assets RBAE 21,788 6,712
Non-current assets FRBEE 43,222 8,168
Current liabilities RBEE 152,275 2,854
Non-current liabilities ERBaY - 1,048

For identification purpose only
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HE-_ZT——

FH—A=+—RHIFE

22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
(CONTINUED)

(i)

Summarised financial information of
associates (Continued)

PPI

Eoied

=

Year
ended
2021
BHE
—BC-—F
IHEE
HK$'000
THER

Revenue Iz

Loss from operations TR (21,382)
Loss for the year AEEEIE (26,374)
Other comprehensive Hi 2k

income
Total comprehensive AEELAMZEE

expense for the year
Dividend received during ~ AEEZUWALE

the year

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group has
unrecognised share of loss of associates of approximately
HK$784,954,000 (2020: HK$83,771,000). As at 31 December
2021, after deducting an amount of HK$862,881,000
corresponding to ZKO which has ceased to be an associate of
the Company on 29 April 2021, the cumulative unrecognised
share of loss of associates is approximately HK$5,844,000 (31
December 2020: HK$83,771,000).

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F R B2 AL A R A 7]

—EoEE
HK$'000

8,801 8,243

(22,229)
(26,489)

(25,617) (1,594) (€23) N/A TR

22, P& N TF 2 s ()

(i) BERFZHBEENHE
(&
RIT ZERO
RIT B

Year Year Year Year

ended ended ended ended
2021 2020 2021 2020
BZE HE BZ BHE
=t b i T T ombcl — T T
LEE IHFE LEE IEFE
GG HK$'000 EGLEOLIOE HK$'000
TiER FAT TEr FHAT

20,064 LYy =

(€M1 (10,072) (22) [V b
(€W1I0) (10,191) (CX)IN/A RiEA

I N/A REA

REBE-Z-—F+-_A=+—HIFE £&
B 2 KRR EH SR RE1E4 /784,954,000

BL(—E-F4 : 83,771,000 T) - K-
——F+-A=+—8  KSMEEKRRERR =
T-—FPPA= HLEIT@%ZK/Aﬁzaﬁﬁ%@
Eﬁ%%ﬁsez 881,000/87T - ;%#%EE%%EH@

AREIEIE4 755,844,000 (=T =_TF+=
BA=+—H :83,771,000/87T) °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SR IS SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZE-—F+-A=t+—RHIFE

22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 22, REFENT 2= (4E)
(CONTINUED)
(i) Summarised financial information of (i) BELGAZHBEEXHE
associates (Continued) (#&
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information BB AR E RN AR B RERAZ
to the carrying amount of the interests in the associates in the BN AR RESEHRAT

consolidated financial statements is as follows:

PPI RIT ZERO
31 December 31 December 31 December
EEE RIT =l
+=-A=+—H +=A=+—H +=B=+—H

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
ol Sl — T T bl T TF Bl — T TF
HK$'000 HK$'000 B L€30 0] HK$'000 B L300 HK$'000
T T THET FHx THT FHT

Net (liabilities) assets
Proportion of the Group’s
ownership interests

Goodwill

(BEFR)EERE (87,265) pE@¥I)N 10,978 12,573 9,978

Carrying amount of the
Group’s interests

AL B AR S

ERPLON  33.92% [PZNELVE  24.08% [EIBPLTMMN/A TEA
B PRI 23,995 = = ol N/A NER
AL B D 2 REEE

N/A TEH

= 3,029 2,643 3,027
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ARe SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE —F+ZA=+—HILFE

22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
(CONTINUED)

(ii) Deemed disposal of interests in
associates

For the year ended 31 December 2021

On 29 April 2021, ZKO is listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange ("ZKO Listing”) by issuing new shares. Immediate
before ZKO Listing, the Company, through a wholly-owned
subsidiary, indirectly controls approximately 33.575% of the
total issued share capital of ZKO. Upon the completion of ZKO
Listing, the Company, through a wholly-owned subsidiary,
indirectly controls approximately 25.823% of the total issued
share capital of ZKO. Since the Group will not exercise
significant influence over the operation of ZKO, ZKO ceased
to be an associate of the Company and is accounted for as
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income thereafter. This transaction has resulted in the Group
recognising a gain of HK$2.3 billion in profit or loss grouped

22, P& N TF 2 s ()

(ii) BEBHERBE L7 2B
BE_2_-F+-A=t—HL
FE

R-ZZE-—FWNA=+hA - KERREE
%éfﬁ%ﬁ%’ﬁ&ﬁﬁ*“ﬁﬁﬁ&tm(Ubﬂﬂﬁﬂ
E]) o REEKBIREL ETAT - AR
S — 2 AN B A R ML MHE
BB B 1TAIR AN 42 %8 4)33.575% ° RIKE
RE EWREKE - ARRKH—MEEN
BB E KRR B BT AL
i@zs 823% - HRASKEEIKBIREL Z
HERESATYE  BREKRIRETH
AADBZEENT - WREEBARYIE
BATEEBEMEZEKEIEREZHIEE
B o AR %L,iﬁzzx%@wamﬁ&u m;E
ﬁ[ﬁﬂﬂu& = M E1EF R | 2 e

under the line “other gains and losses, net”, calculated as CHETEAOT
follows:
HK$'000
FET
Fair value of investment retained (Note) BERBZHEATFEHE) 2,321,626
Less: Carrying amount of the investment on the B REREKBRBIZEAFENER  REZ
date of loss of significant influence of ZKO IRE®EH =

Gain recognised in profit or loss

B EEHER 2 Wt

2,321,626

Note: The fair value was based on the offer price of ZKQO'’s initial public
offering.

For the year ended 31 December 2020

RIT issued certain ordinary shares to key staff in February
2020 and the Group subscribed certain new shares from RIT
in September 2020, and the Group’s equity interest in RIT was
effectively diluted from 24.12% to 24.08%, and recognised
a loss on deemed disposal of interest of approximately
HK$282,000.

Following the reduction of equity interest in ZKO from
50.117% to 48.539% in October 2020 as disclosed in note 45
to the consolidated financial statements, the Group’s equity
interest in ZKO was further diluted to 33.575% after the issue
of series B preferred shares by ZKO, and the Group recognised
a loss on deemed disposal of interest of approximately
HK$180,641,000 in November 2020.

In aggregate, the Group recognised a total loss on deemed
disposal of interests in associates of approximately
HK$180,923,000 in profit or loss which was included in “other
gains and losses, net” in 2020.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F R B2 AL A R A 7]

Bk . AFEDEAKFERERAMBED
HEEHE o

BE-—Z_ZF+-A=+—HL
EE

RITR=ZZT-_TF_AR@ARE THITE
FEBR  AEBTR_Z=_FNAM
RITRMEE TG + ASBRRITZ AR
BB H24.12% #5825 24.08% W HER
RAHEER 2 E5E4282,000/87T °

p&ﬁﬂiﬁ/\ﬁﬁwiﬁ‘zﬁmﬁ45ﬁﬁ}&é§ BEE
REMBRBZEER_—_ZT_TF+ AR
50.117% 3 4> % 48.539% * 7N & B 7
KRR REERB RN —F —FF
T—REIBRINEBEBIRE - HEEE
33.575% @ WHERR/HE# R 2 EIE
#7180,641,000/57T °

RAFE  AEENERBERE AL S
%A\j%mZEﬂEﬁ@%ﬁfGlSO 923,000/
T AR _TEZ[ B RERE
%EJIN



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Are SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BHE_T-—F+-A=+—HILFE

23. RNV EBEBRDIR MK
BE

Investments in life insurance

ABRBRERE (Fista)

policies (Note a)

Unlisted warrants (Note b)

FE LR HER (FfaEb)

Club membership debenture MeHEES
Convertible instruments (Note c) ATAR T A (FizEc)

The fair value measurement of these assets are disclosed in note 6
to the consolidated financial statements.

Notes:

These represent the life insurance policies with an insurance company
to insure certain directors of the Company. Under the policy, the
Company is both the beneficiary and the policy holder. The Group is
required to pay an one-off premium payment. The Group can terminate
the policy at any time and receive cash based on the cash value of the
policy at the date of withdrawal (“Cash Value”), which is determined
by the premium payment plus accumulated interest earned minus the
accumulated insurance charges, policy expense charges and a specified
amount of surrender charge if the withdrawal is made between 1st to
15th policy year.

These represent the warrants issued by public and private pharmaceutical
companies operated in the United States.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group recognised a
loss on derecognition upon expiry of certain warrants of approximately
HK$4,584,000 in profit or loss under “other gains and losses, net”.

These represents convertible notes/loan issued by both public and
private pharmaceutical companies (the “Issuers”) operated in the
United States and Switzerland, and they could be converted into equity
instruments of the Issuers. Pursuant to the underlying agreements, the
notes/loan carry interest at 5% to 10% (31 December 2020: 5% to 6%)
per annum and will be matured in years 2022 and 2024 respectively (31
December 2020: years 2021 and 2024, subject to any renewal clause).

2021 2020
—B-—F T
HK$'000 HK$'000

T FT

5,856 5,191
2,288 20,919
3,768 3,200
18,568 8,740
38,050

Ut AR R R — BRI A BRI 2 AJRIBR
B HARFRETESRR - RERE - ARF
R AT EARREREA - AEEAXN—KX
BRE - REBAIBERALRE - WEMRER
BEER ReBE(REEEDKDRS - A
WRSEETVZRENFIN LAMRRRFE
BRAFRBRER REFXBARFTEHEL
BRTFEE(WRNREF —E=+HFHE)EE -

U Ty 2 A R R BN BB 2 SRR

o
g °

BEZ-TF+-A=+—HIFE 58
RERA sk e EFEE B THERNE T
R HERE Him ik 4% L HER 2 518 474,584,00078
JC °

WHEXRERIG T EEZ ARRLEEE LT
([RTADFETZAHRBER B - A5
BABTAZEZTA - RIEAABGE - 25
2R/ BRZENERS%EI0O%(ZE=FF
+=ZA=+—H :5%%6%) ' HRIER=F
ZCFERZT_NFEIH(CT_EF =
A=+—HB: 22— FER-_ZT_NFEI
H o SREHETURR)

Annual Report 2021 3R

177



178
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ARe SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—Z-—Ft+-A=1+—HIFE

24. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 24, BNV EZBHMZE KRS
SR BB EE

THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

Equity securities listed outside Hong Kong REBAIMEE ET 2 BRAES (H:Eb)

(Note b)
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong (Note b) W&# M 2l AES (MizEb)
Unlisted equity securities (Notes a, b) FE R AE S (HizEa « b)

Unlisted partnership investments (Note c) FELETMEBRE (HizEc)

The fair value measurement of these assets are disclosed in note 6
to the consolidated financial statements.

Notes:

a. These represent the Group’s equity interests in private entities
incorporated in Switzerland and the United States.

b. These investments are not held for trading, instead, they are held
for long-term strategic purposes. The directors of the Company have
elected to designate these investments in financial assets at FVTOCI
as they believe that recognising short-term fluctuations in these
investments’ fair value in profit or loss would not be consistent with the
Group'’s strategy of holding these investments for long-term purposes
and realising their performance potential in the long run.

[ These represent partnership interests in private funds.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F R B2 AL A R A 7]

2021 2020
—EC-—F —TTF
HK$'000 HK$’000

FHT FAT

73,610 208,287
787,695 =
78,940 87,199
66,472 82,098

1,006,717 377,584

ZEEEZNTFHEFENGES W BHRRM TR

= o

FfeE

U AR BNt REREMA L FAERZ
P -

ZEREWIFHEEE - AR - ZFREDFE
ERMREEN - ARAEFLEBREZER
ERBEATEEARMEEKRIIRZMBE
E REAREHENASHIAZTREZATF
BZRERRSBEAEEREZSRERRDR
IR FEAEBRARREN KB -

TR FAAES 2 A B o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iR ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZE-—F+-A=t+—RHIFE

24. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 24, AV EERBEMEEKE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE IR I EE (1E)
INCOME (CONTINUED)

The movement of financial assets at FVTOCI for both years ended 31 BE_Z-_—FRK-_ZF-_TF+-_A=1+—H1t
December 2021 and 2020 are as follows: FE  RAFESAEMEEKEYIRZVEE
EZHUT :
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$’000
FHT FAT
At beginning of the year REH] 377,584 614,921
Addition (Note) wna (s 14,113 18,983
Deemed disposal of interest in associates RADEREE QA s
(Note 22(ii)) (BiEE22(ii)) 2,321,626 -
Fair value losses on revaluation BRREM AT EREE TR
recognised, net (1,706,606) (256,320)
At end of the year NG 1,006,717 377,584
Note: Included in HK$14,113,000 (2020: HK$18,983,000) total additions, fict: #7388 14,113,000 8 T (T == F
there was HK$3,386,000 being converted from convertible instruments 18,983,000/8 ) - 3,386,000/%71@%7
(2020: Nil). BRIE(ZE_ZF &) -
25. INVENTORIES 25. 78
2021 2020
—E=-F —TTHF
HK$'000 HK$’000
F#ET FAT
Research materials et 86,114 128,223
Raw materials R 79,663 54,551
Work-in-progress R 35,684 31,943
Finished goods SURK M 129,933 199,660
331,394 414,377
No inventories are carried at net realisable value at both 31 R —FR-ZT-_TF+=-A=+—H "
December 2021 and 2020. EIFERASRFETR ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ire ISR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021

B=E

—F+-A=t—HLEFE

26. TRADE RECEIVABLES

26. EIE Z IR

JEUE 53R R
o BREEEEEE

Trade receivables
Less: Allowances for ECL

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET
169,369 161,282

(1,046) (1,708)
168,323 159,574

The credit period on sales of goods is 30-120 days. The Group has
recognised an allowance for ECL of 100% against all receivables over
365 days because historical experience has been that receivables
that are past due beyond 365 days are not recoverable. Allowances
for ECL are recognised against trade receivables over 180 days
based on estimated irrecoverable amounts determined by reference
to past default experience of the counterparty and an analysis of the
counterparty’s current financial position.

The following is an analysis of trade receivables by age, presented
based on the invoice date and net of allowance for ECL at the end of
the reporting period:

EmiHE 2 EEHR302120A - REED B
HiBB365H 2 BUWFIAER100%ERERE
BiEe REAREELER  AHEB365H2
F‘&“HSZ*”IEBM%H&@ ° BIEAFRIB 1800 2 B &
RANRIB A AR E S RERRAEEE
#E%Eﬁ mikEr N AI R E SR T2EHF 5 28
R OEBR B ERRIEARRPEZ DITETE °

AT RENEERAHME2EEE SRS 73’\&
HRZEREAT - EPENRIRBEEEERE

0-30 days 0£30H
31-120 days 31%120H
121-180 days 121%180H
181-365 days 181%365H

Over 365 days and under 3 years 365H A ER=FIAA

2021 2020
—B=—%F —Z=-TfF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHT
83,225 72,314
79,836 68,058
5,022 2,790
225 16,412

15 =
168,323 159,574

Trade receivables disclosed above include amounts which are past
due at the end of the reporting period for which the Group has
not recognised an allowance for ECL because there has not been
a significant change in credit quality and the amounts are still
considered recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral or
other credit enhancements over these balances nor does it have a
legal right of offset against any amounts owed by the Group to the
counterparty.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F R B2 AL A R A 7]

EXFREZ BRKE SRREERRSHRER
HENAEASEERBREEERRELS
B RRAAEHeBZERERYEEAZHA
RARIAT YR E o AER B 5E L 35 A AR A (R
ER M EMEENRIAR - AR
REBEREF 7 2 SRR -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SR IS SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZE-—F+-A=t+—RHIFE

26. TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 26. FEUNE B BRI ()

Aging analysis of receivables that are past
due but no allowance for ECL provided

EERE i R it B R RIS B IR
12 BN TR 2 Rl 7 4T

2021 2020
—BE--F —ZTEHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHTT
Overdue by: B

1-180 days 1£180H 71,648 84,125
181-365 days 181%=365H 164 858
71,812 84,983

Movement in allowance for ECL FAHEEEEREEE
2021 2020
—EB-_—F ZETF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FHET
Balance at beginning of the year FHHER 1,708 440
Exchange rate adjustments fE Rz 38 98
Write-off HisH (146) (10)
(Credit) charge to profit or loss for the year (Gt A)FIBAFEEZE (554) 1,180
Balance at end of the year FRZER 1,046 1,708

NEERKEZEFES A RER - NEEZE
EWE ZEFAFREER A MREREHR
RIEEEERZ EE8 - iR EPEREARR
EEE  WEESTRARBR -

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the Group
considers any change in the credit quality of the trade receivable
from the date credit was initially granted up to the end of the
reporting period. The concentration of credit risk is limited due to
the customer base being large and unrelated.

EERY i IR EE R
12 EW TR 2 Bl 7 T

Aging analysis of receivables that are
past due and allowance for ECL provided

2021 2020
—B=——F —ETF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET

Overdue by: pe
181-365 days 181%365H 163 858
Over 365 days and under 3 years 365H A ER=FUA 883 850
1,046 1,708
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ire ISR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021

B=E

27.

28.

—F+-A=t—HLEFE

OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENT

27. H

fbEWRRIR - RERFAN
FRIE

2021 2020
—B-—F T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT AT
Utilities and rental deposits NERBERESIES 3,579 3,504
Prepayment for acquisition of plant and WEERR P a8t - IRISARBEE 2 Tt

equipment, services and purchase FIH 99,459 75,597
Prepaid value-added tax TARHEER 28,272 32,891
Others (Note) FHh (=) 31,426 37,089
162,736 149,081

Note:  Others includes receivables from other debtors and advance to staff. et : HteiERREMESAZRBERAFFETIZ

As at 31 December 2021, there was no balance with associates
included in other receivables, deposits and prepayment (31
December 2020: HK$1,194,000) which is arising from the ordinary
course of the Group’s business.

There is no provision for impairment loss on other receivable
recognised in profit or loss for both years ended 31 December 2021
and 2020.

ADVANCE TO ASSOCIATES

This represents the principal and interest receivables from loans to
associates which carry interest rate of 4% (2020: 4%) per annum
and are repayable within one year.

As at 31 December 2021, the management of the Company assessed
the recoverability of the advance to associates and made a ECL
provision (stage 3) of HK$90,838,000 (2020: Nil).

As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amount of advance to
associates is Nil, net of HK$90,838,000 ECL provision (31 December
2020: HK$77,504,000, net of Nil ECL provision).

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F R B2 AL A R A 7]

28.

KA o

MZZBZ—F+=ZA=+—H ' HMhEKXK
e RIEME IEWIHE%ZK%IEI%%%{EPE
FHRBERNRZER(CE_TFTT_A=1—
H : 1,194,000/ 7T) °

BE_Z_—FR-_ZF_THE+_A=1—HBI
MEFE - BEEFME R R R E M 8 W IRRUE S
1REE -

BN FHEQNTZRE
ICHERB R AT L2 B2 A REKHE
IR BEEME(ZBBE : 4) - AR—ERN

8 -

RZZBZ—F+ZA=+—H ARAEEEE

AR TEE AR 2 RIEN A R ERE - I
EfRFE=RREMCEERER(F=RER)

90,838,000/ L( =T —F4F : &) °

R-ZZE-—F+_A=+—H BN FHLQF
ZHREZERSBEAT  EHRCHKESREERE
B518#1% 90,838,000 T (- T - F + = A
=+—H :77,504,000/8 T © &+ KB
EEBERETIT) -



29.

30.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/
TIME DEPOSITS/CASH AND BANK
BALANCES

As at 31 December 2020, pledged bank deposits represent the
Group’s security given to banks for facilities granted to the group
entities and CVie Therapeutics Limited (“CVie Taiwan”), an indirect
investee to the Group which ceased to be a subsidiary to the Group
in year 2018.

The pledged bank deposits would be released within one year and
therefore are classified as current assets.

As at 31 December 2020, time deposits and pledged bank deposits
carry interest rates at 1.95% per annum and at range from 0.00%
to 0.10% per annum respectively. All time deposits and pledged
bank deposits have been released during year 2021.

Bank balances carry prevailing interest rates at both 31 December
2021 and 2020.

TRADE PAYABLES

The following is an analysis of trade payables by age, presented
based on due date, at 31 December 2021 and 2020:

Are SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZE-—F+-A=t+—RHIFE

29. BEFRTER ERER

RERRITER

RZZB-ZF+-A=+—8 BERARTER
BASEREEER P ERERNBRAR
(THhEe’] AEBEZHERRKRET KR-F
—N\FETBRAREE 2B AR ERZBEM
RERTTHR (2 R o

BRI RTR—F AR - A BBRD
Az

RZZBEZZF+_A=+—H  EHERKE
HIRRITERD BHZF A % 1.95% 10.00% =
0.10%:t 8 - RZZZ—FE  IAEHFERK
EHEIRRITFRE LR -

REIBE-—FR-ZT-FTF+_A=+—H R
TR ERIARGTR o

30. BN EZ KRN

UTRERIBMBEMZIENBESERN=-F
——FRZF_TF+_A=+—HBHZEREI

0-90 days 0F90H
91-180 days 91%180H
181-365 days 181%365H
Over 365 days 3658 E

2021 2020
B T TF
HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FHET

56,884 73,060
- 420
5,403 72
312 181
62,599 73,733

The average credit period on purchases of certain goods is 90 days.
The Group has financial risk policies in place to ensure that all
payables are paid within the credit timeframe.

BEETERZFHEEHRRO0R - AREFTE
IS RBRIBCR - BARATE BN BRI B

EZRAEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ire ISR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—Z-—Ft+-A=1+—HIFE

31. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

32.

Contract liabilities
Sales guarantee deposits

Other payables for plant and equipment and

AnaE
HEREEZSE
TGS B AR e B R A% 2 Bt FE A RIR

services
Other tax payables E At fEIFRIE
Obligations under license contract HHE KA
Accrued staff salaries and welfare ZEHEEH M REN
Others (Note) Eh (B
Classified as: R
Current Vi
Non-current FETRED

Note: Others includes payable to other creditors and accrued expenses.

BANK BORROWINGS

Secured bank borrowings classified as
current liabilities (Note a)

Unsecured bank borrowing classified as
current liabilities (Note b)

DE/RBREZ BERRTER (M Ea)

DEARD A EZ EERRTER(ED)

Secured bank borrowings classified as
non-current liabilities

DERIERB B EZ HEIRRITER

Carrying amount of the borrowings are
repayable (Note c):

Within 1 year

After 1 year but not exceeding 2 years

After 2 years but not exceeding 5 years

fEFRARTE & /R T 51 AR (B8 (Pl Ec)

—FR
—FRIETEBRF
MERETEBAF
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2021
—E-—fF
HK$'000
FER

118,312
146,698

208,464
8,136
531
104,712
137,817

724,670

684,670
40,000

724,670

2021
—B_—F
HK$'000

THERT

150,280

12,260
162,540

84,090
246,630

142,540
26,727
77,363

246,630

31. At ERNRERETER

2020
—ToTF
HK$’000
FAT
135,125
163,425

205,082
16,313
571
39,108
131,571

691,195

691,195

691,195

st HtueRENEAERAZAREER -

32. SRITHEM

2020
— BT

—=—=

HK$'000
T

129,457

11,920
141,377

141,377

66,806
54,571
20,000

141,377



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

32. BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

Notes:

As the bank borrowings include a clause that gives the lenders the
unconditional right to call the borrowings at any time ("Repayment
on Demand Clause”), according to Hong Kong Interpretation 5
which requires the classification of whole borrowings containing the
Repayment on Demand Clause as current liabilities, the bank borrowings
were classified as current liabilities.

The bank loan was obtained by a Group’s subsidiary in PRC which is
subject to the fulfillment of covenant as is commonly found in lending
arrangements with financial institutions. At 31 December 2020, the
Group’s subsidiary did not fulfill the covenant imposed by bank on the
bank loan and the entire bank loan which was long-term borrowing
was re-classified as current liabilities in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

The table is based on the agreed repayment schedule provided by
banks.

Bank borrowings carry floating interest rates which is adjusted with
reference to Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate, Prime Rate or Loan
Prime Rate at both 31 December 2021 and 2020. As at 31 December

2021
from

, the effective interest rates of Group’s bank borrowings ranged

1.39% to 3.85% (31 December 2020: 1.75% to 3.85%) per

annum.

The Group’s bank borrowings are denominated in the following

Are SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZE-—F+-A=t+—RHIFE

32. SRITIER ()

FifaE

a. HNRTTE B B T B 7 S A I BB B e 430
AR ([RERBRIRI]) - UREFER
BESH (AR ARBEIETIR . BEEERIEA
ARBARE)  RITERSIBRRSARE -

b. FZRTERBAEE —HHEREARREG - A
BT BRI S HAB AT L8 R HE 2 Rk © E"
—EREA+_A=+—R AEEZWEA
IﬂEﬁiE%ﬁﬁEﬁEwﬁﬂﬂzyﬁﬁ fﬁlﬁﬁ%ﬁ

HERBERITERERGESMBIRARER
Aﬁﬁmu%ﬁgﬁ °

G ZERARITIRM 2 W R IR RIS MR B AR o

R_B_—FR_ZF_ZFF+_F=+—0 R
TEFBRZHME (K2 EERBRITRERS
REBMNEZERREEFNEELAR)FE
NZZE_—F+-A=+—8 AKERTEKX
ZEBENENTF1.39%%E3.85%(ZF=FF
+TZA=+—H:1.75%%3.85%) °

AEERITERATIIEEFHE

currencies:
2021 2020
—E-—-F T oTF
HK$'000 HK$’000
FExT FAT
Hong Kong Dollars I 209,722 100,627
United States Dollars E7T 24,648 28,830
Renminbi AR 12,260 11,920
246,630 141,377
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—Z-—Ft+-A=1+—HIFE

33. LEASE LIABILITIES

Within 1 year —FR

After 1 year but within 2 years —F&EMFNA
After 2 years but within 5 years REZERER

After 5 years hFE
Less: Total future interest B RRA B B
expenses

Present value of lease liabilities FfHE&ERE

Lease obligations are denominated in currencies of the functional

currencies of the relevant group entities.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F R B2 AL A R A 7]

33. HEERE

2021
—E=

Present
value of
the lease
payments
HEMARRE
HK$'000
FHET

12,639

6,118
1,751

7,869
20,508

2020
—&F —ETF

Present

value of
Total lease the lease Total lease
payments payments payments
LN GRE bl THERIRE  HEENRERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT AT AT
12,977 7,828 8,259
6,221 6,338 6,499
1,761 1,164 1,204
7,982 7,502 7,703
20,959 15,330 15,962
(451) (632)
20,508 15,330

HEREUERAEEER 2EEKEHE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZE-—F+-A=t+—RHIFE

34. DEFERRED TAXATION 34, EERIE
The following is the major deferred tax balances recognised and NTARAFERBAFERR L EBIRIERIE
movements thereon during the current and prior years: EHRREEE)
Deferred tax (assets) liabilities EEHE(EE)EE
Accelerated Tax on
tax Intangible unrealised Right-of-use Lease
depreciation assets profit assets liabilities Total
AEREA
NERERE BYEE 2B EREEE BERE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thn Thn TFhL ThL Thr Thn
At 1 January 2020 R-Z-FF-A-R 604 70,858 (14,181) 3,681 (3,529) 57,433
Exchange difference ERES - 4,835 - 151 (144) 4,842
(Credit) charge to profit or loss (FAB&)BEAAR (319) 25,882 (4,530) (1,373) 1,333 20,993
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 45) L EMEAR(H45) - (20,005) - - - (20,005)
At 31 December 2020 and RZBZEETZA=1T-AR
1 January 2021 . S 25 81,570 (18,711) 2,459 (2,340) 63,263
Exchange difference EiER - 2,110 - 64 (62) 2,112
(Credit) charge to profit or loss (AR B BRI (475) (4,220) 3312 968 (1,157) (1,572)
At 31 December 2021 H-E--%+-A=1-A (190) 79,460 (15,3%9) 3,491 (3,559) 63,803
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of MG ATERRAERRYME  BERBEEERE
financial position, deferred tax assets and liabilities have been BEEIEE - LT AEPBEBRRZ AELERE
offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for AERR DT ¢
financial reporting purposes:
2021 2020
—B-—F —TTF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Deferred tax assets RIETIEE &= (15,424) (18,729)
Deferred tax liabilities BEFIAAE 79,227 81,992
63,803 63,263
Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed on BEFBRCEMEHE BTSN\ F—A—H
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by the PRC #2 o BB A R FATREUE RIS IR 2 S AR
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has NTEIFL o BHAZNER B BE St i 5 ol h BT B A
not been provided for in the consolidated financial statements in AR R A FE(E E R =58 4562 B B8 T
respect of temporary differences attributable to accumulated profits (ZZ=ZTF : 599F 88 ) KA ZEY K
earned by the PRC subsidiaries amounting to approximately HK$562 ZRER A TE R G R Al RE N2 0] - MR A B3R

million (2020: HK$599 million) as the Group is able to control the KAV EFRZ S YR T IRBRERIA -
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable

that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable

future.
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HE —F+-A=+—HIFE
35. SHARE CAPITAL 35. A
Number of shares
RPEE

Authorised: Py

Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each SRMEE0.05B T Rk
Issued and fully paid: BRETRERR :

At beginning of the year REH

Exercise of share options (Note a) Gd- i AGES)

At end of the year RER

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the movement in the
Company’s share capital is as follows:

(a) A total of 710,000 (2020: 205,000) new shares were issued
upon exercise of 710,000 (2020: 205,000) share options
under the Company’s share option schemes at an aggregate
consideration of HK$3,543,000 (2020: HK$446,000) (net
of issuance cost) of which HK$36,000 (2020: HK$10,000)
was credited to share capital and the remaining balance of
HK$3,507,000 (2020: HK$436,000) was credited to the share
premium account. In addition, an amount attributable to the
related share options of HK$1,771,000 (2020: HK$231,000)
has been transferred from share-based compensation reserve
to the share premium account.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F R B2 AL A R A 7]

588,125,343
710,000

SOODOLIFLOE  1,000,000,000

587,920,343
205,000 36

588,835,343 588,125,343

Share capital
R

2021 2020
—E-—f —E-TE
HK$'000 HK$'000

THAT THT

50,000

29,406

29,442

WBE-F-—F+-A=t+BLEER &
ARRAZEHIT :

(a)

B & AR A 7] g AR # 5+ #1147 £ 710,000
B(ZZE =T : 205,000 ) BE B 4
BBEBEITAE710,000 (T =%
4 : 205,000 ) Ak - BRE A
3,543,000/ 0 (=T =2 F : 446, 000
L) (FBREITA) + EH 36,0008
T(ZZ-Z 4 : 10,0008 T) st A%
AN - H#:3,507,0008 (T =T :
436,000/ 7)) 5t AR S (EIR © Hoh -
$HE§@§HQ$E}?E{E*”151 771,000% 7t (=
T T4 ¢ 231, ooo/ﬁn)aftéuﬂxfﬁfz
o2 B R = B m (B AR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

36. RESERVES

Share premium

Share premium represents the difference between the nominal value
and the issuing value of the shares of the Company.

Merger difference

Merger difference represents the difference between the nominal
value of the shares of the acquired subsidiaries and the nominal
value of the Company’s shares issued for the acquisition at the time
of the Group’s reorganisation prior to the listing of the Company’s
shares in 2002.

Share-based compensation reserve

Share-based compensation reserve comprises the fair value of share
options granted which are not yet exercised.

Other reserves

Other reserves represent (i) the difference between the
consideration and the carrying amount of the net assets attributable
to the reduction of, or additions of, interests in subsidiaries being
disposed to, or acquired from, non-controlling interests; and (ii)
share of associates’ reserve.

Investments revaluation reserve

Investments revaluation reserve represents the cumulative fair
value changes, net of tax, of financial assets at FVTOCI until they
are disposed of or impaired.

Exchange reserve

Exchange reserve relating to the translation of the net assets of
the Group’s foreign subsidiaries from their functional currencies to
the Group’s presentation currency are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange reserve.
Such exchange differences accumulated in the exchange reserve
will reclassified to profit or loss upon the disposal of the foreign
subsidiaries.

Are SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZE-—F+-A=t+—RHIFE

36. f#i&

BfraEiE AR RRDEERETEEZMHNE
e

BHfER
AHEREMUEHBAR Z RHEERR =T

T FARAIRR ETATETASEEAR R
BmETARRRMN 2 AEZ MNERE -

LRGZ 2B E # 1

AR S 1 2 Bl & R 2R B R B M R ETT 8
Z B DA

Rftbi#fE

RO RNEEE DB G St R 2
P i s W s Y /B A B T 2A & o A R AR I A5 03 B
ERASHEHNER KD EBE AR 2R
o

REEG

REEGHHREBIERATEEBE M2 EKRTIR
2 HBEER N ESRER 2 R A FEE S (0
BIR) -

B 5 e

BRBAKEBINIB AR < EEFENEINEE
ERBRELAREESRER ZER FHERERE
2 EREER IR E L EERA - ZEEER
R 2 EXZEENHE SN E A RRE

MoREEE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—Z-—Ft+-A=1+—HIFE

37. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company

The Company’s share option scheme (the 2002 Share Option
Scheme”) and new share option scheme (the "New Share Option
Scheme”, together with the 2002 Share Option Scheme referred
to as “"Share Option Schemes”) were adopted on 26 June 2002
and 10 May 2012 respectively for the primary purpose of providing
incentives to directors, eligible employees, advisers and consultants.

For the 2002 Share Option Scheme, the total number of shares in
respect of which options may be granted under the scheme is not
permitted to exceed 10% of the shares of the Company (“Shares”)
in issue at the time of listing, without prior approval from the
Company’s shareholders. The number of Shares issued and to be
issued in respect of which options granted and may be granted to
any individual in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of
the Shares in issue, without prior approval from the Company’s
shareholders.

For the New Share Option Scheme, the total number of shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the New Share Option Scheme shall be subject to a maximum
limit of 10% of the Shares in issue on the date on which the New
Share Option Scheme is conditionally adopted and approved by the
shareholders at the AGM, unless the Company obtains an approval
from the shareholders in general meeting to refresh such 10% in
accordance with the Listing Rules. Options lapsed in accordance with
the terms of the New Share Option Scheme will not be counted for
the purpose of calculating such 10%. The overall limit on the number
of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the New Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes must not exceed 30%
of the Shares in issue from time to time.

The exercise price is determined by the directors, and will not be
less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the Shares on the
date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of the Shares for five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the
nominal value of the Shares.
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37. BRHESTE

YT

AR Bl 8 (2R FEIREE )
iRt 3 ([ FBREsT | 2R —TT
FREBMERT B B B D DR T
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37. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
sRa B RS R R MY

(CONTINUED)

The Company (Continued)

Details of the Company’s Share Option Schemes during the current

year are summarised as follow:

Date of grant

RiAH

Category I:

EH:

Directors

EZ

30.12.2013
“3-=£+-A=1H

31.03.2015
“F-56=A=1-R

31.03.2016
“3-/"E=R=t-H

13.04.2017
“E-t4MAT=R

13.04.2018
—2-\fmAT=A

15.04.2019
T NEBATHR

At

1 January

Vesting period 2021
R=B=-%

584 -A-H

30.12.2013 to 29.06.2014
—§-=F1-A=1H

338,000

30.12.2013 to 29.03.2015
“E-=E+-f=tHE
—E-RE=
31.03.2015 to 29.09.2015
“®-1%-A=t-B%
“Z-LFAA=thA
31.03.2015 to 29.06.2016
—B-RfzA=t-AZ
—E-R"EAB=TRA
31.03.2016 to 29.09.2016
—B-REzf=t-RZ
“E-RENA=TRA
31.03.2016 to 29.06.2017
“E-~EZAZt+-BE
Z2-t£RAZThA
13.04.2017 to 12.10.2017
“B-tEMATZAE
“E-t§+A1=H
13.04.2017 to 12.07.2018
“E-tEMATZRE
—2-\EtAt=A
13.04.2018 to 12.10.2018
“3-\EMAt=ZHE
“%-\§+A1=H
13.04.2018 to 12.07.2019
“E-\§MAt=ZRZ
“2-hEtBt+=A
15.04.2019 to 14.10.2019
“B-AEMATERE
“E-NF+A1OA
15.04.2019 to 14.07.2020
“E-LEMATEAZ
Z2-2ELATMA

538,000

669,000

669,000

880,500

880,500

885,000

885,000

684,000

684,000

888,000

888,000

Granted
during
the year

ERRi

No. of options
BREHE

Exercised
during
the year

ERTE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZE-—F+-A=t+—RHIFE

37. B AERT 8 (&)

Lapsed
during
the year

ERER

At
31 December

338,000

538,000

669,000

669,000

880,500

880,500

885,000

885,000

684,000

684,000

888,000

888,000

A 225 (&)

MAERE - AARZ B BIFHERA T

Exercise period

18

30.06.2014 to 29.12.2023

30.03.2015 to 29.12.2023
“E-5f=A=1HE
ZBCZETSASTAA
30.09.2015 to 30.03.2025
“E-TFNA=1RE
“ECRE=A=tA
30.06.2016 to 30.03.2025
—E-XEAAZTHE
ZBCREZAZTA
30.09.2016 to 30.03.2026
“E-~FNA=1RE
“E-AEZA=1A
30.06.2017 to 30.03.2026

5 =tA
13.10.2017 to 12.04.2027
F+A+ZHZ

“E-tEMATCR
13.07.2018 to 12.04.2027
“E-\§tAtzRZE

“B-tEMATZA
13.10.2018 to 12.04.2028
Z3-\f+A+ZHE

“E2-\fmATZR
13.07.2019 to 12.04.2028
“E-hELATZRZE

“B-\EMATZA
15.10.2019 to 14.04.2029
ZB-NFTATERR

“E-AEMATEA
15.07.2020 to 14.04.2029
“E-ZELATREAZ

“B-AEMATEA

Annual Report 2021 3§
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37. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

(CONTINUED)

The Company (Continued)

Date of grant

RiAH

15.04.2020
Z2-TENATERA

21.04.2021
Sl 1)y |

Category II:
F:
Employees

8

08.10.2012
“2——%tANR

05.04.2013
—2-Z4QmATA

30.12.2013
“E=F+-A=1H

192

Vesting period

RS

15.04.2020 to 14.10.2020
“BCBEMATEAZ
“2-EE1ATMA
15.04.2020 to 14.07.2021
“E-EEMATEAZ
“B--EtBtMA
21.04.2021 to 20.10.2021
Z§=-FMA=t-AE
“2--F1A-1A
21.04.2021 to 20.07.2022
“E2--fmAZt-RZE
Sk -y o

08.10.2012 to 07.10.2013
“B-ZEtANRE
£+AtA
08.10.2012 to 07.10.2014
“F--F+ANAE
£+AtR
08.10.2012 to 07.10.2015
“B-ZEtANRE
—E2-BEtAtA
05.04.2013 to 04.10.2013

£1ARA
05.04.2013 to 04.07.2014

30.12.2013 to 29.12.2015

Z§-ZE{2AZ1RE
~EFZAZTAR

30.12.2013 to 29.12.2016

At
1 January

882,000

882,000

400,000

880,000

1,940,000

150,000

150,000

604,000

620,000

650,000

Granted
during
the year

ERRi

882,000

882,000
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37. B AERT 8 (&)

A 225 (&)

No. of options
BREHA
Exercised

during
the year

Lapsed At
during 31 December
the year

ERfTE

ERER

882,000

882,000

882,000

882,000

(200,000) 200,000

(245,000) 635,000

(265,000)

1,675,000

150,000

150,000

604,000

620,000

650,000

Exercise period

118

15.10.2020 to 14.04.2030
ZBCSETATHER
“ezermATRA

15.07.2021 to 14.04.2030
-FtAtEAE
ZBZEMATHA

21.10.2021 to 20.04.2031

- mA=
21.07.2022 to 20.04.2031
Z8-EtASt-RE

08.10.2013 to 07.10.2022
“8-=EtANRE
Z2ZZEtALR
08.10.2014 to 07.10.2022
“2-BETANRE
“R-ZETAA
08.10.2015 to 07.10.2022
2-RFTANRE
Z2ZZEtALR
05.10.2013 to 04.04.2023

ERAMA
05.07.2014 to 04.04.2023
“2-mELAAZ

ERAMA
30.12.2014 to 29.12.2023

~thA
30.12.2015 to 29.12.2023
$-AF+-A=1HE
= A=ThA
30.12.2016 to 29.12.2023
Z8-~E+-A=tRE

Exercise price
per share

SROEE
HK$

b
3.648
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
sRa B RS R R MY

(CONTINUED)

The Company (Continued)

Date of grant

RiAH

07.10.2014
“Z-ME+ALR

03.10.2017
“E-t51+A=R

15.04.2020
“Z-ZFMATRA

Vesting period

RS

07.10.2014 to 29.06.2015
“E-METALAZ
“E-TERA-HAA
07.10.2014 to 02.10.2015
“E-METALAZ
—2-1%E1A-R
07.10.2014 to 29.06.2016
“E-METALAZ
—E-RERA-HAA
07.10.2014 to 02.10.2016
“E-METALAZ
—B-XETAZR
07.10.2014 to 02.10.2017
“E-METALAZ
“E-t51+A=R
03.10.2017 to 02.10.2018
“E-t§1+AZRE
“2-N\EtA=R
03.10.2017 to 02.10.2019
“F-t§tA=RZ
“E-AFt+A=R
03.10.2017 to 02.10.2020
“E-tEtAZRE
“B-2ETACH
03.10.2017 to 02.10.2021
“F-t§tA=RZ
“B--%15=R
15.04.2020 to 14.10.2021
“E-ZEMATERAZ
“E--£1+A10A
15.04.2020 to 14.04.2023
“B-BEMATHAZ
£MATHEA

At
1 January

300,000

250,000

300,000

250,000

250,000

250,000

250,000

250,000

500,000

3,525,000

3,525,000

Granted
during
the year

AR

No. of options

HRERE

Exercised
during
the year

ERfTE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZE-—F+-A=t+—RHIFE

37. B AERT 8 (&)

Lapsed
during
the year

ERER

A 225 (&)

At
31 December

300,000

250,000

300,000

250,000

250,000

250,000

250,000

250,000

500,000

3,525,000

3,525,000

Exercise period

118

30.06.2015 to 06.10.2024
“E-1FRA=1R
Z-ECMEHANA
03.10.2015 to 06.10.2024
“§-1f1AZRE
ZBCMETARA
30.06.2016 to 06.10.2024
REXA=TAHZ

03.10.2018 to 02.10.2027
“8-)\§1+H=RE
“BCtETACR
03.10.2019 to 02.10.2027
“E-7FtAZRE
“E-tE+ACA
03.10.2020 to 02.10.2027
“B-BFTAZRE
“BCtETACR
03.10.2021 to 02.10.2027

15.10.2021 to 14.04.2030
“E--F1+A1EAR
“B=ZEMATAA

15.04.2023 to 14.04.2030
ZEMATERE
“EZEEMATNA
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37. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(CONTINUED)

The Company (Continued)

No. of options

BREHA
At Granted Exercised
1 January during during
Date of grant Vesting period 2021 the year the year

R=B=-F
REAH 584 -B-B EREL AT

23.10.2020 23.10.2020 to 22.10.2021 500,000
ZRCRETACTER “E-RFTA-T=RE
b Jab ) ey
23.10.2020 to 22.10.2022 500,000
CECEELACTE
ZB-ZETACTCR
23.10.2020 to 22.10.2023 500,000
ZBCBETACTERE
b Jat 2 ) ey
23.10.2020 to 22.10.2024 500,000
ZECEETACTZHEE
—Z-n
27,697,000 1,764,000 (710,000)
Exercisable at the end
of the year
RERATHR
Weighted average exercise
price HK$6.107 HK$5.806 HK$4.996
MEHTEE 6.10737 5.806/47 4.996}7

In respect of the share options exercised during current year, the
weighted average share price at the dates of exercise was HK$5.87.

37. B AERT 8 (&)

Lapsed
during
the year

ERER

A 225 (&)

At
31 December

500,000

500,000

500,000

500,000

28,751,000

22,844,000

HK$6.116
6.11637

Exercise period

118

23.10.2021 to 22.10.2030
ZB--%+ACt=HE
“E=EE+ACtCR
23.10.2022 to 22.10.2030
“E--E+A-tZRE
“E-¥FTA-TZA
23.10.2023 to 22.10.2030
“E-=Ft+A-t=RZ
“E=EE+ACtCR
23.10.2024 to 22.10.2030
“E-ME+A-ZRE
“B=BETACTCR

Exercise price
per share

SRITEE
HK$

b
5.310

ENAFEANITRZBIME - R1T6E B #Z niE
FHRER5.878TT

On 21 April 2021, the Company has granted share options to RZZZ—FWNA=+—H ' XARIBRENE
subscribe for a total of 1,764,000 ordinary shares of the Company AR AT B AT R A #£1,764,0000 N A &
under the New Share Option Scheme, and the closing price of the ARz EREE - REERERD BB ZARR
shares of the Company immediately before the date of which the B U T {E A5.6678 7T °

options were granted was HK$5.66.
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37. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(CONTINUED)

The Company (Continued)

Details of the Company’s share option schemes during the prior year
are summarised as follow:

No. of options

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZE-—F+-A=t+—RHIFE

37. B AERT 8 (&)

A 225 (&)

RE—FE @ ARE 2 BIREBIFERm T

BRERA
At Granted Exercised Lapsed At Exercise
1 January during during during 31 December price
Date of grant Vesting period 2020 the year the year the year Exercise period per share
RZB-RF
RILBH SEEE —-R-H FRERL FREAE FRBAH frlEsm BRITEE
HK$
AL
Category I:
£F:
Directors
£Z
30.12.2013 30.12.2013 t0 29.06.2014 338,000 - - - 338,000 30.06.2014 to 29.12.2023 7.300
“Z-=F+-A=1A : g “Z-ME A=1AR
“3-mERAZTAA ZE=EtAZthA
30.12.2013 t0 29.03.2015 538,000 - - - 538,000 30.03.2015 to 29.12.2023 7.300
- —2-7%-A=tRZ
—F-1%=A=tNB “E-=5tA-tAR
31.03.2015 31.03.2015 to 29.09.2015 669,000 - - - 669,000 30.09.2015 to 30.03.2025 11.200
“Z-75=A=1-A “2-f=A=1-H% “Z-RFNA=TRZE
“3-RFNAZTAA ZZ-RF=R=1R
31.03.2015 to 29.06.2016 669,000 - - - 669,000 30.06.2016 to 30.03.2025 11.200
Z3-RF=R=1-R% 3 F/R=TER
“E-AFAAZTAB “Z-Rf=R=1R
31.03.2016 31.03.2016 to 29.09.2016 880,500 - - - 880,500 30.09.2016 to 30.03.2026 5.754
~2-/5=A=1-A “ZFZA=t-RZE 2 ENA=TRE
“3-FNAZTAA Z3F=R=1H
31.03.2016 to 29.06.2017 880,500 - - - 880,500 30.06.2017 to 30.03.2026 5.754
3 F=R=1-R% “2-tF7R=1ER
2t/ AZTNB ~Z5=R=1R
13.04.2017 13.04.2017 t0 12.10.2017 885,000 - A - 885,000 13.10.2017 to 12.04.2027 7.548
“3-tFMAT=R “2-t¥MAt=RZE “3-tF+R+ZER
“E-tE+ATZH “Z-tEMATZA
13.04.2017 to 12.07.2018 885,000 - - - 885,000 13.07.2018 to 12.04.2027 7.548
“2-tEMWA+=RZE “Z-\FtAt=RZ
“E-\FtA+zH “Z_tEMATZA
13.04.2018 13.04.2018 to 12.10.2018 684,000 - - - 684,000 13.10.2018 to 12.04.2028 11.216
—3-)\WA+=R ~3-\fmA+=R% Z3-)\§+R+ZER
“F-\&t+ATZH “2-\§mA+ZA
13.04.2018 to 12.07.2019 684,000 - - - 684,000 13.07.2019 to 12.04.2028 11.216
—2-)\fWA+=RZE “Z-NFtAT=RZ
“E-NELATZA “Z-\¥mA+ZA
15.04.2019 15.04.2019 to 14.10.2019 888,000 - . - 888,000 15.10.2019 to 14.04.2029 7.324
“3-NEWATEA “Z2-N\FMATEAZE ZZ-NFTRTRER
ZE-NETATRA ZR-NEMATRA
15.04.2019 to 14.07.2020 888,000 - - - 888,000 15.07.2020 to 14.04.2029 7.324
“2-NEMATEAZ “2_ZFtAtRAR
“ECEFHATIA NEMATIE
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BE_Z-_—F+-A=1+—HIFE

37. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

(CONTINUED)

37. B AERT 8 (&)

The Company (Continued) AL A (4E)
No. of options
BREA
At Granted Exercised Lapsed At Exercise
1 January during during during 31 December price
Date of grant Vesting period 2020 the year the year the year Exercise period per share
RiLEH ki FRERM FREFE FRBEH frEsmR BRfTiERE
HK$
A
15.04.2020 15.04.2020 to 14.10.2020 = 882,000 = = 882,000 15.10.2020 to 14.04.2030 3.648
“Z-TENATARA “Z-TEMATEAZ $-25+ATRAR
“ZCTETATMA ZE2=TEMATRA
15.04.2020 to 14.07.2021 - 882,000 - - 882,000 15.07.2021 to 14.04.2030 3.648
“Z-TENATRRZE “Z--FtRTRER
“E-—FtATMA “Z-ZEMATMA
Category II:
ey
Employees
£S5
12.01.2010 12.01.2010 to 11.07.2010 120,000 = (102,500) (17,500) - 12.07.2010 to 11.01.2020 2.200
“2-ZF-A1-H it Tﬁ A+=AZ% “Z-SFt+ATHR
2 Z2-Z5-A1-R
12.01.2010 to 11.04.2011 120,000 - (102,500) (17,500) - 12.04.2011 to 11.01.2020 2.200
“2-RF-AtCRE “Z-—FNA+ZEE
“2—FMA+-A “Z-Z5-f1-R
08.10.2012 08.10.2012 to 07.10.2013 400,000 = = = 400,000 08.10.2013 to 07.10.2022 4.996
“Z-—5+ANR 2 —£+\HZ “2-=£+AN\RZE
“3-=E1AtR “Z--F1AtA
08.10.2012 to 07.10.2014 880,000 - - - 880,000 08.10.2014 to 07.10.2022 4.996
“E3-Z5tAN\RE “2-ME+ANRE
— mElALA :;:zﬁﬂ-ﬁtﬁ
08.10.2012 to 07.10.2015 1,940,000 = = = 1,940,000 08.10.2015 to 07.10.2022 4.996
“2—ETANRE “Z-RF+ANRZE
“3-RETALA “Z--F1AtA
05.04.2013 05.04.2013 to 04.10.2013 150,000 - - - 150,000 05.10.2013 to 04.04.2023 5.620
“3-Z5MARR “Z--¥mARAZE “Z-=£1RERAZE
—2-Z%5tANA “Z-=%MARA
05.04.2013 to 04.07.2014 150,000 = = = 150,000 05.07.2014 to 04.04.2023 5.620
—R-ZENARAER “Z-MELARRZE
“3-MELANA ZZ-=%NARA
30.12.2013 30.12.2013 t0 29.12.2014 604,000 - - - 604,000 30.12.2014 to 29.12.2023 7.300
“3-=£1ZA=1H St e o Y “3-mEt-A=1RZE
ZE-METZAZTNA ZE_EtAZthA
30.12.2013 to 29.12.2015 620,000 = = = 620,000 30.12.2015 t0 29.12.2023 7.300
—2-=£+-A=1AZ :? £¢+’H’+Ei
“Z-REt-A=thA ZECEETZAZthA
30.12.2013 t0 29.12.2016 650,000 - - - 650,000 30 12 2016 t0 29.12.2023 7.300
St e o Y 2 ETZA=tRZ
ZE-AFTZAZthE ZE_EtAZthA
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZE-—F+-A=t+—RHIFE

37. B AERT 8 (&)

(CONTINUED)
The Company (Continued) AL A (4E)
No. of options
BiRiEsA
At Granted Exercised Lapsed At Exercise
1 January during during during 31 December price
Date of grant Vesting period 2020 the year the year the year 2020  Exercise period per share
RZB-%F RZB-%E
RiLAH BEEE -R-H FRERM ERBAR FREXH TZA=T-B fIEER BRTER
HK$
AT
07.10.2014 07.10.2014 to 29.06.2015 300,000 - - - 300,000 30.06.2015 to 06.10.2024 10.340
“2-mETALR “Z-mETALRZE —2-1%/ A=tRZE
“Z-RF5AZTAA “Z-mETARA
07.10.2014 to0 02.10.2015 250,000 - - - 250,000 03.10.2015 to 06.10.2024 10.340
“B-METALER “Z-RFt+RZRZE
—2-1%tAZR ZE-RETARA
07.10.2014 to 29.06.2016 300,000 - - - 300,000 30.06.2016 to 06.10.2024 10.340
“E-mETALRZE 275/ A=TRE
i e “Z-mETARA
07.10.2014 to0 02.10.2016 250,000 - - - 250,000 03.10.2016 to 06.10.2024 10.340
“B-METALER “Z-5+RZRZ
“E-~ETAZR ZE-RETARA
07.10.2014 to 02.10.2017 250,000 - - - 250,000 03.10.2017 to 06.10.2024 10.340
“Z-METALAZ “Z-t£+R=RZE
i o e “Z-mETARA
03.10.2017 03.10.2017 t0 02.10.2018 250,000 - - - 250,000 03.10.2018 to 02.10.2027 6.190
“E-t51+A=R Bt E+A=HE “2-)\§+R=RZ
“3-\5tAzR St 2
03.10.2017 to 02.10.2019 250,000 - - - 250,000 03.10.2019 to 02.10.2027 6.190
“3-t§1tA=RZ “Z-NETRZRZE
“Z-NETAZR “Z-tF+AZR
03.10.2017 to 02.10.2020 250,000 - - - 250,000 03.10.2020 to 02.10.2027 6.190
“T-t¥1tA=RZ “Z-ZFAZRZE
ZRCTETACR St 2
03.10.2017 to 02.10.2021 500,000 - - - 500,000 03.10.2021 to 02.10.2027 6.190
“3-t§1tA=RZ “Z--#1R=RZE
“3-—51AZR i i
15.04.2020 15.04.2020 to 14.10.2021 - 3,525,000 - - 3,525,000 15.10.2021 to 14.04.2030 3.648
“Z-ZEMATER “Z-TEMATREAZ “Z-F1ATHER
“Z--£+A1MA “Z=ZEMATRA
15.04.2020 to 14.04.2023 - 3,525,000 - - 3,525,000 15.04.2023 to 14.04.2030 3.648
“Z-TEMATRAZ “R-ZENATRAZE

“ZC=FWATMA

“R=TEMATHA
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

HE —F+ZA=+—HILFE
e = —
37. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES 37. ERAESTEI(E&)
The Company (Continued) A2\ E](#&)
No. of options
BREA
At Granted Exercised Lapsed At Exercise
1 January during during during 31 December price
Date of grant Vesting period 2020 the year the year the year 2020 Exercise period per share
R-B-%F R-B-%F
RHAS ki -A-H FRERI FREFE FRBAR TZAZ+-R ffFESE BRfTERE
HK$
AT
23.10.2020 t0 22.10.2021 - 500,000 - - 500,000 23.10.2021 to 22.10.2030 5.310
ZZCTETACTERE z
i S ey =
23 10.2020 to 22.10.2022 - 500,000 - - 500,000 5310
- FHAZTZRE
S 25 oy = ZEERETAC + A
23.10.2020 t0 22.10.2023 - 500,000 - - 500,000 23.10.2023 to 22.10.2030 5.310
- 500,000 - - 500,000 23.10. 2024 t0 22.10.2030 5310
ME+A=t=R%
“E=REHACTCR
17,123,000 10,814,000 (205,000) (35,000) 27,697,000
Exercisable at the end
of the year
RELZAT{ 17,265,000
Weighted average exercise
price HK$7.411 HK$3.955 HK$2.200 HK$2.200 HK$6.107
METHTEE 74118 3.955%7C 2,200 2,200 6107

In respect of the share options exercised during the prior year, the
weighted average share price at the dates of exercise was HK$4.58.

On 15 April 2020 and 23 October 2020, the Company has granted
share options to subscribe for a total of 8,814,000 and 2,000,000
ordinary shares of the Company under the New Share Option
Scheme, and the closing price of the shares of the Company
immediately before the date of which the options were granted was
HK$3.53 and HK$5.04 respectively.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F R B2 AL A R A 7]
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZE-—F+-A=t+—RHIFE

37. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES 37. B AESTEI(E&)
(CONTINUED)
The Company (Continued) A2\ E](#&)
Particulars of share options: FERR AT -
Exercise
price per
Date of grant Exercise period share
RHBEH Gcd BRITEE
HK$
BT
08.10.2012 (i) 259,500 options exercisable not less than 6 months from date of grant but 4.996
not more than 10 years, i.e. 08.04.2013 - 07.10.2022
—ZE——%+ANH (i) 259,500 ERERETPRERL BHEASNERABTEZRTH BT —=4F
MANBE=-ZT = —F+ A+ BHMATTE
(ii) 259,500 options exercisable not less than 15 months from date of grant but
not more than 10 years, i.e. 08.01.2014 - 07.10.2022
(i) 259,500 RERERIET PR BERE BB TREABTEZRF - R=-F—N
F-RANBZE=ZT=__F+A+BHBRATTRE
(iii) 1,160,000 options exercisable during the period from 08.10.2013 -
07.10.2022
(iii) 1,160,000 ERETN_S—=F+AN\BE=Z2 ==+ A AHRANTE
(iv) 2,230,000 options exercisable during the period from 08.10.2014 -
07.10.2022
(iv) 2,230,0007fERETHN_ZE—NFE+ANBE_T -G+ A+ BHERTE
(v) 2,650,000 options exercisable during the period from 08.10.2015 -
07.10.2022
(v) 2,650,000 REMR-_Z—RF+A\BEZ-_F+ A+t BPERTE
05.04.2013 (i)  50% exercisable not less than 6 months but not more than 10 years from the 5.620

date of grant, i.e. 05.10.2013 - 04.04.2023
—ZT—=FmMAAHA (i) EBFRZS0%AIETIRERB B SEABTEZRTE IR -T—=F1+A%A
HE-Z =4 AMAHAERTE
(ii)  unexercised balance thereof be exercisable not less than 15 months from
date of grant but not more than 10 years, i.e. 05.07.2014 - 04.04.2023
(i) MARITEZHRBAETPREREBRETTREBRAETZRTF - RS —WF
tARBEZZT ==/ AMBHBERNITE
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—Z-—Ft+-A=1+—HIFE

37. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES 37. ERAESTEI(E&)
(CONTINUED)
The Company (Continued) A2\ E](#&)
Exercise
price per
Date of grant Exercise period share
RHEAH Cigcd BRITEE
HK$
BT
30.12.2013 (i) 1,614,000 options: 50% exercisable not less than 6 months but not more 7.300
than 10 years from the date of grant, i.e. 30.06.2014 - 29.12.2023;
and in respect of the unexercised balance thereof be exercisable not less
than 15 months but not more than 10 years from the date of grant, i.e.
30.03.2015 - 29.12.2023
“T=F+-A=tH (i) 1,614,00038E%E : B 250%AE TR A KL BHEFRERERZR+
FAH_E—NFNA=Z+HE_Z_=F+_A-+NBHBEATE  RBER
RITEZHEMS - IETPREREBHEF TRAEABTIEZN+4 - BIAZF
—RAE=A=THE-Z-_=F+=-A=-+AAHERITE
(ii) 669,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 30.12.2014 to
29.12.2023
(i) 669,000 BRENR_T—NF+-_A=1tHET_=F+-A=+ N BHHERA
1118
(iii) 669,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 30.12.2015 to
29.12.2023
(iii) 669,000 EREAR_Z—HFE+_—_A=1tHRE_ZE_=F+_A -+ A BHHEA
71E
(iv) 702,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 30.12.2016 to
29.12.2023.
(iv) 702,000 BREANR —ZE—A"E+_-_A=t+HE_Z-_=F+_"/A -+ ABHHERX
1118
07.10.2014 (i) 600,000 options: 50% will be exercisable during the period from 30.06.2015 10.340
to 06.10.2024; and 50% will be exercisable during the period from
30.06.2016 to 06.10.2024
—ZT-mE+A+H (i) 600,0001pfERME : EF 250% AR _T—AFAAA=+THE-ZT_MF+A~H
BARIATTE © R50% AR —E—A"FAA=THE_T_MF+ A/XAHREATTE
(i) 250,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 03.10.2015 to
06.10.2024
(i)  250,0007BERERIN —_T—HF+A=BZ T _WF+ AXH AR/ TE
(iii) 250,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 03.10.2016 to
06.10.2024
(iii) 250,000 BEREAIN —T—RF+A=B="T_F+ ANHBBATE
(iv) 250,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 03.10.2017 to
06.10.2024
(iv) 250,0007RERERAIN-_T—+F+A=BZ T _WF+ ANH BB/ TE
31.03.2015 (i) 669,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 30.09.2015 to 11.200

“ET-REZAZF-A8 (i)
(if)

(i)

30.03.2025

669,0005 R EAIN—_E—RAFNA=FTHE_Z-_HAF = A=+ HHPBERITE
669,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 30.06.2016 to
30.03.2025

669,000 BRIERIN T —A"FAA=THAE_ZT-_AF = A=+ HHBMRTE
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZE-—F+-A=t+—RHIFE

37. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES 37. ERRESTEI(E&)
(CONTINUED)
The Company (Continued) A2\ E](#&)
Exercise
price per
Date of grant Exercise period share
RHEAH Cigcd IR AT 18
HK$
BT
31.03.2016 (i) 880,500 options will be exercisable during the period from 30.09.2016 to 5.754
30.03.2026
ZT-RF=ZA=1+—H (i) 880,500NEREIN_ZT—R"FNA=ZTHE_T_"F=A=+THIBNTE
(ii) 880,500 options will be exercisable during the period from 30.06.2017 to
30.03.2026
(i) 880,500 EAIN_T—+FNA=THE_Z_R"F=A=1+HEBRTE
13.04.2017 (i) 885,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 13.10.2017 to 7.548
12.04.2027
—tFMA+=H (i) 885,000 EREAN_Z—tF+A+=AZ_T_+tFNA+=AHBATE
(ii) 885,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 13.07.2018 to
12.04.2027
(i) 885,000 ERIEAN_E—NFLA+=AE_T_tFNA+ZAHBATE
03.10.2017 (i) 250,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 03.10.2018 to 6.190
02.10.2027
—T—+F+H=AR (i) 250,000 EREANR=_ZE—-—N\F+A=ZBE_Z=_+F+ A= BHHERNTTE
(ii) 250,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 03.10.2019 to
02.10.2027
(i) 250,000 EREAIR—F-—NEF+A=HZ=_Z_tF+ A -HBERTE
(iii) 250,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 03.10.2020 to
02.10.2027
(i) 250,000 BREANR=_Z_FF+A=HE-_ZT_+F+A=-BHHERTTE
(iv) 500,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 03.10.2021 to
02.10.2027
(iv) 500,000 FEREAIN—E=-—F+A=HZ_Z_t4F+A-HBHERTE
13.04.2018 (i) 684,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 13.10.2018 to 11.216
12.04.2028
—N\FMA+=H (i) 684,000 BREAN=_Z—NF+A+=AZ_T-N\FHA+=AHBATE
(i) 684,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 13.07.2019 to
12.04.2028
(i) 684,000 EREAIN_"TE—NFELAT=BET-_N\FNA+=BHFEARITE
15.04.2019 (i) 888,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 15.10.2019 to 7.324
14.04.2029
—NEFMA+REA (i) 888,000 HEREIN_ZE—NFTATHEBE=ZT_NFMNA +MBBHEARITE

(ii) 888,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 15.07.2020 to
14.04.2029
(i) 888,000 BEREAIN_T_ZF+ATAHZE T NFWMA +HBEPREATTE
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—Z-—Ft+-A=1+—HIFE

37. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES 37. ERAESTEI(E&)
(CONTINUED)
The Company (Continued) A2\ E](#&)
Exercise
price per
Date of grant Exercise period share
bzl 5 BRATEEE
HK$
BT
15.04.2020 (i) 882,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 15.10.2020 to 3.648
14.04.2030
ZZZFMA+TAB (i) 882,0000EREAIN-ZE_TF+AT+HABE_ZE=ZFMA M BBHFERITE
(ii) 882,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 15.07.2021 to
14.04.2030
(i) 882,000 BEREAIN T -_—F+tATAHE-_ZT=2FW [+ B BRERTTE
(iii) 3,525,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 15.10.2021
to 14.04.2030
(iii) 3,525,000 EREFATN_ZE-_—F+ATHHZE =240 5 +/M B BEATTEE
(iv) 3,525,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 15.04.2023
to 14.04.2030
(iv) 3,525,000(p8EREATR -_S_=4NA+HERAZ-T=24M A +MHHER/TE
23.10.2020 (i) 500,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 23.10.2021 to 5.310
22.10.2030
—ZT-ZH+HA=1+=H (i) 500,000REREAIR=-"ZE=—F+A=-F+=BE=F=ZF+A=-+=-BHHERTT
&
(ii) 500,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 23.10.2022 to
22.10.2030
(i) 500,000 EREAIN_E__F+A-+t=HE_ZT=ZF+ A+ -_HHHEKTT
&
(iii) 500,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 23.10.2023 to
22.10.2030
(iii) 500,000 fEREAIR T _=F+A-+=RE_T=FF+ A=+ HEMNTT
it
(iv) 500,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 23.10.2024 to
22.10.2030
(iv) 500,000 BEAIN_ZE_NE+A+=HF =2+ A -+ - HHHENTT
&
21.04.2021 (i) 882,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 21.10.2021 to 5.806
20.04.2031
—FWHAZ+—H8 (i) 882,000hERENN_Z_—FTA-T—HE_Z=—FNA_+HBPRERTE
(ii) 882,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 21.07.2022 to
20.04.2031
(i) 882,000 EREIN—E_—FLtA=-+—HE_ZT=—FMOA =+ HHMRTE
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZE-—F+-A=t+—RHIFE

37. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES 37. IBIRERTEI(E)
(CONTINUED)
The Company (Continued) A2\ E](#&)
The following table summarised movements in the Company’s share TRBMAR R BRIERAFER 2 &

options during the year:

Outstanding at Outstanding at

1 January 31 December

2021 During the year 2021

n-®=-% REFER R-®=—%

—A—H Granted Exercised Lapsed +=HA=+—H

i RATHE ERE BiTHE BAXM i RATHE

Directors EE

Lee Siu Fong N 3,797,000 588,000 = = 4,385,000

Leelalertsuphakun Wanee Z= 4 3,597,000 588,000 = = 4,185,000

Li Xiaoyi FNR 3,259,000 588,000 - - 3,847,000

Total for directors EEEY 10,653,000 1,764,000 - - 12,417,000

Employees ES 17,044,000 = (710,000) = 16,334,000

Grand total FeH 27,697,000 1,764,000 (710,000) = 28,751,000
Equity-settled share options are measured at fair value (excluding VARRIE A 2 B AR IR IR B Bl 2 A ERTE (T
the effect of non-market-based vesting conditions) at the date of BIEFEMSERBIRTZTE) - URBEEZE
grant. The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity- PR BB 2 AF{E - THIRIRANEE AT
settled share options is expensed on a straight-line basis over the HEtRRFB 2D - RBBHNAERE

vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of shares that will
eventually become vested.

During the year 2021, options were granted on 21 April 2021 and RZZEZ—FE RZEZ—FNA=Z+—HBHE
the estimated fair value of the options granted on that date is HERHE - MR % AR R 2 BRE Z (b5 A FE
HK$4,605,000. /4,605,000/8 T °

During the year 2020, options were granted on 15 April 2020 and 23 RIZE-ZTEE SRR _ZE_ZTFENA+EH
October 2020, and the estimated fair values of the options granted BR-ZZZZEF+A-T=BRLUBERE @
on those dates are HK$7,371,000 and HK$1,854,000 respectively. REZEAHBE 2 BREZGEHRIFEES A

7,371,000/87C% 1,854,000 7T °
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—Z-—Ft+-A=1+—HIFE

37.

38.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(CONTINUED)

The Company (Continued)

The fair value was derived by the Binomial Option Pricing Model
taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options
were granted. There were no market conditions associated with the
share option grant.

The following significant assumptions were used to derive the fair
value:

1. exercise price of HK$5.806 (2020: HK$3.648 and HK$5.310);
2. expected volatility of 44.61% (2020: 43.26% and 43.64%);

3. the options life is 10 years (2020: 10 years);

4. annualised dividend yield of 1.14% (2020: 1.60% and 1.31%);
and

5. the risk free rate of 1.11% (2020: 0.75% and 0.58%).

The expected volatility is determined by using the historical volatility
of the Company’s share price over option life. Annualised dividend
yield are based on historical dividends. Changes in the subjective
input assumptions could materially affect the fair value estimate.

The Group has recognised an expense of HK$16,888,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: HK$17,442,000) in relation
to share options granted by the Company.

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Defined contribution plan

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme Ordinance for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group, in funds under the control of independent trustees. Under
the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required
to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant
income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.
Contributions to the plan vest immediately, there is no forfeited
contributions that may be used by the Group to reduce the existing
level of contribution.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F R B2 AL A R A 7]

37.

38.

BREE (&)

A2 7] ()

8 R H B AR 2 (R AR IA — TR
EREAGHAFE o BHE IR R RARERR
2GR -

AT RFAELATFEZERRR

1. 17£E5.806BTT(— -4 : 3.648/&
7T’ 5.310%7T) ;

2. TEEK 1844.61%(—F T4 : 43.26%
$43.64%) :

3. BERRARBATF(CE_ZF: +5);

4. FHEREXL14%(ZT=FF : 1.60%
}1.31%) i &

5. ERRAELILI%(ZZE_FF : 0.75%
120.58%) °

TRHDR 8 Ty R A B A A S AN A Bl A7 2 R
SERIBETE » FERBENELRERER - =
Ba A BIRRRBREBH A TEZ G ATHEK
EARE -

BHE-_ZT-_—F+-_A=+—HBIEFE &
EEBEREARARBEE 2 BRERERAX
16,888,000/ L (=T =F 4 : 17,442,000/
JL) °

EERNEF

E RN

AEEREEEREIERE S BEIIRE BN
BREREEZERFIEAERHE([RESF
B8 BESHICEEEAKRECEEDH
e ABYXTEARGZEESFEA - RIER
Eeitd BEREREREEARERERK
AZ5% M BIEHHER - & AEBEALRA
30,0007t ° sHEIFRENRERE - WA RAE
B ARNREIR S ROKT 2 BIR YRR -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

38. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

(Continued)

Defined contribution plan (Continued)

The total expenses recognised in profit or loss of HK$770,000 (2020:
HK$772,000) represents contributions payable to the MPF Scheme
by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the plans.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC and Taiwan
are members of a state-managed retirement benefit plan operated
by the government of the PRC and Taiwan. The subsidiaries are
required to contribute a specified percentage of payroll costs to the
retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation
of the Group with respect to the retirement benefits is to make the
specified contributions.

Defined benefit plan

Retirement benefits scheme represents the retirement benefits
provided to certain directors of the Company in accordance with
their service contract (as supplemented).

Each of the eligible directors will be entitled to lump sum payment
upon retirement and monthly pension payment after retirement if
he/she has engaged in continuous service with the Group for certain
years.

The carrying amount of the retirement benefits represents the
cost of providing benefits determined by valuation conducted by
independent valuer at the end of the reporting period, amortised
over the expected average remaining working lives of the eligible
employees. The fair value of the retirement benefits at 31 December
2021 was valued by Peak Vision Appraisal Limited, an independent
professional valuer not connected to the Group.

The fair value is measured by using discount cash flows method
to capture the present value of the expected future economic
benefits that will flow out of the Group arising from the retirement
benefits. The valuation is considered to be level 3 in the fair value
measurement hierarchy due to unobservable inputs used in the
valuation. Details of key unobservable inputs are as follows:

Are SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZE-—F+-A=t+—RHIFE

38. EERHKER (&)

ERE RN B

B4 R 2 770,000 T (ZE ZT £ -
772,000 7T) 2 X AR EERRTE DS
PETRALL A AT &I 2 63K -

AEEZHERGENBARZEERTERE
BHITEEZ AR ERR BN B ZKE © K
BRAHAR TEKAZEE B D L RR KRR
R - UEABIREES - AEEFRAK
BAMERANEZ BERERREHRK -

E R 7T &

RINERNF B AR R & 4 (K ) MA AR
ETERRHEZRKET -

BEEERERMEESBERBAEHE TF -
BRENEARER —RBFRBERRERREERE
HEH®RE -

RN EESBEAREERNZKA « RS
SAEERRIRE SARATE T2 AEEELIZAE
BIES 2 AT 8 T TIEEHA T LA - :RIK
BN —_E-_—&+-A=+—HBZ2AFEDH
SBRHE AR AR (EAEEY EEE B HE
B {ERM)EE

AT ERARRIESREAG R RKEF 8
MEASEE Z B R REEN R ZIRENE - &
WEEFER T EREASE  HERRART
B ESHNE=H - TBF A ERE AR
BT

2021 2020
—B-—-F ZECEF

Discount rate
Salary growth rate

3.55%-4.54%
2.86%-10.00% 4.7%

3.32%-4.31%

Provision for retirement benefits was accrued in the consolidated
financial statements but the retirement benefits scheme was not
established up to the date of this report. Thus, no actuarial gain or
loss will be considered.

During the year, HK$7,970,000 provision for retirement benefits
(2020: HK$14,770,000) was recognised in profit or loss.

BRAENBENGAMERERARE - BBEX
HEBH - RINEHFEILERTL - Bt - 1
SEBERKENEE -

RAFE - NERE®ER7,970,0008T(=F =
Z4F 14,770,000/ 70 ) IR AR R
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
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39. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES 39. MEERHELECEBGZHER
ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

TRHAMNEASEHRETDELZAEE
B EREMIREEY BEFPELZE
BNEREREIRRBSREEAERZES
RenBERNERARAEIREHEREZA

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash
flows are, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s

consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing f& o
activities.
Bank
borrowings Lease liabilities Total
BITER HEAE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT AT TAT
(Note 32) (Note 33)
(FizE32) (Fii5£33)
At 1 January 2020 R=ZE-_TF—f—A 144,834 23,109 167,943
Changes from financing cash flows: MERERED
New loans raised RN 167,418 - 167,418
Repayment of loans EEER (160,428) - (160,428)
Repayment of lease liabilities ERHEEAR - (10,238) (10,238)
Other changes: Hih#g
Interest payable FERFIS 4,698 687 5,385
Interest paid BFE (4,715) - (4,715)
New leases entered/lease modified HAIME /I HE - 1,184 1,184
Termination of lease KIEHE - (355) (355)
Exchange rate adjustments R 1,060 943 2,003
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 45) HEMRBAR (Fi7E45) (11,490) - (11,490)
At 31 December 2020 and RZBZZETZA=T—HER
1 January 2021 —T-—F—f—H 141,377 156,707
Changes from financing cash flows: RERLHEE
New loans raised FTEER 227,371 227,371
Repayment of loans BEEN (122,616) (122,616)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEREAR - (11,405) (11,405)
Other changes: Hitr#H
Interest payable FERFE 3,787 617 4,404
Interest paid BRARME (3,787) - (3,787)
New leases entered/lease modified HEHEETHE - 15,598 15,598
Exchange rate adjustments [ R E 498 368 866

At 31 December 2021

RZZE-—F+ZRA=+—-H

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F R B2 AL A R A 7]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

40.

Are SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZE-—F+-A=t+—RHIFE

Capital commitments contracted for: ERTHNERRIE :
Investment in financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income
Intangible assets - license fee and

development cost

Property, plant and equipment

BEZKE

LUE Q=S &

BVAE-BNBERBERA

REAFEEBEMEEKETIRZ T

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At 31 December 2020, the Group has pledged bank deposits as
security given to bank for facilities granted to the group entities
and CVie Taiwan, amounting to HK$3,875,000 and HK$20,150,000
respectively. These deposits have been fully released during the
year 2021 and hence no pledged bank deposits as at 31 December
2021.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Financial guarantee to associates

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had contingent liabilities
amounting to HK$53,000,000 (2020: HK$53,000,000) in respect of
financial guarantees given to bank for the banking facilities granted
to associate. Total HK$1,205,000 (2020: HK$$7,582,000) has been
remained unutilised by the associate.

Financial guarantee to CVie Taiwan

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had contingent liabilities
amounting NTD150,000,000 which equivalent to approximately
HK$41,400,000 in respect of a one-off financial guarantees given
to bank for the banking facilities granted to CVie Taiwan and
NTD68,419,000 which equivalent to approximately HK$18,884,000
has been utilised by CVie Taiwan on that date. This financial
guarantee was expired during the year 2021 and no other guarantee
was granted to CVie Taiwan as at 31 December 2021.

The directors of the Company have considered the probability of
default is remote. Accordingly, no provision has been made in the
consolidated financial statements for these guarantees.

41.

42,

BAREE

2021 2020

—=——F —ECEE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHTT

39,119 10,750

125,162 88,458

85,567 91,212

249,848 190,420
BEIKH

NR-B-_BF+-F=1+—H KEECHLEF
FTEBERRTELSE ZBEMRTEPRIT
GFREAKESR - 543,875,000 T &
20,150,000 7T - ZEFARER_TE=Z—FF
2H@R MR _ZE = —F+_A=+—HUE
BIRIFRITIER

HAREE
1B E 2 AR R A B AR R

R—_E-_—F+_-_A=+—H8 X&BHH
53,000,000/8 (== == 4 : 53,000,000/%
TL)SARBE - E QR ERBITRE
MERITIEL A TS EIRG 7 - 48%81,205,000745 7T
(ZZE-F4 : 7,582,000/ 7T) M AR ZHL D
RIENA °

[6] 7 4 & B IR R R B HE (R

NR-ZBE-_ZTE+-_A=+—0 A&EEEH
A ¥ 150,000,000 T A B E  HERD
41,400,000/ 7T © B £ S B &R 2 R1TH
BERSRITEL 2 — XM B EREE - MPLEE
EE N BB EH &%68,419,0007T @ HHER
#718,884,000/8 7T « A BHERENR =T =—
FEIH RZZ_—F+_A=+—HHER
RAESER T HMER -

ARBEEEZEFZHNAREIEEE » Eik - I
BINRR MR AL S ERIEHEE -

Annual Report 2021 3R

207



208

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ire ISR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021

B=E

—F+-A=t—HLEFE

43. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS

Balances and transactions between the Company and its
subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Company, have been
eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note.
Details of the balance between the Group and other related parties
as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 are disclosed in notes 27 and
28 to the consolidated financial statements. Details of transactions
between the Group and other related parties are disclosed below.

During the year, the Group entered into the following transactions
with related parties. In the opinion of the directors, the following
transactions arose in the ordinary course of the Group’s business:

(a) Compensation of key management
personnel

The remuneration of directors and key management during
the year was as follows:

43. BBMAR S

ARREEMBEAR(RERR )M
BEZHNEA KRB B jiﬁﬁAZ!KMT%E?S‘Z
BoAEBEAEMBARIN T —FR_FT_
TE+ A=+ BNBREFER RS PERR
ByFE27 %28 FE - AREBEEMAB T M RS
RN TOURE -

RAFERN  REBEERTETATRS - &
ERR - TIRGDIRAKERFEEBBIZNE
A

(a) TEEBNS H1E

FA-EEZRTIEE

BABZHMOT

SELE
VARG XA~ 2 5R0R

Short-term benefits

Share-based payments

Retirement benefits and other post-
employment benefits

IRORAE R e Ho A BB (R AR A

- Defined contribution plan —ERRHKETE
- Retirement benefits —RIRRER

2021 2020
—E-—F —ECEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHT
73,938 22,167
10,703 11,142
7,984 14,806

14 36

7,970 14,770
92,625 48,115

The remuneration of directors and key management is
determined by the remuneration committee having regard to
the performance of individuals and market trends.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F R B2 AL A R A 7]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

43. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

(b) Transaction with associates

Interest income FLEWA

Rental and utilities income e RAFEBRHELA
Purchase of consumables RS
Purchase of goods HEESD

Research and development 7 R 5 2 ARSI

service income
Acquisition of a license right (Note 45) W BB =T o] 4 (P74 5)

(c) Donation to Lee’s Pharmaceutical -
Kanya Lee Scholarship Limited
("Kanya Lee Scholarship”)

During the year ended 31 December 2021, total HK$7,450,000
(2020: HK$1,475,000) was donated to Kanya Lee Scholarship.
Dr. Li Xiaoyi, director of the Company, is also a member of
key management of Kanya Lee Scholarship and Kanya Lee
Scholarship is considered as a related party to the Group.

AR e SRR T AT

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BHE_T-—F+-A=+—HILFE

43. EB L X5 (&)

(b) BHZLFZXE

2021 2020
B T TF
HK$'000 HK$'000

FEx FHT

3,334 2,448
4,248 3,431
2,777 1,430
60

36,650

77,500

(c) IFEXALERG - FHEFLE

B BERA ([ FHEFFE
E5 ) EH 15t

RBE-_ZT-_—F+=-_A=+—H
EFEE RAENFFTEBLBRE
7,450,000 % ot ( = T = T F
1,475,000 7T) - AR AIEET/)NRE
THMATHEFTREBES ZFTEETEEN
B MENFSREBSHEARNEE 2@
Bt o
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ARe SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—Z-—Ft+-A=1+—HIFE

43. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS

(CONTINUED)

(d) Issue of subsidiary’s shares to Perfect
Concept Holdings Limited ("PCH”)

During the year ended 31 December 2020, China Oncology
Focus Limited (*COF”), an indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, on a pro rata basis, issued 18,620
shares to PCH. Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee, Ms. Lee Siu
Fong and Dr. Li Xiaoyi were both the directors of the Company
and the substantial shareholders of PCH and PCH was
considered as a related party to the Group. Total consideration
received for the issue of shares thereto was US$4,003,300
(equivalent to approximately HK$31,226,000). No such event

has occurred during the year 2021.

Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee, Ms. Lee Siu Fong and Dr. Li
Xiaoyi are the directors and substantial shareholders of the
Company who are connected persons of the Company under
the Listing Rules. They hold approximately 62.85% of the
issued ordinary and preferred shares in PCH and therefore,
PCH is the associate of Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee, Ms. Lee
Siu Fong and Dr. Li Xiaoyi, and is then a connected person of
the Company under the Listing Rules. Lee’s Pharmaceutical
International Limited, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company is a shareholder of COF and at the same time,
PCH, is also a shareholder of COF. PCH, being a connected
person of the Company, is holding 35% of the issued share
capital of COF, and therefore, the issue of COF’s shares to PCH
constitutes a connected transaction pursuant to Rule 14A.27

of the Listing Rules.

(e) Shareholder loans from PCH

During the year ended 31 December 2020, included in
finance costs there was interest expenses for loans from PCH
amounting to HK$147,000. Loans from PCH were fully settled
in year 2020 and no interest expenses was incurred during the

year ended 31 December 2021.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F R B2 AL A R A 7]

43. EB L X5 (&)

(d) Z7THE 2 ek 17 T EAIF

EERL ([ ERIEHE])

REBE-_Z_ZTF+_A=+—HI*F
B AARMEF2EAHNBARFEE
FEEEASMR A A ([ COF]) &t fl 2 17
18,620 k0 T EAIKE - FHEE L
T FNFLERFNBEELEHARRF
BEERFAEEMFEERE  WEAEE
WARBAEB 2B S - BLEITRH K
Bz #AK{E%54,003,300% T (HERYD
31,226,000 7C) - R=ZE=——FEF RN
fEEEBREEIE -

THERLZL FNFREIRF)RELA
RRRIEERTERRE - RIFLETHA
ABARRZEBAL BEFEXEE
EE BT mRRELRA62.85% @ A
gt ARIEETTRA  EAISEATER
Z+ FNFLEIRFNREL2HE
A BMARRRZEEAT - "RRAFH
#% = & ff B A 7 Lee’s Pharmaceutical
International Limited /& COF ~ % & -
B - ZAIEE T ABCOFZARER  XAI&
EAARRAZEEALT 55 COFE %
TRRAZ35% « it - RIE ETRAIE
14A.271% - MIEAIEEZE1TCOFRM1E
R—REER S °

(e) REXAIFE 2 RREN

REBEE_ZT-_TF+_A=+—HBILHF
B BBRAREREEASBEZERZ
BRI 147,000 T - REFZEIEEZ
ERER=Z_TEEZHELEE ' REE
&+ A=+—HAIFEERTE
EAEMFRRE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

44. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

In April 2020, the Group, through an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary Lee’s Keno Pharmaceutical Limited, acquired 51% of the
issued share capital of Beijing Keno Pharmaceutical Technology
Limited* ("BJ Keno”) from independent third parties. BJ Keno is
engaging in marketing and selling of pharmaceutical device. Upon
completion of the transaction, BJ Keno became an non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Group. The transaction has been accounted for by
the acquisition method of accounting.

Consideration transferred

Are SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZE-—F+-A=t+—RHIFE

44, WE—EKBE AR

N_ZE_ZFNH  AREZEBREZEMER
AIFRAIAEEGRA R MAELE=F BB R
ARAB R ARAR (TR )51%E #1T
IRAS o AL R AT AR BB B TG R R IHE -
RHTEKIE - ERAIGER B AREE 2 2 AN E
DA > ZRGABEETHEAS

EEZEAE

HK$'000
THITT

Cash consideration ReRE

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised
at the date of acquisition

RUEAR 2 ERIEEER EME
AEE

HK$'000
FHET
Current assets REEE
Deposits and prepayments B RIENFIE 227
Bank balances RITHREER 474
Current liability REBEE
Other payables and accruals Hit N FIEREER (5,293)
Net liabilities recognised ERRAEFE (4,592)

Non-controlling interests

The non-controlling interests (49%) in BJ Keno recognised at the
acquisition date was measured by reference to the proportionate
share of amounts of net liabilities recognised and amounted to
HK$2,250,000.

For identification purpose only

*

FE1EIR FE 2

RUKEE B BAFT e R L R A 56 2 FE IR AR #E 25
(49%) JH2 BRIZ L BIfE(E E R A EF BT
£ A#2,250,000/8 7T °

EHREST)
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ARe SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—Z-—Ft+-A=1+—HIFE

44. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY 44, W iE— RO M R 2 = ()
(CONTINUED)
Goodwill arising on acquisition WEELZEHE
HK$'000
FHET
Consideration transferred BEEAE =
Add: Non-controlling interests oo : FEIRpRHERS (2,250)
Less: Net liabilities recognised B BEEREEFE 4,592
Goodwill arising on the acquisition B EE 2 B 2,342
None of the goodwill arising on acquisition is expected to be TEEAUE EE A 2 P B NS H0RY ©
deductible for tax purposes.
Net cash inflow on acquisition W2 BHERAFEE
HK$'000
FHET
Cash consideration paid ENReRE =
Less: Cash and cash equivalent acquired of B BEREZHeNEEEE (474)
474

Impact of acquisition on the results of the
Group

Included in the profit for the year ended 31 December 2020 is
approximately HK$476,000 loss attributable to the additional
business generated by BJ Keno.

Had the acquisition been completed on 1 January 2020, in the

opinion of the directors of the Company, the Group’s revenue and
profit for the year would not be materially impacted.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F R B2 AL A R A 7]

WiBH A EEREZZHE

HE-Z-_ZHF+-_A=+—HIFEXFE
FTASLRAIHETE A BINEBEML ZEIBL
476,000/8 7T ©

ZBYBER —_F—_FF— A— A%k ' ARF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

45. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

In April 2020, the Group fully disposed of its 60% interest in Inner
Mongolia Zhaoke Livestock Development Limited* (“Zhaoke
Livestock”) to an independent third party at a cash consideration
of RMB1,012,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$1,097,000), and
recorded a loss on disposal of Zhaoke Livestock of approximately
HK$1,720,000.

In October 2020, the Group entered into a licensing agreement
with ZKO and Zhaoke (Guangzhou) Ophthalmology Pharmaceutical
Co., Ltd., an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of ZKO (together,
the “Licensors”), pursuant to which an exclusive license right in
relation to a licensed product has been granted by the Licensors to
the Group. The Group settled the upfront payment for the licensing
agreement by way of the repurchase of ZKO shares held by the
Group by ZKO. Details of which were set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 4 October 2020. Upon completion of the
abovementioned share repurchase, the Group’s indirect interest
in ZKO was reduced from 50.117% to 48.539% and the Group
ceased to control ZKO and its subsidiaries ("*ZKO Group”). The
Group recorded a gain on disposal of ZKO Group of approximately
HK$157,345,000.

In aggregate, the Group recognised a net gain on disposal of
subsidiaries of approximately HK$155,625,000 in profit or loss which
was included in “other gains and losses, net” in 2020.

Are SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZE-—F+-A=t+—RHIFE

45. HEMBE AT

R-ZF_ZFEMA  AEEUREKEARE
1,012,000 T (#H& R 471,097,0007% 7T) # &
RASKE R ERFABERAR ([RNER]) 2
60% a2 HME T —RBUE=T7 » HEHEK
BHEW 2 E18491,720,0004 7T

R-Z-TEFE+ A - AEEEKRRR IR (E
M) ERFIZEY A R A R OkRIRRL 2 B2 EH B
AR (BB BREAN]) T — D EERT A s -
Bt - BREAMASEREEEEEERZBER
SRR o AR E DA B KB AR FHE B A SR B A 0K
RERBIR D 2 F N E T A Rz B S -
HEHNAATBRA—Z-_EFE+ANBZA
& o R MR BRI TEAE - ANEERIKRIRR
2R AR 50.117%5 4 £48.539% © M4
SEETBIEFIKRIRE R LW E QR ([ BRIER
£H ) - AEESBHEKBREERE 2 ML
157,345,000/ 7T °

RAFE  ARERESRERHENB AR
55 F##1155,625,0008TT - AT _TFZ
[ Etdes RERFREIA

Consideration received EWRIE
ZKO Zhaoke
Group Livestock
KRR FKRER
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHIT FHT
Cash Re = 1,097
Intangible assets acquired BEETEE 77,500 -
77,500 1,097

& For identification purpose only
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ARe SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—Z-—Ft+-A=1+—HIFE

45. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)

Analysis of assets and liabilities over

which control was lost

45. HEWE 27 (&)

KERHEZEERBEDH

ZKO Zhaoke
Group Livestock
JKRHRREE JKRIEH
HK$'000 HK$'000
Fis T FHTT
Property, plant and equipment W - BEREE(BIEEREEE)

(including right-of-use assets) 148,365 1,725
Intangible assets B EE 164,066 -
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments Hf{hEWFIE « & ¢ MIB 08 62,085 2,168
Pledged deposits EERER 13,198 -
Time deposits TEHITF K 74,414 -
Cash and bank balances & RIRITH RS 77,055 873
Other payables and accruals Hib RN FIEREER (42,107) (39)
Bank borrowings RITIER (11,490) =
Deferred tax liabilities BEERIEEE (20,005) =
Derivative financial liabilities PTEMEAE (83,587) -
Net asset disposed of BEHEFEE 381,994 4,727
Gain (loss) on disposal of subsidiaries HERE L 7l 2 Wa (E1E)

ZKO Zhaoke

Group Livestock

JKRHREIEE JRIEH

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FHIT

Consideration received BYRE 77,500 1,097
Investment retained in the former RATFEHERAMB AR ZREBEFE

subsidiaries at fair value 180,641 -
Net assets disposed of BHEFEE (381,994) (4,727)
Non-controlling interests FEPEAR 185,212 1,891
Reclassification of cumulative balances HE KB R RS RET AR E S ST

upon disposal of subsidiaries from DEEER

equity to profit or loss
Exchange reserve b 5 3,441 19
Other reserves Aot 92,545 -

157,345 (1,720)
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45. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

46.

PN

Are SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BHE_T-—F+-A=+—HILFE

45. HEWE 27 (&)

(CONTINUED)
Net cash (outflow) inflow arising on HEELZHE Rl ) RAFHE
disposal
ZKO Zhaoke
Group Livestock
KRHRBIEE JKRIEH
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHET
Cash consideration received BRRSRE - 1,097
Less: W
Pledged deposits [REEEEEEA (13,198) -
Time deposits EHTFER (74,414) -
Cash and bank balances & RIRTTEERR (77,055) (873)
(164,667) 224

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

1.

General information of subsidiaries

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31
December 2021 are set out as follows:

Place of Paid up
incorporation/ issued/
Name of registration/ Class of registered
subsidiary operations share capital
TR/ HregT/
WEARERE B/ BEny RAER A
Lee's Pharmaceutical British Virgin Ordinary US$1
International Limited Islands
Lee's Pharmaceutical EBRNES LAk iE
International Limited
LPH Investments Limited  Cayman Islands  Ordinary US$100
LPH Investments Limited  Fi2E& gl 100%7
LPH II Investments Cayman Islands  Ordinary US$100
Limited
LPH II Investments HEHE LRk 100%7
Limited
China Cardiovascular British Virgin Ordinary USs$1
Focus Limited Islands
HRELNEBEARAT EBRNES EpEb IES

46. A AT EEMBELRAFIE

1.

B8 2 Bl —REH

ARAEEHBAMR=B=—5+=F

=t BZFERIMAT

Proportion ownership interest
held by the Company

FARRRE R RERL

Directly Indirectly
EE i

—<—%

2020
“E-FE

Principal
activities

TERB

74%
74%

100%

100%

Annual Report 2021 3§

100%

100%

Investment holding
REAR
Investment holding
REZR
Investment holding

AR

Investment holding

RERR
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—Z-—Ft+-A=1+—HIFE

46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(CONTINUED)
1. General information of subsidiaries
(Continued)
Place of Paid up
incorporation/ issued/
Name of registration/ Class of registered
subsidiary operations share capital
ML/ ARERT/
WEARER R/ mgnd RAER EfRA
Guangzhou Zhao Kang ~ PRC Paid-up capital US$19,000,000
Hospital Co. Ltd*
(Note a)

EMEEERARAR
(Hfta)

Lee's Pharmaceutical
(HK) Limited

PRAZR(RR)ERAA

Zhaoke Pharmaceutical
(HK) Limited
KBEE (B BRAT

Zhaoke Pharmaceutical
(Hefei) Co. Limited*
(Note a)

KEEZ (SR ERAF
(Fizta)

Zhaoke Pharmaceutical
(Guangzhou) Limited*
(Note a)

KRR (BN BB AT
(Fizta)

Zhao Kang Medical
Investment Limited

KEBEEABRAT

Zhao Kang Medical HK
Limited
KREEEEARAA

Hong Kong

Hong Kong
i

PRC

HE

PRC

HE

Cayman Islands
REHE
Hong Kong

&

BB

Ordinary

TRR

Ordinary

Paid-up capital

BRBA

Paid-up capital

BRBA

Ordinary

19,000,000%7

HK$18,400,000

18,400,000/

HK$1,000,000

1,000,000/

US$2,000,000

2,000,000%7

US$16,000,000

16,000,000%7

US$1,000
1,000£7
HK$10,000

10,000% 7

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F R B2 AL A R A 7]

46. A AT EERME L RS (HE)

1. HEBRraz—REX(AE)

Proportion ownership interest
held by the Company

KARFRE 2R RRELS)
Indirectly

Gk

Directly
E#

100%
100%
100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

2020

- 43

——%

Principal
activities

TEEH

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Hospital and medical
care

Investment holding
and trading of
pharmaceutical
products

REBRREEER

Investment holding
RERKR

Manufactures and sale
of pharmaceutical
products

BERHEER

Trading of
pharmaceutical
products

=m0

BEZm

Investment holding
RESR

Not yet commenced
business

WAREEH



46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SR IS SRR MR

For the year ended 31

December 2021

BHE_T-—F+-A=+—HILFE

46. A AT EEME L A (E)

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

General information of subsidiaries

(CONTINUED)
1.
(Continued)
Name of
subsidiary
WEARER

Place of
incorporation/
registration/
operations
ML/
B/ BEiny

Class of
share

RGEH

1.

B8 2\ 5] .2 —REH ()

Guangzhou Zhaoke Lian
Fa Pharmaceutical
Limited* (Note a)

BMARHEEEARAT
(Fizra)

Zhaoke Lian Fa
(Guangzhou)
Biotechnology Limited*
(Note a)

KRB (BN EDRRER
2a)(fitzra)

Zhaoke Lian Fa
(Guangzhou) Logistic
Limited* (Note a)

JBEE (BN IRERAR
(Fitzta)

Zhaoke Lian Fa
(Guangzhou) Business
Services Limited*
(Note a)

KR (BN aBREER
GG

Lee's Pharmaceutical
Taiwan Limited*
(Note a)

AEFRELERAR
(Hia)

Lee's Pharm Genomics
Lab Limited

FRAEBERERZER
G|

PRC

PRC

HE

PRC

e

PRC

Y

Taiwan

Hong Kong

&k

Paid-up capital

HRBA

Paid-up capital

BRBA

Paid-up capital

BRBA

Paid-up capital

BRBA

Ordinary

Ordinary

LR

Paid up
issued/
registered Proportion ownership interest Principal
capital held by the Company activities
ARERT/
S RA KARFRE A RRELS) TEEH
Directly Indirectly
B iz
2020
“ERCRE
US$1,000,000 100% Trading of
pharmaceutical
products
1,000,000% 7 100% EBEZH
RMB900,000 100% Not yet commenced
(2020: business
RMB700,000)
AR#900,0007 100% HAFREER
(ZB=%F:
AR%700,0007)
RMB500,000 100% Not yet commenced
business
AR¥500,0007 100% HARREER
RMB500,000 100% Not yet commenced
business
AK500,0007C 100% HAFRRER
NTD1,000,000 100% Trading of
pharmaceutical
products
#&a%1,000,0007 100% EEZMm
HK$1 100% Drug development and
service
1B 100% ZmFERES
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—Z-—Ft+-A=1+—HIFE

46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 46. A RNTREXEME A RS (&)
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)
1. General information of subsidiaries 1. WEBREZ—KER(E)
(Continued)
Place of Paid up
incorporation/ issued/
Name of registration/ Class of registered Proportion ownership interest Principal
subsidiary operations share capital held by the Company activities
ML/ ARERT/
WEARER R/ mgnd RAER EfRA KARFRE 2R RRELS) TEEH
Directly Indirectly
B iz

2020
“ERCRE

Dreamboat Ventures British Virgin Ordinary US$1 100% Investment holding
Limited Islands

Dreamboat Ventures EBRNES LR 1En 100% #HEER
Limited

Lee's Keno Pharmaceutical Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100% Not yet commenced
Limited business

FRAHEERRAR 5 LEk 1T 100% HARERHR

Beijing Keno PRC Paid-up capital Nil 51% Marketing and selling
Pharmaceutical of pharmaceutical
Technology Limited* device
(Note b)

PRUABENRARDRT  PH BRBA z 51% BESENTAEERHE
(FiizEb)

CVie Therapeutics Cayman Islands ~ Ordinary US$135,000 SPILIR  56.26% Development
Company Limited and trading of

pharmaceutical
products

TREGENAEERLR  HERE LER 135,000%7 IWITN  56.26% MERETER

CVie Therapeutics (HK) ~ Hong Kong N/A N/A WIS 56.26% N/A
Limited (Note c)

PEEREAE(FE)AR BB TER TR ZelzN  56.26% NEA
) (fitzEc)

China Oncology Focus British Virgin Ordinary US$226,200 65% Development of
Limited Islands oncology products

PEERREARAR ERELHE TR 226,200%7T 65% FEEBER

Zhaoke (Hong Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 65% Development of
Kong) Oncology oncology products
Pharmaceutical Limited

KN(BE)ERENERAR & LEk 10,000%7 65% FEBEER
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZE-—F+-A=t+—RHIFE

46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 46. X AT EEWE A AFF(E)
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)
1. General information of subsidiaries 1. HEBRAZ—MREF (&
(Continued)
Place of Paid up
incorporation/ issued/
Name of registration/ Class of registered Proportion ownership interest Principal
subsidiary operations share capital held by the Company activities
ML/ ARERT/
WEARER R/ mgnd RAER S RA KARFRE A RRELS) TEEH
Directly Indirectly

Ei# iz

2020
3
Zhaoke (Guangzhou) PRC Paid-up capital US$8,240,000 65% Development of
Oncology (2020: oncology products
Pharmaceutical Limited* US$5,000,000)
(Note a)
KRB EBENERAR HE BRBA 8,240,000%7T 65% REEEER
(Fizra) (Z%-%F:
5,000,000%7T)
£ For identification purpose only k3 EHH T
Notes: B &t
a. These are wholly-foreign-owned enterprises. a. L RINEBE B3 -
b. These are sino-foreign equity joint enterprises. b. LERFINBEERE -
G Dissolved by deregistration during the year 2021. c. R=T = —FE AR X ARA -
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ARe SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—Z-—Ft+-A=1+—HIFE

46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)

2. Details of non-wholly owned
subsidiaries that have material
non-controlling interests

The table below show details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries
of the Group that has material non-controlling interests at the
end of the current year:

Proportion of

46. A AT EERME L RS (HE)

2. BEEAHZKEZZHE
BERB LAz FIE

TRERAEERAFEREEERIFZE
It 2 SERAMBARZFHS

Place of ownership interests and
incorporation/ voting rights held by Loss allocated to Accumulated
Name of subsidiary operations non-controlling interests  non-controlling interests  non-controlling interests
FRRERAEE
WEAREH BaAVE S-Sk FERERRRZELA PETHERES 2R Btk ERER
2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
ZEITF —B--% S —B--F 3
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAR TEL THT TATL
China Oncology Focus Limited British Virgin Islands 35.00% 35.00% (27,122) (42,654) (9,347)
("COF") (Note)
HEEEZEARAR(COF)) (M) ZEBRLES

Note: Include its wholly-owned subsidiaries.

Summarised financial information in respect of Group’s
subsidiaries that has material non-controlling interests is
set out below. The summarised financial information below
represents amounts before intragroup eliminations.

ffet . BIEE2ENMBRR -

BFRBAERFERER  ASENB R
B2 BERBERINNT - ATHBEE
F2 AR EER A RS AT 2 £ -

COF and its subsidiaries
COFREMBEATR

2021 2020
B T F
HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FHT

72,715 127,215

146,257 110,091

337,046 260,545

Current assets MENEE
Non-current assets SEMEVAE
Current liabilities mEAE
Non-current liabilities JEME B ME

3,795

Equity attributable to the owners of the  ANAFHA AEGREZ

Company

(79,215) (16,121)

FFIEp AR

Non-controlling interests

(42,654)
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46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZE-—F+-A=t+—RHIFE

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(CONTINUED)

2. Details of non-wholly owned 2.
subsidiaries that have material
non-controlling interests (Continued)

Revenue g

Expenses sz

Loss for the year AEEER

Loss attributable to the owners of the RNAEHEE AFELEE
Company

Loss attributable to the non-controlling FEfE R R (1R
interests

Loss for the year AEEER

Other comprehensive (expense) income
attributable to the owners of the
Company

Other comprehensive (expense) income
attributable to non-controlling interests

RRFGEE ARGEMEE(F ) KaE

FRERR R (G L i 2 (B S ) Has

Other comprehensive (expense) income
for the year

AREZEMEE(F ) HaE

Total comprehensive expense attributable
to the owners of the Company

Total comprehensive expense attributable
to non-controlling interests

EAYNGIEZ ZEPN AR Gk

FEEERRE R RS R S AR

Total comprehensive expense for the year

AN E 2 AR

Dividend paid to non-controlling interests

BRI R 2 BRE

Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating

BREBRHRSR/AORT ) FEE

activities
Net cash outflow from investing activities &&/FER &M HFE
Net cash inflow from financing activities  Fi&/EENIRE R AFEE
Net cash outflow WE M FEE

46. A AT EERME L RS ()

BEEAHZREm ZHE
BB LA ZFIE(E)

COF and its subsidiaries
COFRHEMEATR

Year ended

2021

BZE

—EB-—fF

LHEE

HK$'000

FHERT

3,223
(82,617)

(79,394)

(51,606)

(27,788)
(79,394)

(11,487)

(6,186)

(17,673)

(63,093)

(33,974)
(97,067)
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Year ended
2020
HE

—T T

—= =

IEFE
HK$'000

FAT

2,894
(77,145)

(74,251)

(48,263)

(25,988)
(74,251)

3,281

1,901

5,432

(44,732)

(24,087)
(68,819)

(64,620)
(30,792)
89,033
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—Z-—Ft+-A=1+—HIFE

47. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 47. XA RBBR AR R HE

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

2021 2020
—B-—F T
HK$'000 HK$’000
FHT FAT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries HRHB ARz xS 778,058 694,985
Investment in associates REtE R B2 1RE 6,267 3,027
Financial assets at fair value BRAFESBERREZMEEE
through profit or loss 25,431 17,824
Financial assets at fair value through RATEFEBE MRS R 2 B
other comprehensive income BE 160,201 172,796
969,957 888,632
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments HfthfEUFIE « 4 KIBA A 14,739 18,447
Tax recoverable ATYEIRE IR 515 -
Pledged bank deposits BHEFIRITIER - 20,150
Cash and bank balances R RIRTTAR 10,576 9,763
25,830 48,360
Current liabilities REIEE
Other payables and accruals Hib SR ETEA 23,595 5,878
Tax payables FERIE = 407
23,595 6,285
Net current assets REBEEFE 2,235 42,075
Total assets less current liabilities EEABRREBARS 972,192 930,707
Capital and reserves EXR#E
Share capital %N 29,442 29,406
Reserves & 790,780 797,301
Total equity oy 820,222 826,707
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Other payables and accruals EibENFIERESER 40,000 -
Retirement benefits BRIRIEF] 111,970 104,000
151,970 104,000
972,192 930,707

The Company’s statement of financial position was approved and AARMBRARER =T =__F=A=+1H
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 29 March 2022 and KREFSRERKERMD  THTIESTRERE
are signed on its behalf by: o

Lee Siu Fong Leelalertsuphakun Wanee

FFE IR
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
2% EZ
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZE-—F+-A=t+—RHIFE

47. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 47. XA RMBR AT R EE (E)

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

(CONTINUED)
Movement in the Company’s reserves AR A2 EEEE)
Share-based Investments
Share Merger  compensation revaluation Retained
premium difference reserve reserve profits Total
W% A2
RitEE aHER HeRk REEfEE REER szt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thn T TER THL Thn Thn
At 1 January 2021 K=5=-%-f-A 714,813 40,847 (19,655) 797,301
Employee share option benefits [EEBRERT - 16,888 - 16,888
Exercise of share options frieERE 5,278 (1,771) - 3,507
Profit for the year TEE R - - - 35,711
Other comprehensive expense forthe  AEEEM2ERY
year
- Fair value changes of financial assets ~ ~KATEEBEH2ENETIR
at fair value through other IBEEDTERE
comprehensive income (26,708) (26,708)
Total comprehensive (expense) income for AEE2 (%) Yz LE
the year (26,708) 35711 9,003
2020 final dividend paid BN-E-TERERE - (18,254) (18,254)
2021 interim dividend paid B ZE--Fhike - (17,665) (17,665)
At 31 December 2021 RZEZ-F+ZA=1-H 720,091 (46,363) 51,888 790,780
At 1 January 2020 R-Z-FF-A-R 714,146 9,200 23,675 (38,915) 70,510 778,616
Employee share option benefits [EERRERR = - 17,442 - - 17,442
Exercise of share options fifemmE 667 - (231) - - 436
Share options lapsed BRERE = - (39) - 39 -
Profit for the year TEE&T - - - - 19,775 19,775
Other comprehensive income for the year AEEEt2ENE
- Fair value changes of financial assets ~ ~&ATEERZ M2 AN
at fair value through other IBEELATEEY
comprehensive income = = = 19,260 = 19,260
Total comprehensive income TERRANREE
for the year - - - 19,260 19,775 39,035
2019 final dividend paid BNZE-NERERE - - - - (22,349) (22,349)
2020 interim dividend paid BNZECRFhERE - - - - (15,879) (15,879)
At 31 December 2020 RZE-FF+-A=1-A 714,813 9,200 40,847 (19,655) 52,096 797,301
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—Z-—Ft+-A=1+—HIFE

48.

49.

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

The Group as lessor

The Group usually, as a lessor, entered into leasing arrangements
for a period of 1 to 3 years.

Undiscounted lease payments receivables by the Group in future
periods under non-cancellable operating leases with its tenants are as
follows:

48.

REHETH
EEEESBLHBEA

AEE-KREALBANI A —=2=F2H
B4k -

AR B AR R AR AR SR B EL AR P AT 32 2 N AT Y
EEHERKZ RBRREERROT

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Within one year —F R

282

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the
current year’s presentation.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F R B2 AL A R A 7]

49,
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